A FEASIBILITY STUDY OF GROUP PARENT TRAINING FOR THE PREVENTION OF OBESITY (GPT-O) IN AFRICAN AMERICANS

by

Camden Elliott, MS

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Medical and Clinical Psychology Graduate Program Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (2014)





DISSERTATION APPROVAL FOR THE DOCTORAL DISSERTATION IN THE MEDICAL AND CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY GRADUATE PROGRAM

Title of Dissertation: "A Feasibility Study of Group Parent Training for the Prevention of Obesity (G-PTO) in African Americans"

DATE:

Name of Candidate: Camden Elliott Doctor of Philosophy Degree May 7, 2013

DISSERTATION AND ABSTRACT APPROVED:

5-7-13 Dr. Tracy Sbrocco DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL AND CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Committee Chairperson

Dr. Marian Tanofsky-Kraff DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL AND CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Dissertation Advisor

Dr. David Krantz DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL AND CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Committee Member

6/13/2013

6-13-13

Dr. Mark Stephens USU DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY MEDICINE Committee Member

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The author hereby certifies that the use of any copyrighted material in the dissertation manuscript entitled:

"A Feasibility Study of Group Parent Training for the Prevention of Obesity

(GPT-O) in African Americans"

is appropriately acknowledged and, beyond brief excerpts, is with the permission of the copyright owner.

auglen Elliot

Camden Elliott Department of Medical and Clinical Psychology Uniformed Services University 3/26/14

ABSTRACT

A Feasibility Study of Group Parent Training for the Prevention of Obesity (GPT-O) in African Americans:

Camden Elliott, MS, 2014

Thesis directed by: Marian Tanofsky-Kraff, PhD

The prevalence of overweight (BMI \geq 85th percentile for age and sex) has more than tripled in the past three decades (216). Prevalence is elevated among racial and ethnic minorities compared to the Caucasian population (215). Obesity prevention, especially among young children, has become paramount (228; 286). The purpose of this study was to test the feasibility and acceptability of an 8-week group parent training for obesity prevention program (GPT-O) targeting parental self-efficacy in making lifestyle changes. Given limited intervention research among racial minorities, African Americans were specifically targeted. Participants were twenty African American parents and their overweight/obese (BMI z-score M = 2.46, SD = .93) children (M = 4.10y, SD = 1.48, 70% female). Parent participants completed feasibility questionnaires following the intervention, and three-month follow-up, and compared to a standard-of-care control group. Parents also completed questionnaires regarding parenting and child behaviors at baseline and post-intervention. Retention through post-intervention was 75%. Of these

participants, average attendance was M = 5.12, SD = 2.12, of 8 sessions. Following the intervention, most parents reported that the group was acceptable (100%) and feasible (78%). Expected BMI change did not differ between intervention and standard-of-care control youth from baseline to post-intervention (p = 1.0) or from post-intervention to three-month follow-up (p = 1.0). Following the intervention, parents reported improved parenting ($ps \le .03$) and feeding (p = .03) practices, as well as improved child eatingrelated (p = .001), weight-related (p = .01), and general (p = .06) behavioral problems. Following the intervention, parents reported reductions in children's daily caloric intake (p = .04), saturated fat intake (p = .04), and added sugars intake (p = .06). No changes were observed in parent-reported parenting stress (p = .71), lifestyle stress (p = .76), general parental self-efficacy (p = .70), or self-efficacy specific to parenting an overweight child (p = .29). Results suggest that African American parents of overweight/obese children found this intervention to be feasible and acceptable. An adequately powered and controlled trial is warranted to examine the efficacy and potential change mechanisms of GPT-O.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	x
CHAPTER 1: Background	
Obesity Prevalence and Correlates	1
Prevalence	
Correlates of Obesity Among Adults	2
Correlates of Obesity Among Children and Adolescents	
Summary of Obesity Prevalence and Correlates	
The Energy Balance Model	
Genetic Influences on Body Weight	
Metabolic Influences on Body Weight	
Hormonal Influences on Body Weight	
Critical Periods of Development for Body Weight	
Environmental Influences on Energy Intake and Output	10
Summary of the Energy-Balance Model	
Psychological Contributors to Obesity: Disinhibited Eating	
Binge and Loss of Control Eating	
Eating in the Absence of Hunger and Emotional Eating	
Summary of Disinhibited Eating	
Self-Regulation: Possible Links to Overweight	
Self-Regulation	
Self-Regulation and Eating Behaviors	
Self-Regulation Summary	
Obesity Summary	
Treatment of Obesity	
Family-Based Obesity Intervention in Middle Childhood	
Summary of Obesity Intervention	
Pediatric Obesity Intervention: Why Parental Involvement Matters	
Background	
Parental Feeding Practices	
Parental Modeling in Eating and Activity	
Summary	
Parental Influences on Child Self-Regulation	
Summary	
Parental Self-Efficacy and Parental Stress	
Summary	
Parental Self-Efficacy and Obesity	
Targeting Pre-School-Aged Youth for Prevention	
Prior Studies with Preschoolers	
Summary	
	222 CR 24 PE PE POP (2015)

Study Rationale: Targeting Parental Self-Efficacy in the Prevention of Obesi	ity in
African Americans	
Study Rationale	
Implementing Studies with African Americans	
Specific Aims	
Power and Sample Size	
Hypotheses and Statistical Analyses	
CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS	45
Overview	45
Participants	46
Recruitment	47
Procedures	47
Baseline Assessment	
Intervention Description	53
Pre. and Post Group Assessments	54
Standard of Care Control	
Stanualu of Care Control	
CHAPTER 3: Results	
Participant Demographics and Baseline Characteristics	55
Baseline Concern for Child Weight	
Baseline Parental Self-Efficacy	
Baseline Parent Stress	
Baseline Parenting Behaviors	58
Baseline Characteristics of Child Participants	59
Follow-Up Analyses	
Aim 1	62
Feasibility/Acceptability Questionnaire	
Skills Questionnaire	
Session Attendance	
Aim 2	
Aim 3	
Measures of Parental Self-Efficacy	66
Measures of Parent Stress	
Measures of Parenting Behaviors	67
Measures of Children's Eating Behaviors	
Measures of Child Problem Behaviors	69
CHAPTER 4: Discussion	69
Parent Perception of Child Weight	
Aim 1: Feasibility and Acceptability	71
Feasibility and Acceptability	
Session Attendance	
Feasibility and Acceptability Ouestionnaire	
Skills Ouestionnaire	
Qualitative Impressions, Considerations, and Future Directions	

Interventionist Considerations and Impressions	
Aim 3.	
Parent Self-Efficacy and Perceived Stress	
Parenting Style and Behavior	
Child Behavior	
Child Dietary Intake	
Summary: Evaluation of the Proposed Model	
Potential Limitations	
Future Directions	
Suggested Modifications to G-PTO	101
General Considerations for Future Research	103
Concluding Remarks	104
Appendix	121
Appendix A: Screen	
Appendix B: Advertisement	
Appendix C: Consent	
Appendix D: Parent Report Questionnaires	
Appendix E: Feasibility and Acceptability Questionnaires	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Fable 1: Child Participant Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	06
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics for Baseline and Post-Intervention Parent Report	
Measures1	07
Table 3: Estimated Power for Psychological Variables1	10

- C

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2: Recruitment and Attrition Figure 3: Health Assessment Questionnaire Figure 4: Toddler Care Questionnaire Figure 5: Lifestyle Behavior Checklist: Confidence Scale Figure 6: Perceived Stress Scale Figure 7: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	.112 .113 .113 .114 .114
Figure 3: Health Assessment Questionnaire Figure 4: Toddler Care Questionnaire Figure 5: Lifestyle Behavior Checklist: Confidence Scale. Figure 6: Perceived Stress Scale. Figure 7: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale.	.113 .113 .114 .114
Figure 4: Toddler Care Questionnaire Figure 5: Lifestyle Behavior Checklist: Confidence Scale Figure 6: Perceived Stress Scale Figure 7: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	.113
Figure 5: Lifestyle Behavior Checklist: Confidence Scale Figure 6: Perceived Stress Scale Figure 7: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	.114
Figure 6: Perceived Stress Scale Figure 7: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	.114
Figure 7: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	115
Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	.115
Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	.116
Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale	.116
	.117
Figure 11: Child Behavior Checklist 1½-5	.117
Figure 12: Child Eating Behaviour Questionnaire	.118
Figure 13: Fruit and vegetable intake	.118
Figure 14: Fiber intake	.119
Figure 15: Whole Grain intake	.119
Figure 16: Added sugars intake	.119
Figure 17: Sugary drinks intake	.120
Figure 18: Saturated fats intake	.120
Figure 19: Estimated daily intake	.120

CHAPTER 1: Background

OBESITY PREVALENCE AND CORRELATES

Prevalence

Obesity in the U.S. is at an unprecedented high. Current estimates indicate that 34% of adults in the U.S. are obese (body mass index, $BMI \ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$). More concerning, when rates of obesity and overweight (body mass index, $BMI \ge 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) are combined, well over half of the population is classified as overweight, with current prevalence estimated at 68% (125). Rates of overweight and obesity differ across racial and socioeconomic categories. Data indicate that the prevalence of obesity is disproportionately greater among racial and ethnic minorities (44% and 38% among black and Hispanic adults) compared to white adults (33%). When examining women only, this discrepancy is particularly apparent, with rates estimated at 33%, 50%, and 43% among adult white, black, and Hispanic women, respectively (125). While the relationship between obesity and socioeconomic status is mixed, most studies indicate that low SES increases obesity risk (317).

Similarly, overweight (BMI \geq 85th percentile for age and sex) has tripled in the pediatric population over the past several decades (216). While prevalence rates appear to be leveling (217), 17% of youth ages 2-19y are obese (BMI \geq 95th percentile for age and sex) and 32% are overweight (215). Prevalence rates among young children ages 2-5y are lower than youth ages 6-19y, with 10% and 21% classified as obese and overweight, respectively (215). However, overweight among preschool aged youth has, for the first time, increased over the past ten years (216). Although the most recent data indicate that the prevalence of obesity (\geq 95th percentile for age and sex) and extreme obesity (\geq 120% of the 95th percentile) among low SES preschoolers may have dropped minimally, but

significantly in the most recent years (less than 1% point) (221), the high prevalence of obesity observed remains disconcerting as overweight in childhood is predictive of obesity into adulthood (115). Obesity rates in childhood also vary by race and ethnicity. Hispanic boys are more likely to be classified as overweight and obese than are white boys. Similarly, black girls are more likely than white girls to be overweight or obese (215).

Correlates of Obesity Among Adults

Overweight and obesity are associated with a range of medical and psychosocial comorbidities. Among adults, obesity is associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus, coronary heart disease, and increased incidence of certain forms of cancer, respiratory complications (e.g., obstructive sleep apnea), gall bladder disease, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, depression, and osteoarthritis (184). The financial concomitants of obesity are equally broad. It has been conservatively estimated that weight-related disease costs the United States \$75 billion in health care expenditures each year (116).

Further, as both overweight and non-overweight people consider weight a matter of personal control (66; 153), overweight adults are more likely to be negatively labeled (e.g., lazy, stupid, worthless) (306) and commonly experience difficulties in social, work, school, and health-care settings (229). Some (27; 179; 266), but not all (172; 186) studies further suggest an association between obesity and mental illness. A recent large epidemiological study found a positive relationship between elevated BMI and general psychological distress, with both overweight and obese adults reporting higher current and lifetime prevalence of general psychopathology (e.g., mood, anxiety, somatoform disorders) compared to non-overweight participants. Further, obese adults reported higher rates of mental illness than did overweight adults, suggesting a linear relationship between BMI and mental illness (21). Similarly, a study combining world mental health surveys from various countries indicated an association between obesity and symptoms of depression and anxiety, especially among obese females (256). Studies suggest that overweight and obese adults are also more likely than non-overweight individuals to report body image distress (249; 250). There is evidence that, among adults, body image concerns may increase the likelihood of comorbid obesity and psychological distress (169).

Correlates of Obesity Among Children and Adolescents

Similar disease trends are seen in the pediatric population. While weight-related health co-morbidities were previously observed primarily among adults, increased body fat has been identified as the main causative agent behind an increase in health problems among youth, particularly heightened risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease (139; 311). Other common health problems associated with childhood obesity include endocrine, pulmonary, and gastrointestinal difficulties, as well as disturbed sleeping patterns (343).

Overweight children also experience significant weight-related stigmatization. Negative attitudes towards overweight body shapes are expressed by children as early as preschool (322). These attitudes are clearly present in elementary school-aged children (255), and have worsened in recent years (187). Research consistently shows that children use labels such as "mean", "stupid", "ugly", "unhappy", and "lazy," to describe overweight classmates. They also describe overweight peers as having poor academic and social performance (255). Overweight youth are further victimized for their size through

weight-related teasing and bullying (276). Peer victimization of overweight children is also related to decreased interest (277) and enjoyment (111) in physical activity, which may further perpetuate weight gain in this population.

Given the negative experiences reported by overweight youth, it is not surprising that overweight children experience a range of psychosocial difficulties. This relationship is observable as early as preschool, with thee-year-old obese males exhibiting more parent-reported conduct behaviors than non-obese males. By age five, obese boys also exhibit greater attentional, conduct, and hyperactivity problems. Further, obese boys and girls experience more social difficulties than non-obese children (142). During middle childhood and adolescence, cross-sectional and longitudinal studies show a relationship between elevated weight and low self-esteem and self-worth (8; 34; 279; 280; 343). Symptoms of depression (104; 255) and anxiety (277; 324) are also associated with overweight in childhood. Further, overweight children and adolescents report lower social acceptance (279), more social anxiety (324), and loneliness (276). Cross-sectional studies with youth reliably show increased reports of body dissatisfaction and disordered eating cognitions (e.g., weight, shape, and eating concerns) among overweight compared to non-overweight children (8; 38; 279). Body dissatisfaction is further evidenced by dietary restraint (291) and attempts at weight loss (114) among overweight youth. Concern over weight and shape increases the risk for symptoms of depression and anxiety and low self-esteem (8; 104).

Summary of Obesity Prevalence and Correlates

In summary, overweight and obesity are at unprecedented rates across all age ranges, and are more prevalent among individuals of racial and ethnic minority. Obesity

and overweight are further associated with a range of medical and psychosocial issues for individuals of all ages.

THE ENERGY BALANCE MODEL

The energy balance model (159) proposes that two primary factors determine weight: intake and expenditure. Intake revolves around a variety of hormonal, environmental, and socioemotional factors. Expenditure is similarly multifaceted, including physical activity, basal metabolic rate, and adaptive thermogenesis (270). According to this model, weight gain occurs when energy intake exceeds energy expenditure.

Genetic Influences on Body Weight

A review of studies suggests that 60-70% of body weight is determined by genetic factors (301). Data indicate that child-parent and child-sibling body weight are correlated, suggesting that this relationship is in part genetically determined (197). Twin studies have shed the most light on the heritability of body weight. When overfed a controlled amount of calories, monozygotic twin pairs gain analogous amounts of weight. However, significant differences between different twin pairs in weight gain points to increased susceptibility of some individuals toward increased BMI when overfed, and clearly points to a genetic component of BMI. Similarly, whether reared apart or together, monozygotic twins have a similar body mass index later in life, further highlighting a significant role of genetic influence in determining energy balance (9; 285).

While the genetic underpinning of weight is well-established, research examining specific genetic pathways is emergent. One study found the rate of eating (bites/min) to be highly heritable and associated with overweight among twin children ages 10-12y

(195). In recent years, a well-founded relationship has been established between single nucleotide polymorphisms in the *FTO* gene, rs9930506, and increased risk for overweight and obesity, among both adults and children with the risk A allele, compared to those without the risk allele (TT). Notably, children with the risk allele are more likely to become overweight or obese with age (130; 257). The risk allele is associated with decreased satiety (320), greater intake assessed with self-report (310) and at a laboratory test meal (49), and disinhibited eating behaviors (293), compared to youth without the risk allele. These data suggest that eating patterns may, in part, explain the relationship between the *FTO* variant and weight.

Metabolic Influences on Body Weight

Studies with Pima Indians, a population highly susceptible to obesity, show that while all individuals studied expended more metabolic energy as they gained weight, expenditure varies individually, and those with a lower metabolic rate relative to others their same size gain more weight over time (233). Similarly, individual differences in respiratory quotient, a concept used to determine the relative amount of energy derived from carbohydrate and fat, is related to likelihood of weight gain. A third factor impacting energy expenditure is spontaneous physical activity. Spontaneous physical activity has also been referred to as non-exercise activity thermogenesis, or the thermogenesis from activity other than voluntary exercise (e.g., fidgeting, maintaining posture when not lying down) (190). Spontaneous physical activity is lower in obese subjects and predicts weight gain over time. Importantly, individual differences in metabolic rate, respiratory quotient, and spontaneous physical activity show familial similarities, suggesting that these are largely genetically determined factors that have an

impact on body weight (233). It is conservatively estimated that energy expenditure factors explain 25-30% of the genetic factors contributing to obesity (301).

Hormonal Influences on Body Weight

Recent years have evidenced insight into the hormones explaining appetite and satiety. The forerunner of these hormones, leptin, is derived from adipose tissue. Leptin acts on the brain to decrease appetite and increase energy expenditure. Conversely, the absence of leptin signals starvation, resulting in hyperphagia and decreased physical activity. Leptin further initiates the melanocortin pathway in the hypothalamus, in which polypeptide POMC produces melanocortin pepides (α , β , MSH), which in turn stimulate melanocortin-4 and melanocortin-3 receptors to effect feeding reduction. Although very rare, genetic defects in leptin, the leptin receptor, and other variables in the leptin-melanocortin pathway result in extreme obesity (188). Heterozygous, or partial efficiency in leptin and other factors in the leptin-melanocortin pathway are further associated with increased risk for obesity (126; 188). However, among several studies, partial mutation yielded less obese parents than children, suggesting that these heritable deficiencies may be further activated by an environment promoting overeating (188).

Critical Periods of Development for Body Weight

Much research has focused on critical periods of development that may predispose to obesity. Research in recent years has unearthed a number of perinatal factors associated with later obesity risk. Maternal overweight and obesity prior to pregnancy is associated with high infant birth weight and/or large for gestational age, which are both predictive of future obesity (254). One review of the literature found maternal overweight or obesity to be the strongest predictor of child obesity, among a

number of potential perinatal risk factors (47). Similarly, maternal gestational weight gain also prospectively predicts child BMI into early adulthood (20; 254). Mechanistically, research on this topic is emergent. Animal models suggest that a highfat, high-sugar diet during pregnancy results in child increased adiposity, hyperphagia, insulin resistance, and hypertension prospectively. In theory, overfeeding or obesity during pregnancy may permanently alter the development of components involved in later energy-balance regulation, namely in areas of the hypothalamus involved with appetite regulation, hormones and peptides involved with this process (e.g., leptin, insulin, POMC, NPY), and in the development and differentiation of adipose cells (7; 47). Further data collected via animal models implicate the post-natal lactation period as critical in realizing the effects of the perinatal environment. Specifically, offspring of mothers fed a high-fat diet during pregnancy exhibited hyperphagic characteristics and associated weight gain with growth, but only when maternal exposure to a high-fat diet continued during the lactation period (7). Further, there are data to suggest that epigenetic mechanisms may be at play in these relationships, with alterations evidenced in pancreatic genes (impacting insulin) as well as POMC and insulin receptors, among others (7).

Notably, on the opposite end of the spectrum, research also suggests that infants born with a low birth weight and/or small for gestational age are at increased risk for the development of obesity (162; 265). While more research is needed to determine the mechanism behind this relationship, it has been suggested that rapid gain in weight postbirth, known as "catch up weight," in combination with intrauterine alterations in insulin sensitivity, may predispose toward obesity (219).

In summary, while research examining the mechanisms of action behind these relationships continues to evolve, these data suggest that peri- and post-natal factors, potentially including maternal weight, infant weight, gestational weight gain, and diet, may predispose, or "program," systems involved in the energy balance model later in life.

Additional research has focused on other post-natal factors that may impact body weight. There are some data to suggest that breastfeeding is a protective factor. The mechanism behind this relationship remains unclear. It has been proposed that infants who are breastfed develop better self-regulation abilities with respect to feeding, and due to early exposure to a variety of flavors via breast milk, may have a more diverse palate (241). Other potential explanations include increased overall and protein-related intake among formula-fed infants, which may be associated with greater weight gain (208). In studies examining the relations between early feeding and weight, formula feeding (compared to breast feeding) has been predictive of higher child BMI in most, but not all studies (241), and a systematic review of the literature indicates a positive effect, even when controlling for potential confounding variables, such as maternal BMI and smoking (208). Historically, child adiposity has been consistently inversely associated prospectively with breast feeding (241), although a recent, well-controlled longitudinal study directly targeting breast-feeding in obesity prevention did not support breastfeeding as a protective factor against obesity (200). Notably, in recent longitudinal studies, breastfeeding is associated with healthier eating habits in adulthood (76; 242).

In addition, differences in feeding patterns are observed as early as infancy and longitudinally predictive of body weight. Stunkard and colleagues found that infant sucking rate was predictive of weight gain at age two years. At baseline, infants of obese

mothers (considered, "at-risk") had a 50% higher sucking rate than those of non-obese parents, potentially suggesting early behavioral manifestations of overeating patterns (284).

Another identified critical period of growth occurs between approximately three and seven years of age, during a period known as adiposity rebound, when BMI is at its lowest point, following the increase of BMI that occurs after the first year of life (83). A number of studies have linked early adiposity rebound to increased risk of obesity, as well as to negative health co-morbidities such as type 2 diabetes and high blood pressure. Data indicate that early rebound is linked to increased weight and fat gain over time (304; 333). Although timing of adiposity rebound appears to be somewhat genetically determined (206), evidence also suggests that environmental factors are at play. Notably, a review of retrospective studies suggests that lower physical activity and greater sedentary behavior is associated with earlier adiposity rebound (304).

Environmental Influences on Energy Intake and Output

While genetic factors certainly play a role in determining obesity, the drastic increase in the prevalence of pediatric overweight over the past few decades cannot solely be attributed to genetic factors. Rather, an inherited genetic set of metabolic and hormonal factors, in the context of an environment with ample high calorie foods and minimal physical demands, has likely yielded the development of wide-spread obesity (270).

Indeed, the past several decades have evidenced the rapid development of an environment that may promote obesity. Since 1970, there has been a per capita increase in energy (i.e., caloric) availability (152). Further, survey studies indicate that total

energy intake increased by approximately 200 calories per day between 1977-1996. Of note, there were particular increases in food and drinks high in fat and/or calories, such as soft drinks, pizza, and desserts (212). This simultaneous increase of food availability and daily intake suggests that Americans are consuming more food.

An increase in food portion sizes may, in part, explain the increase in overall energy intake (211). Laboratory paradigms show that individuals' caloric intake increases as serving size increases in adults (244), young adults (192), and children (243). Interestingly, intake of children ages 2-3 years does not significantly vary depending on portion size, whereas children ages 4-6 years eat approximately 60% more when the portion size is doubled (243). This suggests that young childhood may be a key turning point in self-regulation of energy intake. Studies examining the restaurant industry indicate that serving sizes have increased continuously over the past three decades (211), exceeding federal recommendations by approximately 200-500% (342). These trends are especially disconcerting as Americans currently eat more meals outside of the home than in the past (152). However, these trends are not exclusive to dining out. Even within the home environment, there is evidence of increased food consumption and portion sizes (211). Interestingly, even cookbooks with established recipes, when reprinted more recently, indicate a fewer number of servings per recipe than in the past (342).

Accompanying this increase in energy intake is a simultaneous decrease in voluntary physical activity (Hill, 2006). The majority of adults within the United States self-report that they do not engage in regular physical activity (45). Similarly, among children, active transport (e.g. walking, bicycling) (313) and daily physical education (86), have declined significantly. Simultaneously, time spent in sedentary activities (e.g.,

TV, computer, internet) are increasing (37). In sum, there has been an increase in food availability, portion size, and calories consumed within the Unites States over the past several decades, accompanied by a net decrease in physical activity. These changes may, in part, account for the exponential increase in overweight and obesity.

A final factor that has received some attention in recent years is the "social contagion" epidemiological theory of obesity, which suggests that obesity risk could be transmitted through social relationships. One study examined a social network over the course of 32 years and found that obesity clustered into social networks. Individuals were more likely to become obese if they had an obese friend, sibling, or spouse (52). However, when this model was re-evaluated controlling for environmental factors, it was not supported, returning attention back to environmental influences (53). Indeed, other evaluations using an epidemiological approach point to disproportionately increased prevalence of fast food restaurants in low SES neighborhoods (236), as well as disproportionately lower access to supermarkets and healthy food options (71). These data suggest that obesity prevalence is greater among populations exposed to an obesogenic environment.

Summary of the Energy-Balance Model

In summary, the energy-balance model proposes that obesity occurs when energy intake is greater than energy expenditure (159). While a number of genetic and early life factors have been identified in explaining individual differences in body weight, these factors alone cannot explain the rapid increase in obesity that has been observed over the past several years. Rather, genetic factors predisposing toward obesity, facilitated by societal trends toward easy access to high calorie foods and low physical demands, has likely jointly contributed to the observed obesity trends.

PSYCHOLOGICAL CONTRIBUTORS TO OBESITY: DISINHIBITED EATING

Binge and Loss of Control Eating

In recent years, the relationship between disinhibited eating patterns and overweight has received increasing attention. Binge eating, defined as the consumption of an objectively large amount of food while experiencing a loss of control (LOC) over eating (10), is the most prevalent type of disordered eating pattern among obese adults (78; 296). Binge eating disorder (BED) is characterized by recurrent binge eating episodes. BED is further associated with a variety of psychosocial difficulties, including mood disorders, low self-esteem, body image concerns, disordered eating cognitions (e.g. concern over shape and weight), and poor social functioning (332). BED is prevalent in the overweight and obese population, ranging from 3% among overweight adults in a community sample (268), to 29% among adults seeking weight loss treatment (271).

Among African Americans, BED is the most prevalent eating disorder (303), with prevalence of recurrent binge eating or BED equal to, if not more prevalent, among African American, compared to Caucasian women (199; 283) with the exception of one study (282). Notably, BED is similarly associated with psychological comorbidity and obesity status when examining Caucasian and African American women, with some evidence to suggest that this relationship may be more robust in African American women (199; 226). Interestingly, a recent national study with African Americans showed that BED was significantly associated with unemployment (303), which may be explained by the stress associated with joblessness.

Retrospective data indicate that adults with BED often recall binge episodes first occurring in middle childhood or adolescence (e.g., (143). Accordingly, while fullsyndrome BED is minimal during childhood (1-6% among obese weight loss treatmentseeking youth) (138), sub-threshold binge eating is prevalent (289). Further, during youth, the experience of LOC over eating, regardless of amount of food consumed is a salient marker of disordered overeating (262). For this reason, while binge eating (intake of an objectively large amount of food accompanied by the experience of LOC) has remained the focus of research among adults, pediatric research broadly examines the experience of LOC over eating, independent of the amount of food consumed. LOC eating is more prevalent among overweight and obese children, ranging from 15%-30% (191; 209; 291). Akin to adults with BED, LOC eating in youth is associated with increased levels of eating, weight, and shape concerns (80; 133; 300), symptoms of depression (24; 291) and anxiety (133), low self-esteem (80), social problems (95), and parent report of problem behaviors (e.g. mood problems, social difficulties, breaking rules, aggressive behaviors) (133), compared to youth not reporting LOC eating.

Affect theories propose that LOC eating serves as a way of coping with negative emotional states. In other words, food is used as a method of avoiding or coping with negative emotions related to a poor view of the self (156) or social difficulties (329). In accordance with these models, adults with BED often experience LOC in response to negative mood states (6). Furthermore, adults with BED are more likely to eat in response to negative emotions compared to overweight and obese adults without BED (94; 201). Although studies specifically with African American adults are limited, in support of affect theory, perceived stress and emotional eating were associated in an investigation of

urban, African American woman (267). Notably, this relationship was strongest among participants who were overweight or obese, and related to intake of sweets. Similar data have been found in children. For example, cross-sectional data show that youth reporting LOC eating have difficulty regulating negative emotions (73), and among a racial and ethnically diverse sample, are more likely to eat in response to adverse emotion when compared to youth without LOC eating (298). Additionally, both boys and girls report that negative emotion commonly precedes LOC eating episodes (292).

Based on the energy-balance model of obesity (159), food used for emotional coping in the absence of hunger should lead to excess energy consumption and subsequent weight gain. In support of this notion, adults with BED consume more energy at binge and non-binge meals and exhibit more erratic eating patterns compared to individuals without BED (332). Further, retrospectively, for some individuals with BED, binge eating begins when individuals are of normal weight, but is associated with the onset of overweight (235). Finally, binge eating cessation during treatment is associated with modest weight loss (144; 332). Together, these data indicate that, in adults, binge eating contributes to excess caloric consumption and subsequent development and/or maintenance of overweight.

Studies with younger populations show similar trends. Obese treatment-seeking youth reporting LOC eating are more likely than those without binge eating to have a carbohydrate-rich diet (196). Similarly, in the laboratory, youth with LOC consume more high-calorie snack and dessert-type foods, and less protein-rich foods than do youth without LOC (295). These dietary patterns may be associated with less post-meal satiety, leading to increased caloric consumption and weight gain over time. Further, overweight

girls with LOC consume more calories than do overweight girls without LOC. In sum, these data suggest that engaging in LOC episodes may contribute to excessive caloric intake, leading to weight gain over time.

Accordingly, a link between LOC eating and weight is evident during childhood and adolescence. For example, LOC eating is predictive of weight gain (273) and obesity (274). Similarly, among youth at risk for overweight, baseline report of LOC eating predicts fat (290) and weight (299) gain over time. In a study of both normal and overweight children and adolescents, LOC eating predicted future weight gain for boys (113).

Eating in the Absence of Hunger and Emotional Eating

Another important construct likely related to increased obesity rates is termed eating in the absence of hunger (EAH). EAH, another form of disinhibited eating, is a broad term, encompassing both eating in response to an external cue (e.g. sight, smell of food) or to an emotional stimulus (314). Eating in response to an emotional stimulus is commonly termed emotional eating, and is specifically described as "eating in response to a range of negative emotions such as anxiety, depression, anger, and loneliness, to cope with negative affect" (107). EAH is associated with overweight in adults (22), adolescents (263), and children (109; 120; 158; 207). EAH, particularly in response to negative emotion, is more common among adults (332) and children (297; 298) reporting LOC. However, while EAH and LOC commonly co-occur, EAH is also observed among individuals not reporting LOC. Therefore, EAH is considered an important and distinct form of disinhibited eating that has an impact on body weight regulation. Data suggest that young children have an innate ability to self-regulate energy intake (25). This ability, however, varies between children, decreases with age, and is related to body weight (294). Among preschool girls, poor compensation for a pre-meal juice drink is related to overweight (173). Similarly, in a group of children ages 3-6 years, girls', but not boys', EAH after reaching satiety was related to weight-for-height ratio. Among five-year-olds, most children eat in the absence of hunger, but overweight youth consume significantly more calories than do non-overweight youth. Further, youth reporting EAH at age five are more likely to report EAH and to be overweight at age seven, suggesting that EAH is a stable trait that may be linked to maintenance of overweight over time. These data indicate that all youth are responsive to environmental cues to overeat (e.g. larger portion sizes), but that a subtype of youth may be particularly vulnerable to overeating and subsequent weight gain (119).

Evidence suggests that EAH is a modifiable behavior in early childhood. Conditioning preschoolers to eat in response to external cues (e.g., time, rewards) results in greater consumption of snack foods following a yogurt pre-load, which is suggestive of decreased ability to self-regulate caloric intake. In contrast, educating preschoolers about hunger and satiety facilitates appropriate consumption of snack foods following high and low-calorie yogurt pre-loads, indicating improved self-regulation (25). Using a similar technique, Johnson and colleagues showed that preschoolers can be taught to improve compensation for a pre-snack drink by 40%, on average (173).

Other studies have more specifically examined emotional eating among young children. While undereating, rather than overeating, is a more common response to negative emotion during young childhood, emotional eating is prevalent, at

approximately 25% among five-year old girls (44), and becomes more prevalent with age (15). In a sample of children ranging from 3-5 years, emotional eating was also observed in a laboratory setting, following a negative mood induction (28). Emotional eating in young childhood may be facilitated by familial and environmental factors, as preschooler emotional eating is related to parent use of food for emotion regulation (28). While data examining the relationship between emotional eating and weight in young children specifically are scarce, emotional eating is positively associated with overweight among youth ranging from ages 3-13 years (316).

Summary of Disinhibited Eating

A variety of disinhibited eating behaviors (binge/LOC eating, emotional eating, EAH) are observed across the age span and are salient among individuals of racial and ethnic minority. While LOC eating is rarely reported by young children, EAH is common and theorized to be an early indicator of other disinhibited eating patterns more commonly seen in adulthood (120). From an early age, disinhibited eating patterns are prevalent, related to overweight, and contribute toward weight gain with age (119). Together, these data suggest that, from an early age, disinhibited eating behaviors may be an important factor in weight regulation.

SELF-REGULATION: POSSIBLE LINKS TO OVERWEIGHT

Self-Regulation

Self-regulation involves the capacity to modulate reactions to environmental stimuli through attentional and behavioral processes (246). Emotion regulation, one aspect of self-regulation, is the process of coping with heightened levels of positive and negative emotions (185). Like general self-regulation, emotion regulation also involves the regulation of attention, namely refocusing and shifting attention, while controlling behavior. Deficits in behavioral control can be further categorized as reactive overcontrol (e.g. inhibition) and reactive undercontrol (e.g. disinhibition or impulsivity) (246). In general, well-regulated individuals are thought to be able to employ a variety of flexible, socially-appropriate regulatory behaviors, while avoiding over-control and disinhibition (58).

During childhood, there is a considerable body of literature linking selfregulation to both behavioral and emotional problems. Deficits in self-regulatory abilities are risk factors for poor adjustment. For example, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder is associated with self-regulation difficulties in maintaining attention and inhibiting disruptive behaviors (19). Further, difficulties with self-control and attention are associated with mood and behavioral problems (e.g., aggression, rule-breaking) during childhood (90). Compared to children who effectively regulate emotion, those who do not demonstrate poorer social functioning, more destructive coping skills, and lower social competence in school, as well (91).

Self-Regulation and Eating Behaviors

Poor self-regulation may relate to obesity by promoting impulsive eating behaviors and reducing the ability to regulate or delay intake of pleasurable foods (141). Behaviorally, this tendency may manifest as disinhibited eating patterns, such as binge/LOC eating, emotional eating, or EAH. Within the adult population, a review of the literature indicates correlations between overweight and poor self-regulation. More specifically, obese and overweight individuals are more likely than non-overweight individuals to score high on impulsivity (i.e., emotional and behavioral disinhibition)

questionnaires and to exhibit preference for immediate reward, suggesting difficulty with delay of gratification (210). Impulsivity, particularly in response to negative emotion, is also associated with disinhibited eating behaviors (75).

There is overlap between binge/LOC eating and impulsivity-related behavioral problems associated with disinhibition. For example, binge eating often co- occurs with pathological gambling, alcohol/substance abuse, and other impulse control disorders among adults (e.g., antisocial personality disorder) (Kane, Loxton, Staiger, & Dawe, 2004; Fisher & Smith, 2008; Fernandez-Aranda, 2008). This relationship is also evident in adolescent samples. For example, behavioral problems associated with poor control (e.g., aggression, suicide attempts, sexual disinhibition) correlate with LOC eating patterns (177; 308). Prospectively, behavioral indicators of impulsivity (e.g., shoplifting, hitting others) predict the onset of binge eating behaviors in adolescent females (337). Given these correlations, researchers propose that an underlying predisposition towards impulsivity and emotional reactivity make some individuals more vulnerable to addictive and external problem behaviors, in order to cope with negative feelings (117).

Several studies have examined the link between self-regulation, eating, and obesity during middle childhood. Youth with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are at increased risk for overweight compared to youth without the diagnosis, or those with the diagnosis who are on medication (323). There is further evidence of high reward sensitivity and lower levels of behavioral inhibition among obese youth, compared to non-obese youth (210). Interestingly, in this same study, obese youth with self-reported LOC eating behaviors exhibited more impulsivity than obese youth who did not report LOC eating (210). Similarly, youth reporting LOC eating are less adept at regulating

negative emotion, compared to those who do not report LOC eating (73). Finally, longitudinal data show that children rated by parents and teachers as having more selfcontrol (e.g., impulse control, delay of gratification) at age nine years were less likely to be overweight at age 15 years (312). These data suggest that self-regulation may facilitate weight control with age. Notably, difficulties with self-control and impulsivity may underlie some of the behavioral traits evident among overweight and obese youth, such as elevated responsiveness to environmental food cues (210).

Few studies have examined the link between overweight and self-regulation in young children. Seeyave and colleagues showed that youth who fail a task of delayed gratification at age four years are more likely to be overweight at age 11 years (259). Graziano and colleagues longitudinally examined the relationship between self-regulation and weight status in boys and girls at ages 2 and 5¹/₂ years, using a variety of tasks designed to assess both behavioral (e.g., attentional control, reward sensitivity, inhibitory control) and emotional (e.g., distress reaction, self-soothing, distraction) indices. At age two years, children with more behavioral problems and less inhibitory control/high reward sensitivity were more likely to be overweight. Over time, when controlling for baseline BMI, demographic variables, and behavioral problems, children with better emotion regulation skills at age two years were less likely to have an increase in BMI at the 51/2 year assessment. Further, and most importantly, children classified as overweight or obese (BMI≥85th for age and sex) at age 51/2 years had significantly poorer emotion regulation and inhibitory control skills at age two years, when compared to those classified as non-overweight at age 51/2 years. These data provide preliminary evidence to

suggest that poor self-regulation in young childhood is both associated with overweight and predictive of weight gain and onset of overweight with age.

Self-Regulation Summary

Taken together, data suggest that difficulties with self-regulation may relate to overweight and obesity in two primary ways. To begin, those with poor impulse control and high reward sensitivity in an environment in which copious amounts of highly palatable foods are available may be more susceptible to eating in response to environmental food triggers. Further, a tendency toward impulsivity and emotional reactivity may make some individuals more vulnerable to a variety of addictive and external problem behaviors, including dysregulated eating behaviors, such as emotional and binge eating. The correlation between self-regulation and overweight can be seen throughout the age span, as early as two years of age, and may increase risk for excessive weight gain with age.

OBESITY SUMMARY

The rates of overweight and obesity remain very high (125; 215). Obesity also has a significant medical, psychosocial, and financial impact. Across all ages, overweight and obesity are associated with health problems (184), weight-related stigmatization, and emotional distress (21; 229; 255). Overweight and obesity trends have resulted in considerable research examining the factors contributing to excess adiposity. In addition to genetic factors, environmental factors are also at play (270). In addition, data suggest that variations in aspects of self-regulatory capacities may contribute to individual differences in overeating behaviors (141).

TREATMENT OF OBESITY

In accordance with the energy balance model, behavioral treatments of obesity focus on lifestyle changes, such as refining dietary habits and increasing energy expenditure. A myriad of dietary changes have been examined. These efforts range from focusing on reduction of caloric consumption from one food group (e.g. fats, carbohydrates), to encouraging an increase healthy food intake (e.g. fruits, vegetables, whole grain products), while simultaneously decreasing consumption of food high in fat and calories. Exercise, either independently or in group format, is often targeted as a way to increase energy expenditure for effective weight loss (339). Interventions also commonly include psychological principles associated with behavior change, such as self-monitoring, reward, and goal-setting, to increase motivation and maintain weight loss (151; 332). While combined diet and exercise interventions are successful in effecting short term weight-loss in adults, weight-regain post-treatment is common, and weight maintenance is the exception, rather than the norm (339). In light of such data, weight loss interventions during adulthood are considered challenging and largely unsuccessful (170).

However, intervening during youth may be more effective, as a reduction in BMI may be more easily attained by maintaining weight during growth (85). Indeed, lifestyle interventions in childhood show short- (331) and long-term (102; 170; 331) effectiveness. There is further evidence that targeting sedentary activity, with a particular focus on television and computer use, is efficacious (85; 100).

Family-Based Obesity Intervention in Middle Childhood

Within the pediatric weight-loss literature, the efficacy of family-based interventions for achieving short-term pediatric weight loss is well-established (98). Family-based interventions generally focus on facilitating parent implementation of techniques such as reinforcement, stimulus control, and improving access to healthy foods and activity, which in turn creates an environment that is thought to promote and maintains weight loss (98). A number of studies have involved whole families, and others have targeted parents-only as agents of family-based change.

Epstein and colleagues have completed a number of studies with youth in middle childhood using the Traffic Light Diet (101), which is a child-friendly color-based food system used to implement healthier eating patterns. "Green light" items are low in fat and high in nutrition and encouraged to be increased, "yellow light" items are moderate on nutrition and fat, and encouraged to be eaten with caution, and "red light" items are high in fat/sugar and low in nutrient density, and are encouraged to be decreased. Families are encouraged to have "green light" items easily accessible within the home, and to limit access to "red light" items. Children are rewarded for adhering to this system. Long-term follow-up assessment of this program showed that targeting parents and children together was significantly more effective than a child-only and control group at five-year followup and significantly greater than the control group at ten-year follow-up. Further, the number of children in the parent-child group maintaining a minimum of 20% reduction of overweight at the ten year follow-up was nearly double that of the child-only group. Support from family and friends and the number of meals eaten at home were both identified as predictors of weight loss maintenance (102). Epstein and colleagues have supplemented their basic nutrition plan with various cognitive and behavioral strategies,

such as problem-solving (97), and increasing physical activity and sedentary activity (99; 103), for example. Further, additions to this program involving social support and cognitive behavioral skills have shown short-term effectiveness in maintaining weight loss following treatment (330).

Israel and colleagues have conducted a series of studies involving middle childhood aged children and parents in obesity treatment. Their treatment program was based off of the "CAIR" model, which includes parental monitoring of cue control (C), physical activity (A), food intake (I), and administering rewards (R) for achievement, such as staying within the prescribed calorie limit. Parents also received general child behavior management training. Within one condition, parents were the primary agents of change, in that they were in charge of monitoring children and enforcing homework completion. The other arm targeted children as primary agents of change, via selfregulation education, including goal-setting, self-monitoring, self-evaluation, and selfconsequences. Following the intervention, prevalence of obesity declined in both conditions, and there was no interaction by treatment arm. Although treatment effects did not remain over a six-year follow-up period, children in the enhanced self-regulatory group maintained weight better than those not in the enhanced condition (164). In another study, behavioral weight loss skills were supplemented in one group by general parenttraining. Although participants in both groups had greater weight loss at follow-up compared to the control group, maintenance of weight loss was better for children whose parents received the parent training condition at the one year follow-up (165).

Other research has focused on the use of family therapy in obesity intervention. Flodmark and colleagues compared two groups of parents and obese children ages 10-11

years receiving dietary counseling, with one group also receiving family therapy, to a control group. The children involved in family therapy maintained their weight better than both the comparison and control group at a one-year follow-up assessment (127). Similarly, Nowicka and colleagues implemented a brief family therapy intervention within a multidisciplinary primary care setting with children ages 6-17 years, and showed reduction in BMI z-scores following the intervention (214).

Golan and colleagues have targeted parents-only in family based change. In a sixmonth intervention encouraging healthy eating (e.g., increased availability and serving of fruits and vegetables), increased physical activity, decreased sedentary activity, and techniques for approaching feeding in an authoritative manner, Golan and colleagues compared targeting parents-only to targeting children-only in effecting family-based change. At a seven year follow-up assessment, the parent-only group was significantly more effective than the child-only group, with 29% and 20% mean reductions in overweight, respectively (134). These data suggest that parent-only interventions may be as effective as targeting children in concert with their parents (135), especially for prepubertal children (168). Intervening with parents-only may also have the added benefit of reducing child-perceived weight-related stigmatization.

Summary of Obesity Intervention

In adulthood, long-term weight maintenance following loss is difficult (339), but interventions targeting children are more optimistic (98; 331). For children, involving parents in treatment appears to be critical for long-term success (98). Family-based interventions generally focus on improving dietary intake and energy expenditure, as well
as facilitating parents in implementing behavioral techniques to facilitate weight loss and maintenance (98).

PEDIATRIC OBESITY INTERVENTION: WHY PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT MATTERS Background

A number of studies have evidenced a link between child and parent weight. Evidence suggests that parental involvement in treatment improves long-term outcome (102; 134). Importantly, when parent weight change is also examined, it prospectively predicts child weight change (338), suggesting that environmental factors shared by parents and children may be important points of intervention.

Within the home, parents decide food availability and how foods are served. There is evidence that the availability of fruits and vegetables within the home is associated with children's consumption of such foods (225) and negatively associated with fat intake (123). By providing healthy food options within the home, parents may facilitate children's preference and consumption of such foods (253).

Parental Feeding Practices

Parent feeding practices may also influence children's eating patterns and weight status (223). As parents of overweight children are often concerned about their child's weight (272), they may opt to control child eating behaviors to facilitate healthy eating (180). However, controlling feeding practices, such as restriction of unhealthy foods, is correlated with overweight status (112), and among youth at-risk for overweight, longitudinally predictive of weight gain (108). Parental food restriction is also associated with increased child consumption of such foods when access is granted (118), and longitudinally, promotes eating outside of physiological hunger (119). Similarly, pressuring or rewarding children for the consumption of undesired, but healthier foods, is ineffective and may result in decreased preference for such foods (251). Pressuring children to eat (44) and feeding in response to negative emotion (28) are also associated with emotional eating (28; 44). In light of such data, controlling feeding practices may alter children's sensitivity to hunger and satiety cues, subsequently altering selfregulatory eating abilities (253), thus promoting weight gain over time. However, these data must be interpreted with caution, as most studies have been correlational in nature, hence limiting causal interpretations (315).

Parental Modeling in Eating and Activity

In line with development theories emphasizing the role of vicarious learning and modeling (16), parents may also influence children's eating and activity behaviors, both negatively and positively, through modeling. Parents' and children's intake of healthy (123) and unhealthy foods (36), as well as activity and inactivity levels (129) correlate, suggesting that the health of a parent's lifestyle is reflected in that of their child's.

Research specifically examining the effects of parent modeling indicate that intentional modeling of healthy eating behaviors is associated with children's fruit and vegetable intake (225) and low-fat eating patterns (309). Children are also encouraged to try new foods after watching their parent do so (23). Taken together, parent modeling of healthy eating and activity behaviors may serve to effectively promote similar child practices (36; 319).

As discussed previously, EAH is a behavior commonly linked to overweight. EAH may also have a familial link. For example, children of parents who eat in response to negative emotions are also more likely to reflect this eating behavior (36). Among preschool-aged youth, mothers' engagement in disinhibited eating practices (e.g., eating in response to food availability or negative emotion) is significantly related to daughters' EAH and weight-for-height ratio (72). These data indicate that parent disinhibited eating significantly impacts child weight status. Similarly, mothers who report disinhibited eating patterns are more likely to have children who are less able to self-regulate energy intake during ad-libitum snack intake following a juice preload (173).

Summary

In summary, the family environment has a significant impact on the development of health behaviors during childhood (223). In light of these data, incorporating parents in child weight-loss intervention is considered critical (205; 334). According to best practice recommendations, parents may promote a healthy lifestyle by setting appropriate meal and snack times, providing a range of healthy food options, and modeling healthy eating and activity behaviors for their children (136).

PARENTAL INFLUENCES ON CHILD SELF-REGULATION

Parents also have a significant impact on children's weight indirectly, via an impact on children's self-regulatory abilities, which as previously discussed are thought to relate to dietary disinhibition (259). In theory, a warm, caring approach to parenting fosters effective self-regulation, which in turn leads to less risk for anger and frustration, and subsequent decreased risk for problem behaviors (92). Indeed, a sensitive, responsive, and directive, yet encouraging approach to parenting is associated with positive development of self-regulating abilities, while negative parenting practices, marked by excessively controlling styles characterized by anger, harshness, and criticism, are related to reduced ability to self-regulate (178). Longitudinal studies further support

this notion. For example, parental nurture/support predicts child self-control, which, in turn, is negatively related to internalizing problems (e.g., depression, low self-esteem) (35). Similarly, positive parenting in childhood predicts child self-regulation two years later, and reduced risk for aggression in adolescence (92).

The association between parenting practices and child self-regulation is further substantiated by the efficacy of parenting interventions for problem behaviors during childhood. For example, a parent-training intervention administered to an ethnically diverse, lower-socioeconomic group through Head Start, focusing on positive parenting skills (e.g., limit setting, praise, and encouragement), effective discipline strategies, and problem solving, improved parenting behaviors and reduced children's problem behaviors and negative mood at post-group and one-year follow-up, when compared to a control group (326). A thorough review of the literature on behavioral family interventions further indicates that targeting similar parenting variables associated with positive parenting practices and effective discipline (e.g., frequency of positive interactions, reinforcement and praise for positive behavior) is effective in managing children and adolescents with a variety of behavioral problems, including oppositional defiant disorder, conduct disorder, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, among others (305).

Summary

Evidence suggests that parenting style has an impact on child self-regulatory abilities, and in turn, child problem behaviors. A warm, caring, and sensitive, yet direct approach to parenting is associated with improved child regulation. Notably, evidence

suggests that parenting style is a modifiable factor that can be targeted in intervention efforts to improve children's behavioral problems.

PARENTAL SELF-EFFICACY AND PARENTAL STRESS

One factor considerably related to parenting practices and child adjustment is parental self-efficacy (174). Parental self-efficacy is a component of self-efficacy identified in Bandura's social cognitive theory (16), broadly defined as the expectation caregivers hold about their capability to successfully manage their children's problems (77; 174). In theory, parental self-efficacy influences child development through modeling and promotion of positive behaviors (18). Indeed, in studies from infancy through adolescence, parental self-efficacy is inversely related to inconsistent parenting and disciplinary practices and positively associated with constructive parenting skills (e.g., warmth, involvement, positive modeling) (174). Parenting behaviors, in turn, have an impact on children's adjustment and success outside of the home (13).

Research specifically examining African American parents is limited. Studies have evidenced a cross-sectional relationship between low financial resources and low parental self-efficacy, and in turn impaired goal setting to facilitate adequate child development (35). Lower parental self-efficacy has also been associated with difficult child temperament (232) and behavior problems, as well as with strict and inconsistent discipline tendencies (148), in urban, low-income populations. Importantly, improving parent knowledge can have beneficial effects on self-efficacy, even when income levels do not change. One study with low-income urban parents whose children were enrolled in HeadStart showed that administering a parent education intervention improved parental self-efficacy, which in turn related to children's academic functioning (258). Similarly,

another study targeting Hispanic and African American low-income families in an urban area targeting parenting practices showed improved parenting practices, parental selfefficacy, and child behavior following the intervention, compared to the control group (146). These data suggest that self-efficacy is a relevant component related to parenting practices and child outcome among African American and low-income families that can be effectively targeted in intervention efforts.

One factor that has a significant impact on parental self-efficacy is perceived parent stress. Generally, parents experiencing more stress report feeling less selfefficacious in overall parenting abilities (174). In support of this perception, various forms of stress (e.g., occupational stress, financial stress, parenting stress) are related to negative parenting practices and subsequent child maladjustment. For example, among adolescents, parents' perceived work pressure is related to increased parent-adolescent conflict, lower adolescent self-worth and depressive symptoms (70), and adolescent problem behaviors (e.g. school misconduct, drug use) (131).

The relationship between economic stress and parenting has received much attention. In theory, persistent financial stress increases caregiver distress, and in turn, negatively impacts parenting practices (61). In support of this model, data with adolescents indicates that economic stress is associated with parent stress, which relates to parent-child conflict over financial issues, as well as hostile parenting behaviors (e.g., interactions marked by anger and yelling). Hostile parent-child interactions are further related to increased adolescent mood problems as well as rule-breaking and aggressive behaviors over time (60; 61). Studies with preschoolers (341) and youth in middle childhood (222) show similar results.

As the poverty rate is significantly higher among African American families, much research has focused on the relationship between economic stress and childrearing in this population. While there is evidence that cultural factors impact parenting practices (176), economic stress offers additional risk for parenting practices that promote child maladjustment. In a study of low-income African American mothers of preschoolers, the most reported parenting style was marked by feeling aggravated with the parenting role and impatience with the child (e.g., likely spank, have lost control of feelings). However, mothers were reportedly able to remain warm toward their children. Importantly, both length of low-income status and maternal negative affect were key risk factors for this parenting style (203). Among a sample of primarily low-income urban African American mothers with an infant, approximately 70% adhered to a rigid parenting style with strict disciplinary techniques, such as hitting and intimidation. In this sample, as economic status decrease, parenting stress significantly increased (39).

In addition to external sources of stress, there is also evidence that the act of parenting can be perceived as stressful. This concept has been entitled "parenting stress," and covers a range of typical disruptions and irritations related to raising children (68). Parenting stress is related to harsh, negative, and uninvolved parenting styles, as well as inappropriate structure and guidance (12; 79). Parenting stress is further associated with maladaptive outcomes. For example, among preschool-aged children, parenting stress, regardless of parenting behavior, is related to poor social competence, as well as more internalizing (e.g., depressed, anxious, dependent) and externalizing (e.g., bullies others, oppositional) child behaviors while at school (12). Over time, parenting stress predicts less positive maternal affect, less pleasure derived from mother-child interaction, and

more child negativity and problem behaviors (67). Among low-income urban African American women specifically, approximately 16% experienced parenting stress in the clinical range. In this sample, mothers who perceived their own parents has having poor parenting techniques were more likely to report parent stress (39).

Summary

Parenting practices have a significant impact on child adjustment (92). Parental stress, defined as negative affect from a myriad of stressors parents may experience, has an additional negative impact on parental self-efficacy, parenting practices, and child adjustment. This relationship is evident among low-income African American mothers (203). For this reason, behavioral-based family interventions often include a component designed to help parents improve parenting practices, reduce stress, and increase social support. This additional component has been shown to increase the efficacy and reduce attrition of interventions designed to improve parenting skills and child management (305).

PARENTAL SELF-EFFICACY AND OBESITY

Several factors influencing parental self-efficacy have been identified, including prior success or failure in childcare experiences, one's opinion of their own parenting practices compared to those of others, verbal affirmation of parenting practices, and parental stress level (18; 77). Research in other fields indicates that parents of high-risk populations (e.g. attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, autism spectrum disorders) may be particularly vulnerable to low parental self-efficacy, given the unique parenting challenges and stressors specific to these populations (269). Parenting an overweight child may also confer a unique level of stress. Obesity treatment is considered an

individual, rather than a societal responsibility (255), and parents of overweight children are often blamed for their child's weight status (106). In addition, while there is evidence that parents recognize the need to intervene (89), monitoring an overweight child's dietary behaviors is an identified challenge (33), and commonly used intervention strategies (e.g. overly restrictive feeding practices) may actually further promote weight gain (108). Mixed messages parents receive from the health field confounding weight loss practices with the development of eating disorders may further confuse parents in making healthy lifestyle adjustments (255). Indeed, in qualitative studies, parents of overweight children report feeling inadequate in addressing weight-related challenges (89), citing lack of knowledge and fear of promoting disordered eating behaviors as primary barriers to instituting lifestyle changes (33). Similarly, parents of overweight youth report more weight-related problem behaviors (e.g., child eats too much, watches too much television) and less confidence in managing these behaviors (327). In sum, parents of overweight youth may be particularly vulnerable to high stress and low parental self-efficacy in the area of child weight regulation.

TARGETING PRE-SCHOOL-AGED YOUTH FOR PREVENTION

Despite evidence of long-term treatment effects of weight-loss during middle childhood, attenuation of treatment impact is common (96). Therefore, targeting young, preschool aged children may be particularly efficacious in prevention efforts (334). The five-to-seven year age range has been identified as a prime period for the development of overweight (84). As eating patterns established during early childhood often persist into adolescence and adulthood (213), implementing prevention strategies for overweight or obese youth at this critical time period may be beneficial. Accordingly, investigations of

family-based interventions among young children has been recommended as a priority for future research (228).

Prior Studies with Preschoolers

There are currently a limited number of studies investigating weight-related intervention at the preschool level. Generally, data indicate that targeting increased activity and healthy eating behaviors show initial efficacy in weight maintenance, and in some cases, weight loss in youth ages 3-5y (30; 175). Several studies held within academic settings have shown initial efficacy in targeting factors associated with overweight. For example, Dennison and colleagues (82) administered a 39-week program to a racially diverse sample of preschool aged youth, promoting healthy eating and reduced television watching. Similar information was also mailed home to parents. Based on parent report, compared to a control group, youth receiving the intervention watched significantly less television at the post-intervention assessment. While this study did not show a significant difference in BMI between groups at post-intervention, it suggests that variables associated with overweight are modifiable in a preschool population. Fitzgibbon and colleagues (124) administered a 14-week intervention to primarily African American and Hispanic youth in HeadStart, targeting healthy eating and exercise. Each session included an informational component, as well as a 20-minute exercise period. In addition, parents were sent a weekly mailing summarizing group content and encouraging home involvement. At one and two-year follow-up assessments, children in the intervention group had significantly smaller increases in BMI compared to a control group. There is evidence of treatment effects among underprivileged kindergarten populations, as well (175). Similarly, a program instituted by nurses in a medical setting,

including both parent and child, showed efficacy in prevention and reduction of pediatric overweight, with 20.2% of kids reaching non-obese status at the one-year post-intervention assessment (234).

Only a few studies have targeted parents-only in the treatment and prevention of overweight among young children. Although McGarvey and colleagues did not specifically examine a weight outcome, they found that targeting a sample of primarily low-income Hispanic parents of 2-4 year-olds was effective in increasing parenting behaviors thought to promote healthy lifestyle patterns (e.g., increased activity with child, less consumption of fruit drinks) (202). A home-based intervention teaching parenting and behavioral weight management skills to low-income Native American parents of 9month-3year-olds was effective in improving parent feeding practices, and trended toward improved child weight-to-height ratio, when compared to a parenting skills-only group (154). Similarly, a home-based intervention for primarily Caucasian, middle to moderate-income parents targeting availability of fruits and vegetables, feeding practices, and modeling of intake was successful in improving child fruit and vegetable intake. Weight change was not measured (150). Notably, Quattrin and colleagues implemented a family-based intervention within a primary care setting with primarily Caucasian families, focusing on improved parenting (e.g., limit setting, time-out) and healthy eating patterns. They observed a significant decrease in parent and child weight at three- and six-months post-intervention, compared to the control group (230).

Summary

These preliminary data hold promise that prevention and treatment of overweight during preschool is feasible, and in light of increasing emphasis on prevention, may in

fact be optimal. As children normally gain weight with age, the prevention model is centered on the idea that, by maintaining weight during growth, excessive weight gain with age can be averted (85). These studies suggest that interventions during this age range are effective in improving eating behaviors and activity patterns related to body weight. A small number have studies have further shown efficacy in pediatric weight loss or obesity prevention.

STUDY RATIONALE: TARGETING PARENTAL SELF-EFFICACY IN THE PREVENTION OF OBESITY IN AFRICAN AMERICANS

Study Rationale

Rates of adult and pediatric obesity are at an all-time high, and even among effective long-term treatments, weight regain is common (96; 331). Given the link between childhood body weight and adult overweight (115), prevention efforts are paramount (85), and there is a clear need for novel approaches in pediatric weight intervention, particularly among racial and ethnic minority groups.

During childhood, self-regulation is an important factor in psychosocial, eatingrelated, and weight outcomes (92; 141). Child self-regulation is affected by social factors, specifically parenting styles and practices. Parents who feel confident in their parenting abilities, as indicated by higher levels of parental self-efficacy, are more likely to use parenting strategies that promote positive child adjustment. However, perceived parental stress has a negative impact on parental self-efficacy and parenting strategies, and may also provide poor modeling of appropriate self-regulation (174).

Among populations in which parents experience difficulty regulating child behavior, directly targeting parental self-efficacy is an effective treatment strategy (174).

As research indicates that parenting an overweight child confers additional stress (327), parental self-efficacy may be a unique and potentially effective new target for obesity prevention. Given the relative dearth of literature on weight intervention with young children, best practice recommendations increasingly suggest targeting this population in prevention efforts (334). Family-based behavioral intervention among preschool youth has been highlighted as a priority area for future obesity prevention research (228).

Therefore, the research completed was an investigation of the feasibility and acceptability of a group parent-training intervention based on the manual H.O.U.S.E. (344) for the prevention of excessive weight gain. As there is preliminary evidence that interventions targeting parents-only are as effective as those involving both parents and children (135), H.O.U.S.E. was designed to be delivered in a group modality to parentsonly. H.O.U.S.E. is derived from social cognitive and behavioral theories (17) and targets parental self-efficacy in family-based change (220). Given the challenges unique to parenting an overweight child (327), H.O.U.S.E. first targets parent self-regulation (e.g., stress management, emotion regulation) and parenting skills (e.g., behavior modification), to instill parental confidence, before introducing changes in children's eating and activity patterns. In theory, improving parenting skills and self-regulation as a first step should, in turn, improve parents' ability to manage daily stressors, facilitating parental confidence in making healthy lifestyle changes within the home environment. As a result, parents should have improved likelihood of establishing and maintaining healthy lifestyle changes within the family unit (regular, healthy meals), resulting in effective prevention of excess pediatric weight gain (220).

H.O.U.S.E. was initially designed for parents of obese youth ages 5-8y, and was previously informally piloted in an academic medical center in the southeast United States. Participants were 13 Caucasian (66.67%) and African American (33.33%) obese youth ($M = 29.22 \text{ kg/m}^2$, SD = 6.69, 50% female) between the ages of 5-8y (M = 84.46 months, SD = 15.45) and their guardian(s). Generally speaking, parents involved in this initial run-through of the program seemed to enjoy attending sessions and were able to use the information provided to make positive changes within the home environment (N. Zucker, personal communication, July 10, 2013). The present study was the first formal pilot trial of the intervention. Given the priority of obesity prevention research among young, minority youth (228; 334), African American parents of overweight and obese youth ($BMI \ge 85^{th}$ percentile) ages 2-6 years were targeted.

Implementing Studies with African Americans

African Americans have historically been largely understudied within the research sector. Following the establishment of the NIH Revitalization Act of 1993 (62), which required inclusion of women and minorities in research, increased attention was given to understanding barriers to African American participation in research, and to developing potential solutions to these problems. A review of past literature highlights several relevant barriers to research with minority populations, including mistrust of researchers, lack of clinical trials accessible to minority populations, overly-complicated study procedures, difficulty with transportation and child care, lack of time, poor communication by researchers, and lack of interest in preventative care, among others (93). To resolve these conflicts, early recommendations included conducting trials within a community sphere and involving community individuals (e.g., pastors, tenant association presidents) in recruiting for research projects. This method has been coined a "community-based" vs. "institution-based" approach to research (31). Indeed, research shows greater success with recruitment and retention of African American subjects when recruitment is "face-to-face" versus over the telephone, and when interventions occur in a community setting, such as a church (132). For the present study, we sought to decrease barriers by holding the trials within a community center easily accessible to most participants, recruiting via community pediatricians and nurses, and providing childcare to facilitate attendance.

SPECIFIC AIMS

This study had one primary aim and two secondary aims. The primary aim was to evaluate the feasibility and acceptability of GPT-O in low-income African American parents of overweight or obese (BMI percentile $\geq 85^{th}$ for age and sex) children ages 2-6y. The second aim was to examine patterns in the data to determine whether GPT-O is effective in preventing excess weight gain with growth. The final aim was to examine patterns in the data to determine whether GPT-O improves parenting self-efficacy related to child feeding and activity behaviors, and child and parent eating patterns and activity.

Power and Sample Size

This study was designed to assess feasibility and acceptability, not to compare groups. In these cases, a formal size calculation is not required. Rather, it is recommended that the population of interest be well-represented in the chosen sample and that the sample size be adequate to examine the feasibility issues of interest (e.g.,

feasibility of recruitment and intervention implementation), while also considering recruitment challenges and limitations (189; 307). Based on recommendations provided by those with experience with the proposed population, a sample size of 20 was selected. As such, the power for aims two and three were lower than would be desirable. Post-hoc power calculations based on correlations on questionnaire data from baseline to followup to detect a moderate effect size, based on a 5% two-sided significance level, were calculated and are provided in the results (Table 2). Despite low power, the proposed analyses for aims two and three were conducted to allow for descriptions of patterns in the data and preliminary estimates of standard deviations and within-subject correlations, to design a full study in the future. The hypotheses and statistical analysis for each aim are provided below.

Hypotheses and Statistical Analyses

Aim 1: To evaluate the feasibility and acceptability of GPT-O in low-income African American parents of children ages 2-6y who are overweight or obese (BMI percentile: ≥85th for age and sex).

Hypothesis 1: Participant questionnaire ratings will indicate that the intervention is feasible and acceptable to participants.

The collection of feasibility and acceptability data is considered a critical, first step component to the development of a new behavioral intervention (247). Descriptive analyses were conducted to determine the feasibility and acceptability of GPT-O, by examining the average scores on the feasibility and acceptability questionnaire. To further judge attendance and compliance, a post-group multiple choice questionnaire was also administered to parents, testing their knowledge of skills they were expected to learn

based on the program. Key skills tested included behavior and household management skills, a parent's role at mealtimes, parent stress management, healthy eating skills, and reasons for eating in the absence of hunger.

Measures for Aim 1: Aim 1 examined the primary purpose of this study, feasibility and acceptability of the intervention. Measures for Aim 1 included a feasibility questionnaire and a skills questionnaire. Parents also completed a baseline questionnaire assessing their perception and concern regarding their child's weight.

Aim 2: To examine patterns in the data to determine whether GPT-O is potentially effective in preventing excessive weight gain with age.

Hypothesis 2: Children in the intervention group will show maintenance in weight and body composition, relative to those in the standard of care control group.

To examine weight maintenance in growing children of various ages, the expected BMI change for each intervention and control participant based upon the Center for Disease Control pediatric BMI growth chart data (48) versus the actual change in BMI over the course of six months was calculated. Residualized change scores were created by regressing BMI at the three-month follow-up onto baseline BMI and saving the unstandardized residuals. This method of analysis does not control directly for baseline BMI; it does so indirectly by providing an estimate of pre- to post-group change that is not susceptible to regression to the mean (54). A categorical variable was created grouping children who experienced less than their expected BMI growth versus those whose BMI growth was greater than expected. A binary logistic regression was employed to examine the frequency of less than vs. more than expected BMI growth in the intervention, compared to the standard of care control group. No covariates were used as

children served as their own control. All tests were two-tailed, and differences were considered significant when p values were ≤ 0.05 .

Measures for Hypothesis 2: Hypothesis 2 measured the primary outcome variable of the proposed intervention, child body composition. To assess composition, we examined child BMI change scores in the intervention compared to the standard of care control group.

Aim 3: To examine patterns in the data to determine whether GPT-O improves parenting self-efficacy via improved parenting, stress management, and feeding practices, and, in turn child general, eating-related, and activity behaviors.

Aim 3 is an evaluation of the mechanism of change in the proposed intervention, meaning change in child behavior (general and eating/activity related) via improvement in parental self-efficacy related to improved parenting skills (general and lifestylerelated) and stress management. Given these relationships, we expected to see improvement in overall parenting behaviors, stress management, and feeding practices. We also expected to see improvement in general parental self-efficacy and parental selfefficacy specific to changing their child's eating and activity patterns. In turn, we expected improvements in parenting factors to be related to improved child behavior. These expected changes would support the underlying theoretical model, specifically in a sample of low-SES, urban, African American parents. In a larger study, this hypothesis would be tested using a mediation model to examine whether improvement in selfefficacy would mediate the hypothesized relationship between the intervention and improvement in child eating patterns and activity schedules. However, as this was a feasibility trial with a small sample size, this hypothesis was examined in SPSS using paired samples *t*-tests. No covariates were examined as participants served as their own controls. Differences were considered significant when *p*-values were ≤ 0.05 .

Hypothesis 3: Self-reported data on parental self-efficacy, stress, and parenting behaviors will be collected prior to and following the intervention. Measures of children's general behavior, eating-related behavior, dietary intake, and activity recall will also be collected. Scores on these measures will show improvement from baseline to follow-up.

Measures for Aim 3:

Parental Self Efficacy: Lifestyle Behavior Checklist, Competence Scale

Toddler Care Questionnaire

<u>Parental Stress</u>: Parent Stress Index-Short Form, Perceived Stress Scale <u>Parenting Behaviors</u>: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire, Child Feeding Questionnaire

<u>Child Behavior</u>: Child Behavior Checklist 1½-5, Child Eating Behaviour Questionnaire, Lifestyle Behavior Checklist, Problem Scale <u>Child Nutritional Intake/Activity</u>: Block Food Screener for Ages 2-17, Activity Log, Pedometer

CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

OVERVIEW

This was an open-trial feasibility study. The primary outcome was feasibility and acceptability of the intervention. For child BMI expected change only, comparison was made with a standard of care control group. Additionally, parents completed questionnaires assessing parental stress and self-efficacy, feeding behaviors, and children's eating and activity patterns, to provide a preliminary examination of proposed mechanisms of change.

Participants

Participants were twenty English-speaking African American parent-child dyads. Child participants were boys and girls between the ages of 2-6 years at baseline, whose current body weight for height was ≥85th BMI percentile for age and sex. Recruitment was completed at four sites in northwest and southeast Washington, DC: the main Children's National hospital campus (Sheikh Zayed Campus, NW Washington, DC), and three outpatient Children's Health Centers in SE Washington, DC (THEARC, Mississippi Ave. SE, Good Hope Rd., SE, and Martin Luther King Rd., SE). All sites are proximal to each other and serve a primarily low-income African American population. Based on 2007-2011 United States Census 5-Year estimates, median and mean family income in this area are \$38,653 and \$53,138, respectively. Estimated per capita income is \$20,643, and approximately 40.2% of families with children under the age of five years have an income below the poverty level (50).

Child inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in Table 1. Parents were excluded from participation based on the presence of a DSM-IV-TR psychiatric disorder or a medically-related illness that would hinder adherence to study protocol and participation in weekly meetings. Subject inclusion or exclusion was determined based upon the discretion of the investigators.

Recruitment

Flyers were posted in the main CNMC hospital, as well as in local related satellite offices in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. Flyers advertised an 8-week intervention for parents of children with concern about their child's weight (See Appendix A). In addition, Ms. Elliott met with pediatricians and nurse staff at the CNMC satellite offices at the beginning of recruitment, to inform them of the study. In the event that an eligible participant expressed interest in the study, the practitioner referred them to Ms. Elliott, who contacted the parent to complete the screening and baseline assessment, when applicable. All participants were recruited for an eight-week parenttraining for overweight prevention program.

Procedures

Prospective participants were screened in person or by phone prior to baseline assessment to assess for inclusion and exclusion criteria, based on parent report (See Appendix B). Participants and children then completed the baseline assessment. Consenting procedures occurred at the beginning of the baseline assessment (See Appendix C). In the event that a grandparent completed the intervention, the child's parent also attended the consenting procedure. Recruitment for each cohort continued until five to eight participants completed the baseline assessment. Three groups were held between April-July 2012. Participants completed a post-group assessment within several weeks of group termination. All physical and psychological assessments and weekly group sessions took place at THEARC Children's Health Center, as it is centrally located and easily accessible via public transportation. Figure 1 shows the study timeline. Attempts were made to complete an official interview with any participant that chose not

to complete the trial during any of the screening or intervention procedures, to assess their reasons for choosing not to complete the study. However, the majority of parents who dropped out of the study were inaccessible following termination.

Baseline Assessment

The baseline assessment determined subject eligibility. Participants were informed of the nature of the project including types of assessment and study procedures. Parents were asked to sign study consent forms before participation. Participants underwent the following procedures:

If not recently collected during a medical visit, child height was measured to the nearest mm, and weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg on a digital calibrated scale. Height and weight was used to calculate BMI (Screening, measurement for Aim 2).

To assess for history of psychological disorder, parents were asked if they or their child had received a psychological diagnosis or treatment for a psychological disorder within the past year. Participants reporting current diagnosis or treatment of a psychological disorder requiring an advanced level of care, including a mood disorder, anxiety disorder, eating disorder, substance abuse disorder, schizophrenia, developmental disorder (child), or any other problem preventing completion of the activities of the study, were provided with a list of local (DC area) treatment providers and excluded from participation in the study.

Measurement of children's *Physical Activity* using a DigiwalkerTM pedometer was attempted. Parents were instructed in the use of this device during their baseline visit. The assessment was designed for the child to use the device for one weekend day (Saturday) prior to group initiation. The DigiwalkerTM has been previously implemented in children

of the preschool age range and has been found to be an accurate measure of physical activity when validated against behavioral observation (204). Parents were directed to place the meter on their child when they first woke up in the morning and to take the meter off when their child went to bed at night. Families were given the pedometer at the baseline visit and told to bring the device to the first treatment meeting. As the intervention was originally designed, parents were to complete this process for the postgroup assessment. However, pedometer assessment was not completed due to lack of feasibility, which is addressed in the results and discussion sections (Aim 3).

Parents were asked to complete all questionnaires regarding their own and their child's psychological and social functioning and eating patterns (Aim 3). Copies of all questionnaires are included in Appendix D. Questionnaires included:

The *Lifestyle Behavior Checklist* (327) is a 25-item questionnaire that generates two scales. The Problem Scale assesses the total problem behaviors typical to overweight youth (e.g., eats too much, demands extra helpings at meals, range 25-175). The Confidence Scale measures parents' total perceived confidence in handling children's problem behaviors (range 25-250). *The Lifestyle Behavior Checklist* has demonstrated adequate internal consistency and test-retest reliability and has been validated for use with parents of children ages 4-11y (327). As this is a relatively new measure, it has not been validated for use with a low-income, African American sample.

The *Parenting Stress Index-Short Form* (2) is a 36-item shortened version of the original version of the form (3). It is a self-report measure that identifies areas of stress in the parent-child relationship. Subscales generated include Parental Distress, a measure of parenting stress related to personal factors, such as parenting confidence, marital stress,

and lack of social support, Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction, a measure of unmet expectations within the parenting role, Difficult Child, a measure of child behavior that makes a child difficult or easy to manage, and a Total Stress score to provide an overall level of parenting stress. Lower scores indicate less stress. A total raw score >90 is considered clinically significant. This is a reliable and valid tool and has been extensively used (2). This measure has been validated for use with a primarily low-income African American sample (237).

The Block Food Screener for Ages 2-17 "Last Week" version is a food frequency questionnaire developed by NutritionQuest/Block Dietary Systems in Berkeley, CA, that asks about children's intake by food group, based on servings eaten of individual portion sizes on the week prior to assessment based on frequency ("How many days last week did you eat or drink it?") and amount ("How much in one day?"). Participants were provided with a general multiple choice option for the latter question (e.g., "1 bowl, 2 bowls, 3 bowls"; "A little, Some, A lot"). A range of food and beverage intakes are assessed, with output data based on the NHANES III data (29). For this intervention, parents completed the questionnaire. Although food frequency questionnaires generally provide an inaccurate estimate of caloric intake and are moderately correlated with actual intake among preschoolers, for the purposes of this experiment, the questionnaire was administered to provide a proxy of dietary intake and habits. The original version of the Block Food Frequency Questionnaire is well-validated. As the "last week" screener is a relatively new tool, a validation study with preschool youth has not been conducted. The measure was recently validated with children 10-17y (161).

Child sedentary activity was attempted to be measured based on parent report of time spent engaging in activities involving the computer, television, and video games on one weekend day (Saturday).

The Children's Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (321) is a 35-item parent-report questionnaire regarding children's eating behaviors. This measure assesses a variety of eating behaviors. For the purpose of this study, those factors associated with obesity proneness, including Food Responsiveness (a measure of desire for food following exposure to attractive food cues), Enjoyment of Food (a measure of enjoyment and interest in food), Emotional Overeating (a measure of eating more in response to negative mood states), Desire to Drink (a measure of request for and frequency of drinking), Satiety Responsiveness (a measure of dietary compensation for food previously consumed), Slowness in Eating (a measure of speed of eating and time taken to complete a meal), and Fussiness (a measure of selectivity about the range of foods that are accepted), were examined. Each scale ranges from 1-5, with higher values representing greater levels of the behavior examined. The Child Eating Behaviour Questionnaire has demonstrated good internal validity and test-retest reliability, and has been validated for use with young children (42). An adapted version of this measure has been used previously with low-income African American mothers (227).

The *Child Feeding Questionnaire* (26) is a 5-point Likert-type questionnaire designed to assess parental feeding attitudes and behaviors that are associated with overweight. The *Child Feeding Questionnaire* was administered to provide a baseline assessment of parenting practices related to feeding. For the purposes of this investigation, five subscales (range 1-5) were administered: Perceived Responsibility (a

measure of parental perception of their responsibility for child feeding), Concern about Child Weight (a measure of parental concern about their child's risk of being overweight), Food Restriction (a measure of parental restriction to access of certain foods), Pressure to Eat (a measure of parents' tendency to pressure their children to eat more food), and Monitoring (a measure of the extent to which parents oversee their child's eating). This measure has adequate internal validity (26). An adapted version of this measure has been used previously with low-income African American mothers (227).

The *Perceived Stress Scale* (56) is a 10-item self-report instrument that assesses overall perception of lifestyle stress from the past month on a 5-point Likert scale (range 0-4). The items generate one total sum (range 0-40). A clinical cut-off has not been established, but higher scores represent greater perceived stress. This measure has been validated in an racially and culturally diverse community sample (57).

The Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire-Short Form (240) is a 32item self-assessment instrument measuring parenting style and behavior on a 5-point Likert scale (range 1-5). Items generate three main scales based on Baumrind's topography (Authoritative, Authoritarian, Permissive), and characteristics related to those parenting styles. This measure is reliable and valid and has been adapted for use with low-income minority parents (64).

The *Toddler Care Questionnaire* (147) is a 37-item Likert-type scale for rating parental self-efficacy in managing a range of tasks and situations relevant to raising young children. A Total Score is generated (range 37-185), and higher scores indicate greater parental self-efficacy (Gross & Rocissano, 1988). This measure was validated in

middle-class caregivers of preschoolers (63) and has shown good reliability in a sample of low-income primarily African American and Hispanic mothers (145).

The Child Behavior Checklist 1½-5 (4) is a parent-report assessment of child psychopathology. The Child Behavior Checklist includes parent report of problem behaviors used to generate an Internalizing Problem Behavior subscale, an Externalizing Problem Behavior subscale, and a Total Problems subscale. T-scores < 60 are considered normative. The Child Behavior Checklist 1½-5 has been validated in a broad, ethnically and socioculturally diverse sample (4), as well as investigated for use with low-income, African American mothers.

Intervention Description

GPT-O was implemented as an eight-session (90-min each) intervention based on the manual *H.O.U.S.E.* (Humorous, Open-Minded, Undisturbed, Strong, Explicit approach to Parenting). GPT-O was delivered by Ms. Elliott. For two of the three groups, Ms. Elliott was assisted in conducting the groups by another graduate student. GPT-O is administered in three stages. The first stage provides parents with parenting tools, including a general approach to parenting, emotion regulation strategies, behavior modification strategies, and mindfulness strategies aimed to increase parental selfefficacy. The second stage focuses on improving household structure, specifically through modification of mealtimes and bedtimes. Stage three contains content more traditionally associated with behavioral weight management programs, namely, healthy eating, regular exercise, and education about media literacy, with an emphasis on the importance of parental role modeling of healthy lifestyle behaviors. This third component also involves teaching skills to help parents teach their children effective ways to identify

and respond appropriately to hunger cues, to promote eating in response to physiological hunger, rather than other cues (e.g., emotions, smell/sight of food). An example of a healthy snack was prepared and distributed to parent participants at the beginning of each session. At the end of every session, each parent identified a goal for the upcoming week and problem-solved potential barriers and ways to overcome them. Sessions were audiotaped, and supervision was given by Drs. Marian Tanofsky-Kraff and Nancy Zucker.

Pre- and Post-Group Assessments

In addition to the baseline assessment, all group participants attended a follow-up assessment taking place within two weeks of group termination. This assessment was identical to the baseline assessment with the exception that parent/child psychological screening questions were not conducted. Additionally, a questionnaire examining the feasibility, utility, and acceptability of the *H.O.U.S.E.* intervention was administered to all participants. Parents were also able to provide open-ended feedback. In addition, a multiple-choice questionnaire examining knowledge gained from the intervention was administered to further assess feasibility. Copies of all feasibility/acceptability questionnaires are provided in Appendix E.

Standard of Care Control

Due to an obesity prevention initiative at Children's National, during the recruitment and intervention period (January-July, 2012), parents of overweight or obese youth ($BMI \ge 85^{th}$ percentile for age and sex) seen during well-child visits were given general healthy lifestyle psychoeducation. This discussion included instructing parents to limit children's intake of juice and other sweetened drinks, increase fruit and vegetable

intake, limit TV time, and increase physical activity. BMI data on youth seen in the clinic during the approximate time of study recruitment were pulled from the Children's National Electronic record system, to serve as a control comparison for youth in the research study. Use of electronic medical record data was approved by the IRB at USUHS and Children's National Medical Center. Youth were matched to intervention participants by age, sex, weight, and follow-up time period requirements, such that group means did not differ significantly. Parents of these youth did not receive informed consent and did not complete psychological questionnaires.

CHAPTER 3: Results

PARTICIPANT DEMOGRAPHICS AND BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

A graphical representation of the recruitment process can be seen in Figure 2. Intervention participants were twenty African American children (70% female) and their primary caregivers. The age of child participants ranged from 2-6 years (M = 4.10y, SD = 1.48). Child participants' BMI percentiles ranged from the $87^{th} - >99^{th}$ percentile for age and sex (BMI, M = 21.91 kg/m², SD = 4.32; BMI z-score, M = 2.46, SD = .93), with the majority (80%) of participants falling within the obese range. Caregiver participants included predominately mothers (75%, n = 15) and grandmothers (15%, n = 3), one father (5%), and one husband-wife dyad (5%). As assessed via informal baseline interview, participants were free from major psychological or medical conditions that would interfere with intervention completion. All parent participants signed informed consent prior to participation. In the event that a grandmother completed the intervention, the child's parent attended the informed consent process and signed the consent form.

Baseline Concern for Child Weight

At baseline, 40% (n = 8) of parents perceived their child as "just right," 55% (n = 11) perceived their child as, "overweight," and 5% (n = 1) perceived their child as, "obese." Forty-five percent of participants (n = 9) viewed their child's weight as a health problem, and 55% (n = 11) did not. Seventy percent of parents (n = 14) reported a previous attempt to improve their child's weight, and 30% (n = 6) had not. In response to the query, "How much do you worry about your child's current weight," 25% of parents (n = 5) indicated "no worry," 40% (n = 8) indicated "a slight worry," and 35% (n = 7)reported, "a lot of worry." When asked about future concern for their child's weight, 20% (n = 4) of parents reported, "no worry," 25% (n = 5) reported, "a slight worry," and 55% (n = 11) reported, "a lot of worry." Notably, all parents reported feeling that it is "very important" to make sure that their child is at a healthy weight. In terms awareness, 90% (n = 18) of parents reported that their doctor had expressed concern to them regarding their child's weight, and 85% of parents (n = 17) reported that their doctor had further explained future potential health risks associated with pediatric overweight. Seventy percent (n = 14) of parents also reported that a family member or friend had expressed concern regarding their child's weight. Only 25% (n = 5) of parents reported that a family member or friend had expressed disapproval or had complicated attempts at healthy lifestyle changes. A graphical representation of the results is presented in Figure 3.

Baseline Parental Self-Efficacy

At baseline, parent confidence on the *Toddler Care Questionnaire* (M = 153.35, SD = 28.34, range 38-190) was descriptively similar to previously collected from primarily mid-SES Caucasian mothers (M = 155.5, SD = 16.5) (63), as well as data from

a diverse sample of low-income parents of preschoolers in urban communities

(M = 156.8, SD = 13.6) (145).

At baseline, parent confidence in handling problem behaviors common to parents of overweight children on the *Lifestyle Behavior Checklist* (M = 202.21, SD = 54.94, range 26-260) fell within the clinical range (<204), but was descriptively higher than data previously reported from parents of overweight and obese Australian children ranging from 4-11y (M = 167.46, SD = 45.12) (328). This measure has not previously been used with parents of low-income, urban, or African American preschoolers.

Baseline Parent Stress

At baseline, parenting stress on the *Parenting Stress Index-Short Form* was as follows: Parental Distress (M = 25.95, SD = 8.87; 55^{th} percentile), Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction (M = 16.79, SD = 5.05; 40^{th} percentile), Difficult Child (M = 25.68, SD = 7.12; 55^{th} percentile), and Total Stress (M = 68.58, SD = 17). Mean values were all within the average range of reported parental stress. Only one parent reported clinically significant Total Stress (raw score >90) within the parenting role. Parental Distress (M = 24.67, SD = 9.13) and Difficult Child (M = 26.61, SD = 9.69) subscale means from data previously collected from low-income African American mothers were similar to means reported in this study. However, Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction (M = 22.22, SD = 8.90) and Total Stress (M = 73.44, SD =25.56) subscale means were descriptively higher (237).

At baseline, participant mean total score of lifestyle stress on the *Perceived Stress* Scale (M = 14.50, SD = 7.15, range 2-28) was slightly lower, but generally descriptively similar to the most recently published normative data for African American adults (M = 14.70, SD = 7.2) (55).

Baseline Parenting Behaviors

Baseline characteristics of parent feeding practices on the *Child Feeding Questionnaire* are as follows: Perceived Responsibility (M = 4.57, SD = .41), Concern about Child Weight (M = 3.60, SD = 1.20), Restriction (M = 4.63, SD = .52), Pressure to Eat (M = 2.94, SD = .98), and Monitoring (M = 4.12, SD = .83). These scores are descriptively higher than norms reported from the original validation study with parents of five to nine year-old girls (Perceived Responsibility: M = 3.4. SD = .95, Concern about Child Weight: M = 2.3, SD = 1.15, Restriction: M = 4.0, SD = .78, Pressure to Eat: M = 2.5, SD = 95, Monitoring: M = 3.6, SD = .91) (26). Scores were descriptively similar compared to a sample of combined overweight and average weight African American children ages 3-5 years (11) on Perceived Responsibility (M = 4.61, SD = .67), Restriction (M = 4.31, SD = .84), and Monitoring (M = 4.27, SD = .98). Concern about Child Weight (M = 2.06, SD = 1.15) and Pressure to Eat (M = 3.57, SD = .86) were somewhat higher and lower, respectively, in the sample investigated in this study.

Baseline parenting characteristics on the *Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire* (range 1-5) indicated that parents were generally Authoritative, based on the *Authoritative Parenting* subscale (M = 4.12, SD = .56), and the subscales that comprise it, including Connection (M = 4.53, SD = .42), Regulation (M = 4.25, SD = .65), and Autonomy Granting (M = 3.58, SD = .89). However, parents also exhibited some negative parenting practices, as evidence by the *Authoritarian Parenting* subscale (M = 1.78, SD = .45), and associated subscales, Physical Coercion (M = 1.54, SD = .36), Verbal Hostility (M = 1.68, SD = .58), Non-Reasoning/Punitive (M = 2.13, SD = .68), and *Permissive Parenting* subscales (M = 2.48, SD = .92). These scores are descriptively similar to primarily Caucasian mothers of preschoolers (Authoritative: M = 4.05, SD = .32, Authoritarian: M = 2.10, SD = .38, Permissive: M = 2.08, SD = .45.)

Baseline Characteristics of Child Participants

At baseline, mean parent report on the *Child Behavior Checklist* Internalizing Problems (M =53.20, SD = 8.92), Externalizing Problems (M = 49.25, SD = 10.04), and Total Problems (M = 51.50, SD = 9.51), were within the normal range. At baseline, two youth had Total Problems within the clinical range (T-score ≥ 65).

For the *Child Eating Behaviour Questionnaire*, baseline characteristics are as follows: Food Responsiveness (M = 2.77, SD = 1.28), Enjoyment of Food (M = 3.83, SD = .89), Emotional Overeating (M =1.76, SD = .93), Desire to Drink (M = 3.85, SD = .93), Satiety Responsiveness (M = 3.23, SD = .74), Slowness in Eating (M = 2.99, SD = .58), and Fussiness (M = 3.4, SD = .42). Compared to the normative sample of children younger than nine years, Food Responsiveness (M = 2.2, SD = .8) and Desire to Drink (M = 2.8, SD = 1.1) were descriptively higher, and Slowness in Eating (M = 3.0, SD = .8) Enjoyment of Food (M = 3.6, SD = .8), Emotional Overeating (M = 1.9, SD = .6), Satiety Responsiveness (M = 3.0, SD = .7), and Fussiness (M = 3.1, SD = .9) were descriptively similar.

At baseline, the *Lifestyles Behavior Checklist* problem behaviors scale (M = 63.85, SD = 29.21, range 25-175) fell within the clinical range (>50), but was descriptively lower than data previously reported from parents of overweight and obese Australian children ranging from 4-11 (M = 71.88, SD = 21.14) (328). As noted in

Methods, this measure has not previously been used with parents of low-income, urban, or African American preschoolers.

Variables of interest regarding child daily nutritional intake based on the Block Food Screener for Ages 2-17, last week version are as follows: fruit (cup equivalent, M = 1.55, SD = .90, .09-3.05), vegetables (cup equivalent, M = .52, SD = .30, .10 -1.29), whole grain products (ounces, M = .62, SD = .58, .01 - 2.04), saturated fat (M = 13.46, SD = 7.86, 4.19-35.88), and dietary fiber (grams, M = 10.54, SD = 5.93, 3.44 - 23.72). The average daily intake of added sugars, defined as sweeteners added to processed and prepared foods such as baked goods and sodas (105), was 6.69 tsp. (SD = 4.83) and the average caloric intake from sugary beverages was 37.92 (SD = 53.21). Total daily estimated mean caloric intake was 1051.74 (SD = 509.33, 493.06-2342.81. Based on the USDA's most conservative recommended daily caloric intake, children in the 2-3y age range need 1000 calories per day (\leq 135 from solid fat/added sugar) and youth in the 4-8y age range need 1200-1400 calories per day (≤ 120 from solid fats/added sugar) (163). Based on the mean age range for this sample (4.1y \pm 1.48), the mean total daily caloric intake was descriptively slightly below average, with youth on the higher and lower ends of the range falling above and below the recommended daily caloric intake, respectively.

Collection of child activity and sedentary behaviors was attempted at baseline. However, due either to parents forgetting to administer these measures or child nonadherence, these data were only collected for several participants in the first two cohorts. Accordingly, these measures were discontinued for the third cohort, and planned analyses were not completed.

FOLLOW-UP ANALYSES

Of the twenty parents and children who completed the baseline assessment, fifteen completed the follow-up assessment (See Figure 2). Reasons for attrition included scheduling changes preventing session attendance (n = 1) and failure to show with nonresponse to reminder calls to attend sessions (n = 4). Only one parent who dropped out of the program agreed to answer follow-up questions regarding program non-completion. In terms of specific characteristics of participants who dropped out, all drop-outs were biological mothers. Three were the mothers of six year old females; all of these mothers attended no group sessions and were non-responsive to follow-up calls. Another parent was the mother of a two year old boy. She attended one session and was subsequently non-responsive to weekly reminder phone calls to attend group meetings. The final dropout was the mother of a three year-old female. She attended two sessions and then cited a scheduling conflict as her primary reason for dropping out of the research study.

Qualitatively, the three parents who did not attend any meetings required multiple reminder phone calls the day of the baseline assessment, and two of the three mothers were very late. Notably, although unresponsive to follow-up phone calls, the mother who attended only one session did not have a car and lived farther away from THEARC than did most of the other parents. As a cab would not pick her up at her home, she had to arrange for a ride to weekly meetings, which may have proved too difficult on a weekly basis. Finally, as previously noted, the mother who attended two sessions cited a scheduling conflict as her primary reason for dropping out of research study. Specifically, this mother ran an at-home day care for area families. Attending meetings conflicted with effectively completing her job.

Aim 1

To evaluate the feasibility and acceptability of GPT-O in low-income African American parents of children ages 2-6y who are overweight or obese (BMI percentile: $\geq 85^{\text{th}}$ for age and sex).

Hypothesis and Measures: We anticipated that the intervention would be feasible, as indicted by session attendance and information retained from the intervention, assessed with a post-intervention skills questionnaire. We also expected participants to find the intervention acceptable, as measured by a post-intervention feasibility and acceptability questionnaire.

To provide an assessment of internal validity, Cronbach's alpha was calculated for the Feasibility/Acceptability Questionnaire and for the Skills-Based Questionnaire. On the Feasibility/Acceptability Questionnaire, there was 100% correlation between participant answers on two of the five items. Therefore, Cronbach's alpha was calculated using the remaining three items ($\alpha = .57$). Similarly, on the Skills Questionnaire, there was 100% correlation between participant answers on three of the seven items. Therefore, Cronbach's alpha was calculated using the remaining four items ($\alpha = .40$). Both alpha values were below the acceptable level. However, data suggest that alpha may misrepresent internal validity (264), as it is influenced by the number of items on a scale, with more items linked to greater alpha values (65). As such, given that both scales in the present study had very few items, alpha values presented may not accurately reflect the internal consistency of the measures used.
Feasibility/Acceptability Questionnaire

All participants (n = 15) indicated that they liked the program, by rating it as "very acceptable." Similarly, the majority of parents (n = 13, 86.7%) found the program to be "very helpful." Two participants (13.3%) found the program to be, "really unhelpful." All participants (n = 15) also reported that they would be "very likely" to recommend the intervention to a friend. When assessing the likelihood that the intervention might have a negative impact on parents, the majority of participants (n = 10, 66.7%) indicated, "unlikely," 13.3% (n = 2) indicated, "a little unlikely," one participant (6.7%) was neutral, and two participants (13.3%) reported that the intervention would be, "a little likely" to have a negative impact on parents. The majority of participants found it to be either "very reasonable" (n = 9, 64.3%) or "a little reasonable" (n = 2, 14.3%) to attend eight consecutive weekly sessions. One participant was neutral on this matter (7.1%), and two participants (14.3%) found attending the weekly sessions to be, "a little unreasonable."

Skills Questionnaire

The average percent correct on the skills questionnaire was 94.3%. All items (100%) were answered correctly by 73.3% of parents (n = 11), six of seven items (85.7%) were answered correctly by 13.3% of parents (n = 2), and five of seven (71.4%) items were answered correctly by 13.3% of parents (n = 2).

Session Attendance

Session attendance ranged from 0-8 sessions (M = 4.35, SD = 2.70, median = 5). Excluding those parents who did not attend any sessions (n = 3), attendance ranged from 1-8 sessions (M = 5.12, SD = 2.12). Seventy percent of parents (n = 14) attended \geq 50% of sessions. Specifically, 10% (n = 2) attended one session, 5% (n = 1) attended two sessions, no participants attended only three sessions, 5% (n = 1) attended four sessions, 25% (n = 5) attended five sessions, 20% (n = 4) attended six sessions, 10% (n = 2) attended seven sessions, and 10% (n = 2) attended all eight sessions.

Aim 2

To examine patterns in the data to determine whether GPT-O is potentially effective in preventing excessive weight gain with age.

Hypothesis and Measures: Children in the intervention group will show maintenance in weight and body composition, relative to those in the standard of care control group. BMI maintenance/loss versus gain will be calculated based on expected BMI change from pre- to post-group follow-up period.

As anticipated since youth were matched on age and BMI z-score, no differences were observed between the intervention and standard of care control group on demographic measures including age in months (Intervention: M = 52.51, SD = 14.68, Control: M = 52.05, SD = 13.30, F(1,28) = .01, p = .93) and BMI z-score (Intervention: M = 2.58, SD = 1.03, Control: M = 2.52, SD = 1.05, F(1,28) = .02, p = .87). Youth were also matched for sex such that both groups were 70% female.

There was no observed difference in the intervention (53.3%, n = 8) versus the standard of care control (53.3%, n = 8), on the number of youth with less than or equal to expected BMI growth (χ^2 (1, n = 30) = .00, p = 1.0) following the intervention. Twelve of the fifteen intervention youth who completed the post-group assessment also completed a three-month follow-up assessment. Similarly, there was no observed difference in the intervention (66.7%, n = 8) versus the standard of care control (66.7%, n = 8), on the

number of youth with less than or equal to expected BMI growth (χ^2 (1, n = 24) = .00, p = 1.0) from post-group to three month follow-up assessment. As the majority of the sample were obese, to further explore the effect of the group on child weight, actual (not expected) change in BMI and BMI z-score was also explored post-hoc. Findings generally mirrored results from the planned analysis. From baseline to post-group (intervention: t(14) = -.67, p = .51; control: t(14) = -.58, p = .57) and from post-group to follow-up (intervention: t(11) = -.82, p = .43; control: t(11) = .14, p = .89), BMI did not change significantly for either the intervention or control group, and the interaction of group by time was non-significant at post-group (F(1,25) = .15, p = .70) and follow-up (F(1,19) = 3.30, p = .09). Similarly, from baseline to post-group, BMI z-score did not change significantly for either the intervention (t(14) = .40, p = .70) or the control group (t(14) = .61, p = .55), and the interaction of group by time was non-significant (F(1,27) =.004, p = .95). BMI z-score of the intervention group declined significantly from postgroup to 3-month follow-up (t(11) = 2.80, p = .02). BMI z-score of the control group did not decrease significantly from post-group to 3-month follow-up (t(11) = 1.09, p = .30), although the interaction of group by time did not reach significance (F(1,21) = 1.11), p = .30). When examining the intervention group linearly, across baseline, post-group, and 3-month follow-up time points, intervention youth decreased .08 BMI z-score points on average per time period (p = .03).

Aim 3

To examine patterns in the data to determine whether GPT-O will potentially improve parenting self-efficacy via improved parenting, stress management, and feeding practices, and, in turn child general, eating-related, and activity behaviors.

Hypothesis and Measures: Scores on these measures will show improved parental self-efficacy and parenting behaviors, as well as improved child eating and activity patterns, following the intervention.

Means, standard deviations, and effect sizes for all Hypothesis 3 analyses are presented in Table 2. Graphical representations are presented in Figures 4-19. Pearson correlations for all measures from baseline to post-group assessment were calculated to determine analytic power based on a medium effect size (.5). Adequate power was considered \geq .8. As anticipated due to the small sample size, most analyses were underpowered, with the exception of the Parenting Stress Index (total score calculated) and the Problem Scale of the Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist. Estimated power for each psychological variable is presented in Table 3.

Measures of Parental Self-Efficacy

Toddler Care Questionnaire: There was a non-significant increase in general parental self-efficacy from baseline to post-intervention (t(11) = -.40, p = .70).

Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist Confidence Scale: There was a non-significant increase in parental self-efficacy in handling problem behaviors common to overweight youth from baseline to post-intervention (t(8) = -1.12, p = .29).

Measures of Parent Stress

Parenting Stress Index: A non-significant decrease was observed on the Total Score (t(11) = .38, p = .71), the Parental Distress (t(11) = 1.01, p = .33), and the Difficult Child (t(11) = 1.19, p = .26) subscales from baseline to post-intervention. A nonsignificant increase was observed on the Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction subscale (t(11) = .-1.79, p = .10).

Perceived Stress Scale: Due to administrative error, four participants did not complete this measure post-group, so results must be interpreted with caution. A non-significant decrease was observed on the total score from baseline to post-intervention assessment (t(9) = .32, p = .76).

Measures of Parenting Behaviors

Child Feeding Questionnaire: There was a significant decrease in parental Pressure to Eat (t(13) = 2.53, p = .03) and Concern Over Weight (t(13) = 2.26, p = .04), from baseline to post-intervention assessment. There was a non-significant increase in parental Perceived Responsibility (t(13) = .-.71, p = .49), Restraint (t(13) = .-.48, p = .64), and Monitoring (t(13) = .-1.22, p = .24), from baseline to post-intervention assessment.

Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire: There was a non-significant decrease in Authoritative Parenting (t(13) = .84, p = .42) and the subscales comprising its make-up, including Connection (t(13) = .54, p = .60), Regulation (t(13) = .31, p = .76), and Autonomy Granting (t(13) = .93, p = .37), from baseline to post-group assessment. There was a significant decrease in Authoritarian Parenting (t(13) = 2.73, p = .02) from baseline to post-group assessment. Of the subscales that comprise this factor, a significant decrease from baseline to post-group assessment was observed on the Physical Coercion (t(13) = 2.24, p = .04) and the Non-Reasoning/Punitive (t(13) = 3.12, p = .01) subscales. A non-significant decrease was observed on the Verbal Hostility subscale (t(13) = 1.45, p = .17). On the Permissive Parenting scale, a significant decrease was observed from baseline to post-group assessment (t(13) = 2.42, p = .03).

Measures of Children's Eating Behaviors

Data relevant to the present study (e.g., fruit/vegetable intake, intake of sugary beverages, etc.), were examined. There was a significant decrease in the average daily total kilocalories consumed from baseline to post-intervention (t(12) = 2.32, p = .04). There was a non-significant decrease in the total kilocalories from sugary beverages (t(12) = 1.73, p = .11). There was also a trend toward a significant decrease in the estimated sugar (tsp.) consumed from foods with added sugars (e.g., sodas, cakes, cookies, sweetened cereals), (t(12) = 2.07, p = .06). Saturated fat decreased nonsignificantly from baseline to post-intervention (t(12) = 1.38, p = .19). However, upon reexamination of this variable, it was evident that one outlier was significantly impacting the result. When the analysis was re-run without the outlier, the decrease in saturated fat became significant (t(11) = 2.28, p = .04). Change in fruit (t(12) = .05, p = .96) and vegetable (t(12) = .90, p = .39) consumption was non-significant from baseline to postintervention. There was also a non-significant decrease in the consumption of whole grain products (t(12) = 1.37, p = .20) and dietary fiber (t(12) = 1.13, p = .28) from baseline to post-intervention.

Children's Eating Behaviour Questionnaire: There was a significant decrease in Food Fussiness ($t(13) = 4.59 \ p = .001$) from baseline to post-intervention. A nonsignificant increase was observed on Emotional Overeating (t(13) = -.44., p = .67). A non-significant decrease was observed on Desire to Drink (t(13) = 1.64, p = .12), Satiety Responsiveness (t(13) = 1.43., p = .18), Slowness in Eating (t(13) = .71., p = .49), and Enjoyment of Food (t(13) = .18, p = .86). Change in Food Responsiveness (t(13) = .00, p = 1.00) from baseline to follow-up was non-significant.

Measures of Child Problem Behaviors

Lifestyle Behavior Checklist Problem Scale: A significant decrease was observed from baseline to post-intervention assessment (t(11) = 2.98, p = .01).

Child Behavior Checklist: There was a trend toward a significant decrease in Total Problem Behaviors from baseline to post-intervention assessment (t(12) = 2.07, p = .06). A non-significant decrease was observed on the Internalizing Problem Behaviors (t(12) = 1.41, p = .18) and Externalizing Problem Behaviors (t(12) = 1.48, p = .16) subscales.

CHAPTER 4: Discussion

With the high rate of obesity observed in the United States (218), obesity prevention, particularly among young children (228) and minority populations has become a research priority. The purpose of this study was to investigate the feasibility and acceptability of a parent-only group-based intervention for the prevention of excessive weight gain in young children. Given the challenges unique to parenting an overweight child (327), the intervention provided parents with traditional behavioral weight loss strategies, while also teaching emotion regulation and parenting skills (e.g. stress reduction, behavior modification, problem-solving), to instill parental confidence in making healthy lifestyle changes. Measures of feasibility and acceptability were administered following the intervention. In addition, prevalence of child weight maintenance from baseline to post-group follow-up was compared to that of a standard of care control group. To provide initial indications of change mechanisms, trends in parentreported parent and child behavior change from baseline to post-group follow-up were

examined. Participants were healthy overweight and obese ($\geq 85^{th}$ percentile for age and sex) African American boys and girls between the ages of 2-6 years and their caregivers.

Parent Perception of Child Weight

Before beginning the intervention, parents completed a baseline questionnaire assessing their perception of their child's weight and health. A review of the literature on this topic indicates that parental misperception of childhood overweight is common, and most profound among parents of children ages 2-6 years (230). Although the majority of youth investigated in this study were obese ($\geq 95^{\text{th}}$ percentile for age and sex, n = 16), only 5% of parents (n = 1) classified their child as "very overweight." However, 55% (n = 11) of parents classified their child as "overweight" at the baseline examination, suggesting that the majority of parents (60%) recognized that their child's weight was above average. Only 40% (n = 8) of parents misperceived their child's weight as, "just right." These findings indicate that parents in the present study were somewhat more accurate in characterizing their child's overweight status, relevant to a review of this literature, which showed that in the majority of studies, less than 50% of parents were able to identify when their child's weight is a problem. In fact, some studies have found that as few as 6% of parents recognize when their child is overweight or obese (275; 278).

Although a significant portion of this sample categorized their child's weight as "just right," the majority of participants expressed concern about their child's current (80%) and future (75%) health. One possible explanation for these findings is that our sample's improved awareness and concern with intervention is due to selection bias, as these parents self-selected to participate in an obesity prevention intervention.

Alternatively, research cites the importance of practitioner feedback to parents to improve parent awareness of children's future health problems related to weight, with a particular focus on health risks associated with obesity (248). In fact, in a study of primarily African American parents of preschoolers, parents considered their child's pediatrician to be the most valued advisor on their child's weight, and lack of information from the pediatrician regarding child weight was most strongly associated with parent misclassification of child overweight status (157). Notably, in the present study, nearly all participants (90%) reported that their health care provider had discussed their child's weight status and expressed concern regarding their child's current and future health, which may have accounted for increased awareness on the part of these research participants. The majority of participants (70%) also reported attempting to take action to reduce their child's weight, further suggesting that parents may have at least tried to act on their practitioner's feedback. Anecdotally, most parents approached to participate in the study were interested in participation, further indicating that this population of urban, low-SES, African American parents was receptive to intervention offered within a healthcare setting. Together, these data suggest that efforts from health care providers to improve obesity awareness may serve to effectively activate parents who may otherwise be unaware of weight and eating issues in their young children.

Aim 1: Feasibility and Acceptability

Feasibility and Acceptability

Session Attendance

In terms of attendance, of those who attended at least one session (n = 17), 82% (n = 14) attended four or more ($\geq 50\%$) of the sessions. This attendance rate is similar to

other weight-related interventions completed with either families or parents-only (248), suggesting that parent interest for this study was on par with studies previously conducted across various populations and settings.

Only a few studies to date examining weight-loss interventions among African American youth have reported the frequency of session attendance. In a study conducted with African American mothers and daughters in inner city Chicago, attendance was slightly lower than that found in the present study, with 75% of participants attending \geq 50% of sessions (275). In an intervention study administered to 8-10 year-old African American girls from primarily low to middle income families at their elementary school in the afternoon, attendance rate was slightly higher than this study, with \geq 50% of sessions attended by 87.5% of participants (278). The fact that the intervention in the latter study was implemented at the girls' elementary school after school hours may explain the slightly higher attendance rate. Notably, in the present study, of those participants who attended at least one group meeting (n = 17) only two (12 %) did not complete the follow-up appointment.

Participant attrition in studies conducted in community settings has been a longstanding problem identified in this type of research (288; 340). Compared to previous literature, attrition from baseline to follow-up for the present study is comparable (182; 275). Although attendance and attrition rates were akin to analogous studies, the fact that most parents only attended half of the sessions highlights the need for continued evaluation of issues related to care-seeking and intervention retention among low-income individuals of racial and ethnic minority. As discussed previously, research investigating barriers to minority participation in research highlights a number of factors, including

accessibility, overly-complicated study procedures, transportation and child care, lack of time, poor communication by researchers, and lack of interest in preventative care, among others, that prevent research participation (93). We sought to decrease these barriers by holding the study within a community center easily accessible to most participants, by providing childcare, and by prioritizing communication with participants between group meetings (e.g., multiple reminder phone calls). Of note, although the present study was conducted within the community setting and therefore relatively convenient for most participants, it was not held at a location that participants visited as part of their daily routine, such as a school, church, or daycare, and in which existing peer relationships were present. Attendance may have been improved if the intervention were held within this type of setting, particularly given the salience of social support in community-based research (182).

Notably, the Affordable Care Act (1), passed in 2010, may provide a gateway for improvement of access to preventative health care to underserved populations, such as individuals from low-income communities (183). More specifically, this act has a strong focus on improving and disseminating preventative healthcare, with major sections of the bill targeting preventative care at the individual, industrial, community, state, and national level. Of particular relevance to the population investigated in the present study, required funding for free prevention care is targeted on the individual level. On the community/state level, the Act provides state funding for incentives to individuals on Medicaid who adopt and maintain a healthy lifestyle, for improving community healthcare via affording training of community staff for service delivery, and on the national level, for campaigns targeting public awareness of health issues, among others.

To summarize, this Act proposes multiple ways to fund and target many of the issues previously discussed that are identified barriers to prevention-seeking within the African American community (31; 132). As community-based research continues to develop, it will be important to prioritize understanding and limiting barriers to poor attendance and retention, in order to optimize the validity of research results, as well as improve access to intervention.

Feasibility and Acceptability Questionnaire

Similar to other weight-loss or obesity prevention studies targeting parents (128; 182; 261), in the present study, participants generally reported finding the program to be helpful and likable. Although all participants indicated that they would recommend the program to a friend, two participants (13%) reported that the intervention would be "a little likely" to have a negative impact on other parents. Unfortunately, these parents did not provide more information regarding their answer. One potential explanation for this report is that parents were aware that some individuals within their community would not be receptive to recommendations provided through the intervention, potentially related to changing parenting and feeding styles. Alternatively, these parents may have misunderstood the question, and accordingly, their responses would not reflect their true feelings about the nature of the program.

Skills Questionnaire

Based on the mean percentage correct on the skills questionnaire (94%), parents also retained the majority of the information presented during the eight weekly sessions. Anecdotally, parents reported that the program was effective in, "helping us add in more fruits and vegetables," "showing me how to delegate and schedule down time," and

"dealing with (child's behavior)," among others topics. Indeed, although parent reports of confidence improved insignificantly over the course of the intervention, significant improvements were seen from pre- to post-intervention on measures of child nutritional intake and general- and weight-related behavior, suggesting that parents were effective in implementing family-based change and behavioral management strategies taught during the group program.

Qualitative Impressions, Considerations, and Future Directions

Notably, parents appeared to have different strengths and weaknesses within the various aspects covered in the group program. For example, some parents were less knowledgeable regarding food preparation and nutrition, while other parents had difficulty modeling a healthy lifestyle by setting appropriate limits for taking regularly scheduled daily downtime. A trend was observed, whereby during the "check-in" phase of the meetings, parents were able to offer advice to other parents in the areas in which they considered strengths, and in turn, receive advice to improve areas of weakness. Although no measure of social support was administered, a relationship clearly formed between members of the group, which may have contributed to the acceptability of the intervention and relatively high attendance rate. Indeed, social support has been indicated as a key positive factor in other studies of this nature (182), and it appeared to be an important variable in the process of conducting the present intervention groups, as well.

In summary, based on both the objective measure, namely session attendance, as well as the subjective measures, including the skills-based self-report questionnaire, the feasibility/acceptability questionnaire, and anecdotal observation from the group intervention, the primary hypothesis for the study was supported. Group Parent-Training

for Obesity appears to be well-liked and feasible for lower SES African American parents.

Interventionist Considerations and Impressions

When GPT-O was previously conducted, the characteristics of the study differed from the present study. Notably, in contrast to the present study, parents recruited were of mixed racial and socio-economic status, came from various surrounding counties, and were able to facilitate their own transport to weekly group meetings at the medical center. Further, the director of the clinic, who had a strong presence within the clinic and was familiar with the setting and staff, was implementing the intervention and hence facilitating completion of all aspects of the study protocol. Therefore, one final consideration regarding feasibility and acceptability for the present study involves the characteristics of the research team and their impressions regarding recruitment, assessment, and implementation of this intervention with African American parents within a community research setting. Ms. Elliott conducted all recruitment and assessment procedures and was also the primary leader for all three cohorts. She was assisted by an African American female and male clinical psychology graduate student during cohorts one and two, respectively.

Recruitment initially was a challenge, given instruction from the administrative team at THEARC for Ms. Elliott to wait in an office to be contacted by practitioners with the name and phone number of potential participants. Given slow recruitment with this process, Ms. Elliott suggested that she become more active in the recruitment process, via sitting in the doctors lounge in the clinic and speaking to interested participants during their clinic visit, following referral from their provider. Using this method Ms. Elliott was

able to remind practitioners to refer appropriate patients, which greatly facilitated the referral process for making the initial contact with potential participants. An important lesson learned from this experience was that effective recruitment is a very active process, requiring much time and effort on the part of the research team.

Although most parents expressed interest in the study when speaking to Ms. Elliott during the clinic visit, the baseline assessment process proved difficult, particularly given unpredictable no-shows. Although Ms. Elliott made several reminder phone calls prior to and on the day of the baseline assessment, potential participants often did not show for the baseline assessment, even after confirming the time and date during the reminder phone call. Following this experience, to account for anticipated no-shows, Ms. Elliott often scheduled multiple screenings on the same day, when possible. Notably, as one might expect, potential participants who attended the baseline assessment in a timely manner generally had good attendance during the intervention and attended follow-up assessments. An additional issue during the assessment phase of the project was the volume of questionnaires administered to participants. In planning the project, it seemed important to administer questionnaires assessing potential change mechanisms (e.g., parenting and child factors), and efforts were made to select questionnaires that were validated for use with low-income and/or African American individuals. However, in reality, the volume of questionnaires was often perceived as overwhelming to participants, burdensome due to the time needed to complete them, and a challenge for those with limited reading skill. In future iterations of this project, it will be important to select key questions from various questionnaires, or to select shorter questionnaires, to reduce participant burden and potentially improve the accuracy of data collected.

An additional challenge throughout the recruitment and intervention process revolved around having adequate support within THEARC. To begin, Ms. Elliott's primary point of contact at THEARC was often out of the office and unable to provide guidance and support. Ms. Elliott strove to make relationships with other providers within the research setting, which proved critical to successfully implementing the study. More specifically, cooperation and assistance from staff members at THEARC was essential to having the space necessary for assessment and intervention procedures. Although administrative staff and main medical providers (e.g., physicians and nurse assistants) were very helpful, there were times when Ms. Elliott was limited in that she could not meet with a family for recruitment while completing a screening and follow-up visit concurrently. This experience suggests that in this type of setting, an integrative team approach, with multiple individuals available and willing to complete study procedures, would facilitate study implementation.

Within the intervention part of the process, two important themes emerged. First, when working with this population, great flexibility is required on the part of the interventionist. More specifically, given participant circumstances (e.g., bus running late, had to work an extra shift, etc.), participants were often late to group meetings. To compensate for lateness, Ms. Elliott took the first half-hour of the group meetings to 1) obtain updates from present participants' weeks and 2) demonstrate preparing a healthy snack (versus having it prepared in advance). For the second hour, information from prior sessions was reviewed and new material was introduced. This system facilitated efficient use of session time as well as effective discussion of core aspects of the program. Further, during group meetings, participants occasionally raised issues

relevant to their circumstances (e.g., raising a child in a homeless shelter) or family situations (e.g., grandmother present within the home) that required slight deviation from the material within the *H.O.U.S.E.* manual. Allowing time to discuss these issues seemed important to maintaining rapport with participants. Interventionist clinical skill was required to balance allowing time for discussion of such "real-life" issues and introducing required material from the manual, without alienating or offending participants when the topic needed to shift.

This latter issue relates to the second major reflection from the intervention: the personality and skill set of the research team likely had an impact on recruitment and attrition. As noted, factors critical to rapport building within the clinical setting were also applicable in the clinical research setting. Specifically, during the entire duration of the research study, from recruitment to intervention to follow-up assessments, Ms. Elliott prioritized building rapport with participants, by engaging discussion about personal factors (e.g., recreational interests, job experiences, etc.), validating their experience as parents, and engaging with their children. Ms. Elliott also strove to maintain and express an element of curiosity and interest regarding participants' current parenting practices, in order to limit the potential for participants' feeling judged or misunderstood. Notably, there was initial concern regarding the rapport-building process as Ms. Elliott is a Caucasian female from the south, who might potentially be viewed as an "outsider" within the community setting. Based on experience from conducting the study, participants easily overlooked any potential racial and/or socioeconomic barriers, and following establishment of basic rapport, were more interested in having an expert opinion regarding lifestyle and parenting change, versus attaining the opinion of someone

of their own race. For example, even when African American first-year student co-leaders were present during group meetings, participants tended to engage more with Ms. Elliott, who was their primary contact for the study, spent the most time with participants, and was likely viewed as having the most experience with obesity and parenting intervention. Notably, in a recent focus group study investigating ways to adapt group-based interpersonal psychotherapy for African Americans, parents interviewed indicated that they would be more likely to want to work with an individual outside of their community, given confidentiality issues (46).

In summary, qualitative experiences from implementing this project in a community versus academic/research setting resulted in several key conclusions. To being, having support within the community setting is critical for successfully implementing this type of intervention. Attaining this support requires willingness on the part of the investigator to engage and develop relationships with other providers and staff within the community setting. A similar outlook also seems to be required for successfully recruiting and maintaining participants. Overall, work within the community sphere requires great persistence, patience, flexibility, and commitment.

Aim 2: Child Weight Maintenance

In order to preliminarily examine the main outcome of the intervention, child BMI loss or maintenance was examined from pre- to post-intervention and compared to BMI loss or maintenance for a standard of care control group. We anticipated that more youth in the intervention group would maintain or lose weight, compared to the control group. However, in the present study, no difference was observed between the intervention and standard of care control groups with respect to child expected or actual BMI maintenance or loss.

Previous intervention research with overweight and obese preschool-aged youth is mixed with most (175; 230), but not all (82), studies finding a significant difference between intervention and control groups from baseline to follow-up visits. Two studies of similar nature to the present study have been conducted. In a primary care-based intervention targeting parents of preschoolers, a significant difference in weight loss was observed between intervention and control groups at three months post-intervention (230). Notably, participants in this study were primarily Caucasian parents and their children from both suburban and urban areas. In a study of similar nature conducted with parents of overweight and obese preschoolers in The Netherlands, intervention youth showed improvement in measures of weight compared to the control group at a four month follow-up visit (32). Similarly, Jouret et al. conducted an intervention with parents and teachers of kindergarten students, focusing on increasing awareness of obesity and health correlates, and encouraging healthy eating and physical activity. Intervention youth in underprivileged areas gained significantly less weight than non-intervention youth. However, in this study, the follow-up period occurred at two years, which is much longer than the follow-up period for the current investigation. Fitzgibbon et al. conducted an intervention within the preschool setting targeting improved nutrition and physical activity with low-income primarily African American overweight and non-overweight preschoolers. Parents received supportive information via mail. Similar to the present study, follow-up data indicated no significant improvement relative to the control group

following the intervention lasting just over three months. However, significant group differences in BMI emerged at 1-year and 2-year follow-up assessments (124).

There are several potential explanations for the lack of between-group results related to child weight outcome for the present study. To begin, the follow-up time point assessed in the study may not have been long enough to adequately detect any significant changes in youths' weight. In support of this notion, only two studies to date, which were both conducted with a population very different from the present study, have observed significant changes within the follow-up period used for this present study (32; 230). Notably, Fitzgibbon and colleagues did not see significant changes in child weight status until the 1-year follow-up, suggesting that more time may be required to realize the effect of an intervention of this nature. Alternatively, while the weight and height data for the intervention youth were primarily assessed in a deliberate and consistent manner by members of the study team, youth in the control group were assessed by medical staff at the various recruitment locations, who may have been less concerned with taking accurate measurements. Consequently, anthropometric measures for the control group may not have been entirely accurate, and hence comparisons between groups may have been inaccurate. Notably, examining obesity prevention during childhood is challenging, as children's BMI is expected to increase with age and may be particularly variable during certain age points, such as adiposity rebound and adolescence (59; 245). Cole and colleagues identify four distinct ways of measuring pediatric adiposity change, namely BMI, BMI z-score, BMI centile, and BMI percentage. The authors highlight that the primary advantage of BMI is that there is minimal variability in assessment across the weight spectrum, while other methods (e.g., BMI z-score, BMI centile), are less sensitive

to change in the highest and lowest parts of the distribution. In other words a change in BMI for obese children, who are at the higher end of the distribution (≥95th percentile for age and sex), would reflect a smaller z-score change than a BMI change for an average weight child, who would not fall at the highest end of the distribution. The authors do highlight, however, the utility of BMI z-score in research, and further note that the advantage of BMI over BMI z-score is minimal (59). Importantly, the authors fail to comment on the utility of BMI z-score as a measure, over other methods, when the majority of youth are obese and not being compared to non-overweight youth, as was the case in the present study. As previously described, the present study examined obesity prevention via expected BMI change for each intervention and control participant based upon the Center for Disease Control pediatric BMI growth chart data (48) versus the actual change in BMI at post-group and three-month follow-up. This method of measuring obesity prevention is improved relative to examining actual change, in that it accounts for expected weight/BMI gain in growing children.

To summarize, there are a number of methods for examining adiposity change in growing children. Few studies have examined the relative benefits of the various methods, and there is a dearth of literature examining the most appropriate method for assessing obesity prevention. For the present study, examining expected vs. actual BMI change may have been limiting, as data were examined categorically (e.g., did/did not maintain) versus continuously, and may not have accurately reflected the small changes made in this sample of very obese youth during the limited follow-up period of the study. Notably, intervention youth exhibited a small, but statistically significant decrease in BMI z-score from post-group to follow-up assessment. Since all youth were in the

highest range of z-score, all youth should have been somewhat equally affected by previously discussed limitations of BMI z-score, and this change may actually reflect prevention efforts. However, more research, with variant populations of wide age ranges, is needed to determine the most clinically useful and statistically valid method of examining adiposity change for obesity prevention during childhood.

A final potential explanation for the lack of between-group findings related to child weight outcome is that the intervention may not have been effective in maintaining participants' weight with growth. However, given the relatively short follow-up period and small sample size, conclusions from the present data are limited. Indeed, given some of the positive changes observed in the intervention group (see Aim 3), the likelihood that significant findings with respect to child BMI maintenance should emerge with a larger sample size and longer follow-up period is promising.

Aim 3:

In order to examine patterns in the data related to proposed mechanisms of action, general and weight-related parent and child behaviors, as well as parent stress and selfefficacy levels, were examined at baseline and follow-up periods. We anticipated improvement on these measures at the follow-up period.

Parent Self-Efficacy and Perceived Stress

At baseline, parents exhibited general parenting confidence levels similar to previously published normative data. However, parents reported clinically low confidence with respect to handling behavior problems common among overweight youth (e.g., "Argues about food," "Demands extra helpings at meals"). These data are particularly interesting, in light of the fact that the majority of parents (70%) also indicated that they attempted to intervene with respect to their child's weight, yet at baseline still reported clinically significant problems related to managing eating and weight-related behavior. Our findings suggest that the parents investigated in the study felt confident with respect to general parenting abilities, but inadequate with respect to managing the primary "problem behavior" manifested by their child: eating and weightrelated issues. These findings are consistent with the literature in this area, which suggests that parents of overweight children may feel uncertain with respect to how to effectively intervene to make positive changes in their child's problematic lifestyle behaviors (33; 41), which theory (18) and research within other fields (269) suggests may put them at risk for low self-efficacy within this particular parenting role. For the parents in the present study, who were predominately aware and concerned regarding their child's weight status, it is possible that previous failed attempts at weight control, as well as a sense of responsibility regarding their child's weight status, may have resulted in lowered self-efficacy with respect to this particular aspect of the parenting role.

In terms of perceived stress, at baseline, parents reported general stress analogous to previously published norms with African American adults. However, reported parenting stress was elevated relative to previously published normative data. Notably, the population investigated in the present study included predominately low-income families, and a number of mothers were currently out of work and actively seeking employment. One mother was living in a shelter during the course of the intervention. The elevated stress within the parenting role evidenced in this study is consistent with a growing body of literature linking financial and employment difficulties with elevated parental stress (341).

As expected, following the intervention, parents showed greater self-efficacy with respect to their general parenting abilities, as well as with managing child behavioral problems specifically related to eating and weight. Notably, parent confidence in managing problematic child weight-related behaviors following the intervention (M = 234.67) was well above the clinical cut-off (<204). However, these differences did not reach statistical significance. These findings suggest that the intervention may instill a sense of confidence with respect to general parenting, as well as parenting skills needed for weight management.

Parents reported a non-significant reduction in general and parenting-related stress following the intervention. There are several plausible explanations for this finding. Although the intervention encouraged scheduling regular down time and provided suggestions (e.g., take a relaxing bath, deep breathing) for stress management, this portion of the intervention was brief in nature and focused predominately on emotional regulation and stress-management in the context of parenting. As previously noted, a number of parents involved in the study reported major lifestyle stressors that the intervention did not directly target (e.g., job loss, housing difficulties). Consequently, the intervention likely did not have an impact on these issues that require specific intervention and provision of resources. In other words, this intervention did not target the economic strain that many families likely experienced, and that is clearly tied to parent distress (61). In fact, several parents remarked in an open-ended manner that assistance with job opportunities and housing would have been a beneficial component of the intervention.

With respect to parenting stress, as previously noted, this same body of literature links economic hardship and related perceived distress to conflict and stress within the parenting role (61; 166). As such, the intervention may have been ineffective in improving a primary source of parental distress, thus having no associated impact on parent-child conflict. Alternatively, there is some evidence to suggest that reduction in parental distress temporally follows change in child behavior (81), presumably due to the fact that implementing new parenting practices is a stressful endeavor. Perhaps these parents did feel more confident in enacting learned parenting practices that effectively elicit positive child behavioral change (140), but continued to perceive elevated parenting stress as active behavior change was still occurring during the follow-up assessment period.

Parenting Style and Behavior

It was hypothesized that a pattern of change would be observed among general parenting style and eating-related parenting practices. Indeed, significant changes in the expected direction were observed. At baseline, parents reported a predominately authoritative style (e.g., responsive, comforting, praises positive behavior), with additional characteristics of authoritarian (e.g., physical punishment, yelling) and permissive (e.g., gives in to child, gives punishment with no follow-through) approaches. These data are consistent with previously documented parenting styles of low-income African American parents of young children, which suggest that parents maintain warm and positive parenting, mixed with aspects of authoritarian and permissive parenting (160; 203).

With respect to feeding practices, at baseline, parents' scores were descriptively higher than original normative data (26) across all subscales (Perceived Responsibility, Concern about Child Weight, Restriction, Pressure to Eat, and Monitoring), but descriptively similar to a sample of African American parents of average and overweight children (11). Consistent with their baseline report on the multiple-choice questionnaire regarding child weight perception, on the feeding-related questionnaire, parents reported feeling responsible and concerned regarding their child's weight status. Parents further reported elevated levels of restriction and monitoring relative to the original normative sample, suggesting heightened control over child eating behavior. While parent control of child food intake has been cross-sectionally linked to pediatric overweight (112), longitudinal data are sparse, and it remains unclear whether controlling parenting practices contribute to pediatric overweight, or develop as parental attempts to prevent further child excessive weight gain (315). Notably, at baseline, parents also exhibited elevated Pressure to Eat relative to the normative sample, which is characterized by encouragement to eat all of the food on one's plate during a meal time. One possible explanation for this finding is that these elevations captured parents' pressure to eat healthier foods, such as fruits and vegetables. Alternatively, parents may have been encouraging their children to eat food presented at meal times, in hopes of preventing requests for and intake of unhealthy foods outside of meal times.

As hypothesized, following the intervention, parents maintained general authoritative practices, but decreased significantly with respect to authoritarian and permissive parenting practices. Notably, research has cross-sectionally linked permissive and authoritarian parenting styles to child overweight (315), and one study supported this relationship longitudinally (239). In theory, authoritative parenting, which is warm and responsive to children's needs within the child feeding context supports the development of self-regulation of food intake, whereas an authoritarian style may foster dependence on external cues of hunger and satiety (e.g., "Clean your plate.") (238). In the present study, aspects of authoritative parenting were a key focus of the intervention in terms of general parenting (e.g., maintain a schedule, consistency with discipline, firm but supportive), as well as with feeding (e.g., present choices, encourage and praise trying new, healthier foods). These findings suggest that instruction in authoritative management of children's general and eating-related behavior, as well as implementation of behavior management techniques, may have successfully reduced use of authoritarian and permissive parenting styles.

In terms of parenting practices related to feeding, following the intervention, a significant decrease was observed on the Pressure to Eat and Concern about Child Weight subscales. All remaining subscales (Perceived Responsibility, Monitoring, Restriction), remained unchanged. Given the relatively high scores on these latter scales reported at baseline, it is not surprising that there were no changes following the intervention phase of the present study, as the intervention targeted parents, hence focusing on their responsibility in effecting change, monitoring children's eating behaviors, and limiting children's access to high fat, high sugar foods. With respect to Pressure to Eat, this change is in the expected direction, and suggests that parents were able to implement a key message from the intervention, which involved using an authoritative feeding style, by providing children with a variety of healthy foods and allowing them to select their choices, within reason (223). It was unexpected that parents

would report lower scores on the Concern about Child Weight scale following the intervention. However, parents reported greater confidence with respect to handling children's weight-related problem behaviors, albeit non-significantly, and improved general parenting practices following the intervention. It is possible that this significant decrease on the Concern about Child Weight scale provides further support that parents felt more self-efficacious, and therefore less concerned, with making changes related to their child's lifestyle, following the intervention.

Child Behavior

At baseline, children's mean general problem behavior was within the normative range. This was not unexpected, as youth were screened for emotional and behavioral problems at the baseline assessment. However, anecdotally, parents reported a number of common non-clinical child behavioral problems at the beginning of the intervention, such as talking disrespectfully to parents, arguing when the parent attempts to set a limit, and throwing temper tantrums, among others. In terms of problems common to overweight youth (e.g., "Argues about food," "Demands extra helpings at meals"), at baseline, mean parental report of children's problems was within the clinically significant range. Notably, child behavior data mirror baseline parental self-efficacy data, in which parents had scores similar to normative data with respect to general parenting (as children similarly had general problem behaviors within normal limits), but exhibited clinically low self-confidence with respect to issues specific to parenting an overweight child (as children similarly had significant problems related to eating and weight issues).

Following the intervention, as expected, a trend toward decreased total child general problem behaviors was observed. In addition, also as hypothesized, child problem behaviors specific to issues related to eating and weight declined significantly, to a level below the clinical range (< 50). These findings generally suggest that behavioral management techniques taught during the intervention were successful in helping parents alter their parenting behaviors in a manner that facilitated improvement in both overall and weight-related child problem behaviors. These data are consistent with a longstanding literature suggesting that behavioral parent training is effective in improving general, as well as weight-related behavioral problems (140).

With respect to child eating behavior, at baseline, children's scores on a measure of eating behaviors were elevated relative to the normative sample on the Desire to Drink subscale, which assesses children's requests for and frequency of drinking, and on the Food Responsiveness subscale, which assesses eating in response to external food cues (e.g., "If able, my child would always have food in his/her mouth") and eating in the absence of hunger (e.g., "Even if my child is full up, he/she finds room for their favorite food"). All other subscales (Emotional Overeating, Enjoyment of Food, Satiety Responsiveness, Slowness of Eating, and Food Fussiness) were similar to the original normative data.

The elevation on Food Responsiveness is in line with a growing body of literature linking eating in the absence of hunger and in response to external cues (e.g., sight, smell of food) to pediatric overweight and obesity (109; 120). Data suggest that while very young children are able to self-regulate their energy intake, as they mature, their eating behaviors become increasingly susceptible to environmental influences (243; 294). In theory, youth who are most susceptible to environmental influences, such as increased portion sizes and easy access to the high fat, high calorie-dense foods seen over the past

several decades (211; 212) may be more prone to overeating and subsequent weight gain (119). Indeed, while all children consume more when presented with larger portion sizes (119; 122; 243), there is evidence that overweight youth are more likely to eat in response to environmental cues (43) and consume significantly more than non-overweight youth *ad libitum* (110).

Similarly, Desire to Drink has been cross-sectionally associated with adiposity in prior studies (155; 325), although the mechanisms behind this relationship remain unclear. Potential suggested mechanisms include increased thirst secondary to heightened salt intake, or alternatively, greater enjoyment of sweetened beverages (325). Irrespective of the mechanism, the relationship between intake of sugar sweetened beverages and obesity across the age span is well-recognized (198), and highlights the importance of this factor in intervention efforts.

Following the intervention, we expected to see a reduction on subscales associated with overeating or eating difficulties, including Food Responsiveness, Emotional Overeating, Enjoyment of Food, and Food Fussiness, and an increase in subscales associated with regulation, including Satiety Responsiveness and Slowness of Eating. The only significant finding was on the Food Fussiness scale, which decreased significantly following the intervention. A non-significant decrease was observed on the Desire to Drink subscale, which was in the expected direction. However, a nonsignificant decrease was also observed on the Satiety Responsiveness and Slowness of Eating subscales, which was not in the expected direction. Enjoyment of Food and Food Responsiveness were unchanged from baseline to post-intervention.

Historically, Food Fussiness, which measures child resistance to trying new foods and eating a limited variety of foods, has traditionally been associated with under-eating (321), but there is evidence for a relationship with obesity both cross-sectionally (69) and prospectively (5). Agras and colleagues propose that, in response to tantrums related to food, some parents may feed their children to reduce fussiness, rather than using alternative behavioral strategies, hence contributing to weight gain over time (5). Anecdotally, in the sample investigated in the present study, multiple parents commented that their children were eager to eat foods rich in carbohydrate and fat, but would complain when given healthier options, such as fruits or vegetables, or refuse to eat certain foods during meal times. Parents reported child behavioral problems (e.g., arguing, refusal) when encouraging healthier options. Notably, during the intervention, parents were instructed on authoritative parenting practices and behavioral management skills to encourage children's acceptance of new, healthy foods. Techniques taught are thought to be reflective of an authoritative parenting style in the context of feeding, and involved modeling eating healthy foods and praising kids for tasting new foods, rather than forcing children to eat healthier options. As previously discussed, following the intervention, parents reported using significantly less pressure to eat, which has been associated with children's picky eating (315). In this context, the decrease in child food fussiness post-intervention may represent the positive impact of improved parenting strategies (less pressure to eat, more modeling) on children's eating behaviors.

On the Desire to Drink subscale, a non-significant decrease was observed postintervention. A number of parents remarked at the beginning of the intervention that their child asked for drinks often throughout the day. Parents were encouraged to use

behavioral management strategies (e.g., active ignoring, clear establishment of rules), to decrease this unwanted behavior. Again, it is anticipated that the decrease in Desire to Drink may reflect effective implementation of parenting strategies.

There were not however, any significant findings on other child eating subscales, including Food Responsiveness, Emotional Overeating, Enjoyment of Food, Satiety Responsiveness, and Slowness of Eating. There is a strong genetic foundation for these traits (252), as well as evidence to suggest stability over time (119). Extant literature documents increased prevalence of these factors among overweight and obese youth as young as three years of age, which is thought to put youth at risk for continued weight gain within an obesogenic environment (43; 69). Although genetic underpinnings seem to drive these traits, environmental components are thought to also be at play, and much research has focused on the relationship between pediatric eating behaviors and parental "controlling" feeding practices.

In theory, controlling children's intake, via restriction of children's intake and pressure to eat, results in decreased child self-regulation of intake. However, as previously discussed, much of this support is cross-sectional and mixed, lending no clarification to the directionality of these relationships (315), and further suggesting that our understanding of the impact of parent feeding practices on obesity-prone appetitive traits remains questionable. Indeed, the issue of parental restriction offers a quandary: In an environment rich with high-calorie foods, is it advisable for a parent of an overweight child to *not* limit their child's intake of unhealthy food options, particularly with children who exhibit eating behaviors thought to promote obesity? Sud and colleagues suggest that parenting style may moderate this relationship, whereby restrictive feeding practices

used in the context of an emotionally nurturing home environment, reflective of an authoritative parenting style, may be associated with positive outcomes for child eating behavior. In contrast, restrictive practices accompanied by a cold, authoritarian style may lead to disinhibition (287). While no studies to date have examined parents as agents of change with children's eating regulation, interventions targeting parent modeling have shown positive impact on children's nutritional intake (23; 225; 309), and there is some evidence to suggest that preschoolers can be taught to improve regulation of their hunger and satiety (25; 173). Unfortunately, due to either the small sample size investigated in the present study, the limited follow-up period, or alternatively lack of true change, no statistically significant changes on primary measures of obesogenic eating traits (e.g., Food Responsiveness, Slowness in Eating) were observed from baseline to postintervention. This highlights the need for future research further examining response of these traits to intervention, as well as potential ways parents can be effectively targeted in intervention efforts.

Child Dietary Intake

Our results indicated that at baseline children's total dietary intake was under the normative amount for children in early childhood. This finding is not surprising. Although food frequency questionnaires are meant to serve as a proxy of normative patterns of food intake (137; 260), data suggest that mothers are more likely to underestimate, versus overestimate, their child's dietary intake (260; 294). Further, research examining report of intake with adults (171; 194) and children assisted by their parents (51; 121) indicates that overweight and obese individuals are more likely to underreport their intake compared to non-overweight individuals. As the majority of

youth in the intervention were obese, it seems likely that baseline data represent underreporting by parents, either due to difficulty with recall, or to the social implications of having an obese child.

Therefore, data from the present study will be interpreted with caution. Intake of healthy foods, including fruits, vegetables, and fiber did not change significantly from baseline to post-intervention. Prior studies of this nature with preschoolers have been mixed, with some (150), but not all (124) studies finding an effect of the intervention on healthy food intake. Notably, in the present study, total dietary intake did decline significantly, suggesting some positive change in overall dietary patterns. Notably, children's saturated fat intake reduced significantly from baseline to post-intervention, and trends were observed on overall intake of added sugar and sugary beverages, suggesting that children's intake of high calorie, low nutrient-rich foods and drinks declined over the course of the intervention.

Intake of sugar and sugar-sweetened beverages has risen in recent years, particularly among low SES youth of ethnic and racial minority (87; 318). Research in this area has primarily focused on the contribution of added sugars through consumption of sugary beverages, such as soft drinks, sports drinks, punch, and juice. As previously discussed, an association between intake of sugar sweetened beverages and obesity across the age span is well-recognized (198) and has been specifically linked to weight gain and obesity risk among preschool-aged children prospectively (88; 193). Notably, a review of the literature found that intake of sugar-sweetened beverages is the one dietary factor that has been consistently linked to child BMI prospectively (208). Further, there is evidence to suggest that targeting intake of sugar sweetened beverages is an effective obesity prevention strategy in school-aged children (167). In summary, findings from the present study suggest that low-income, African American parents can effectively modify their child's intake of unhealthy foods that contribute to intake of sugar and saturated fat. Further data are needed to investigate the impact of reducing intake from sugar sweetened beverages among preschool-aged youth on weight outcome with age.

Summary: Evaluation of the Proposed Model

Although the sample size for the present study was inadequate to examine a meditational model, results may provide a preliminary assessment of the proposed model driving the parenting intervention investigated in the present study. According to the underlying theoretical model, parental self-efficacy was targeted in family-based behavioral change, via improved parenting skills and stress management. Parental changes were anticipated to positively impact child general and eating-related behaviors, and in turn, improve children's lifestyles. As anticipated, parents reported significantly improved parenting practices following the intervention, as well as improved child behavior. Improvement in child weight-related problem behaviors was both statistically and clinically significant. In addition, child eating behavior improved significantly with respect to overall caloric intake, intake of sugar and sugar-sweetened beverages, and level of parent-reported fussiness while eating. Notably, following the intervention, parents were more self-efficacious in terms of both general and weight/eating-related parenting, although this finding did not reach statistical significance. Parents also reported less general stress following the intervention, although this finding was also non-significant. These overall findings are consistent with prior research that has supported targeting parental self-efficacy as a first step in effecting overall child behavioral change (174).

However, we did not see any significant changes related to child weight when compared to a standard-of-care control group. Notably, the present study did not assess long-term child weight outcome, which may have prevented observation of an effect.

Importantly, this is the first known study of this type to specifically examine parental self-efficacy with respect to managing pediatric overweight among African American families in a community setting. In terms of feasibility and acceptability, session attendance was adequate, and parents reported enjoying the program and finding it helpful. Although the analyses were predominantly underpowered, these findings provide preliminary evidence to suggest partial effectiveness of the intervention with respect to parent self-efficacy, as well as targeted parent and child behaviors. Educating parents with key knowledge specific to weight management, accompanied by components of behavioral parent training, may effectively increase parent confidence in making and sustaining healthy changes, thus positively impacting their child's lifestyle.

Potential Limitations

As the present investigation was a feasibility study, the primary limitation was the relatively small sample size. To adequately explore mechanisms of change and child weight outcome, a larger sample size is required to achieve adequate power. Nevertheless, collecting feasibility data is a required initial step in developing and assessing the utility of a novel intervention (247), as well as determining effect sizes upon which to base the sample size for an adequately powered trial. In the present study, Type I error was set to 5%. Across all comparisons, it is anticipated that the overall Type I error would be greater than 5%. However, given that the results were generally in the expected direction across psychological indices, it can somewhat be concluded with
confidence that significant findings observed were an effect of the intervention, rather than of error. As the intervention proved feasible and acceptable to participants, and also potentially had positive changes on mechanisms thought to improve child weight trajectory, our data provide initial evidence that a larger trial examining the efficacy of the intervention on obesity prevention is warranted.

An additional limitation was that all elements of the study procedure, including administration of assessment questionnaires and implementation of the group program, were completed by Ms. Elliott. Therefore, participants' responses to assessment questionnaires may have been affected by their relationship with Ms. Elliott.

A third limitation was the methodology employed for the control group. Since the control group was derived from electronic medical record data from Children's National Medical Center, there was no control comparison on psychological and behavioral assessments, thus limiting the implications of our findings. Further, the weights and heights of children in the control group were collected somewhat differently compared to youth in the intervention group. As previously described, weights and heights of intervention youth were primarily collected by members of the study team, using multiple measures for both height and weight, with equipment at THEARC. Anthropometric data for youth in the control group were collected by nurses at the clinics from which participants were recruited, during healthy and sick-child visits. Notably, during these visits, nurses take height and weight measurements quickly and only once, which may have resulted in less than accurate assessment.

An additional methodological limitation was our lack of follow-up period. As previously noted, the primary outcome of the present study was feasibility, and therefore

99

a long follow-up period was not included in the study design. Although some significant changes were observed with respect to parent and child behaviors, the impact on child weight was inconclusive. Previous studies of this nature are limited, and within the small literature, mixed with some, but not all studies evidencing a positive effect of the intervention studied on child weight outcome at the post-intervention assessment. Therefore, lack of follow-up data limit the ability to make any initial conclusions regarding the effect of this intervention on the main outcome variable: child BMI maintenance.

A fifth potential limitation is the proposed sample demographic. As participants were recruited from an urban, underprivileged, predominately African American area, acceptability and feasibility of the proposed study may not generalize to individuals of other race/ethnicity or social classes. However, while the proposed sample will not be representative of the US demographic as a whole, underprivileged and minority populations show a disproportionate risk for obesity relative to Caucasian individuals (125; 317). Further, this demographic is understudied, in terms of obesity prevention and intervention, and is thus in dire need of research developing novel and effective interventions. Therefore, an African American, low-SES population was specifically selected for study in the present investigation, with the hope that results may better inform future development of treatment interventions among this underserved and very important population.

A final limitation was the lack of assessment of parent BMI and sociodemographic data. Since the main aim of the present study was feasibility, and small sample size prevented examination of meditational and moderating factors, specifics of

100

parent BMI, SES, work status, relationship status, and age were not collected. While these factors were discussed during group meetings, they were not systematically collected during the baseline assessment. Notably, the area from which participants were recruited is a predominately low-income urban area. However, there was likely some variability with respect to parent age, income, and relationship status that may have impacted factors specifically targeted during the intervention, such as parent stress and child eating behaviors. Further, as the goal of the intervention is to effect family-based change, it would be expected that parents would also maintain or lose weight. Given the well-known correlation between children and parents' BMI, as well as links between parent weight loss and child weight loss (338), examining these relationships would be important for future evaluation of the intervention investigated in the present study.

Future Directions

Suggested Modifications to G-PTO

As one of the primary purposes of a feasibility study is to determine the feasibility of the intervention itself, there are several potential modifications that should be discussed.

To begin, in the comments section of the feasibility and acceptability form, several parents commented that they would have preferred that the intervention include more sessions. Indeed, although all of the intervention content was discussed within the eight-week intervention period, termination seemed rather abrupt. During the threemonth follow-up, parents often provided Ms. Elliott with a general update of progress, or asked follow-up questions related to challenges that presented following the intervention period. Based on parent feedback, as well as experience gleaned from this pilot trial, it could potentially be beneficial to include 3-4 individual meetings following the group intervention, perhaps every other month, to continue reiterating the primary points of the group program, and to provide parents with support as they are continuing to make household changes. Indeed, there is some evidence to suggest that adding maintenance sessions improves treatment outcome (330). Additionally, during a full-scale trial, maintenance visits might offer the additional benefit of improving follow-up visit attrition rates.

An additional potential area for improvement would be to involve, "real time" parent-training in the intervention. Although parents were generally attentive during group meetings and reported trying different parenting skills and feeding practices within the home environment, Ms. Elliott had a chance to observe parents interact with their children in the waiting room before and after the group meetings. Parents occasionally used parenting or feeding strategies that were inconsistent with the approach taught during the intervention (e.g., giving a child multiple servings of a food for a snack). To keep study methodology consistent, Ms. Elliott did not interfere with parenting practices during these, "free" periods. However, one area for future development could be to include an unstructured time where parents and children interact, during which the interventionist is available to intervene and instruct parents on a "real time" basis, to further reiterate session content and provide parents with supervised time to implement strategies taught during the group sessions. A potential intervention technique to be employed would be an adapted version of Parent-Child Interaction Therapy, which was originally designed for use with children with behavior problems. Consistent with the H.O.U.S.E. model, Parent-Child Interaction Therapy incorporates building and

102

maintenance of a positive parent-child relationship, with concurrent implementation of behavioral parent training (231).

General Considerations for Future Research

Given the increasing emphasis on obesity prevention, an important emergent area is prevention during the earliest points of development: gestation and infancy. As previously noted, there is a clear link between maternal excessive gestational weight gain and child obesity risk (20; 254) that is thought to be the result of intrauterine metabolic programming (7; 47). While much more research is needed to uncover the mechanisms that confer later obesity risk, targeting prevention of excess weight gain during pregnancy and early infancy has been cited as one way to reduce obesity risk at the earliest stage of development. In discussing potential intervention points, Wojcicki and colleagues specifically suggest incorporating discussions about appropriate gestational weight gain into medical appointments, and maternal psychoeducation as solid foods are introduced during infancy (335).

In preventing excess maternal gestational weight gain, a number of studies have targeted dietary and activity patterns, with an early review of the literature generally indicating a significant positive effect of such interventions (281). Further support from later studies includes a positive impact when intervening with both non-overweight and obese women (14; 336). However, not all of the interventions included in the review were controlled, and some randomized controlled studies have not evidenced a positive impact of lifestyle intervention on gestational weight gain (149; 181). Notably, one study that did not show an impact of the intervention on weight did evidence improvement in maternal eating patterns (149). Additional longitudinal research is needed to determine if excess maternal gestational weight gain prevention is effective in impacting child weight trajectory into childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. Research is further needed to clarify the extent to which maternal diet influences the risk for excess weight gain, and whether improving maternal diet, independent of gestational weight gain, may improve later child obesity risk.

A number of studies have also been designed to target obesity risk factors during infancy. For example, Paul and colleagues intervened during infancy by teaching parents how to discriminate and respond appropriately to hunger versus non-hunger related infant fussiness and/or how to effectively introduce solid foods. Parents receiving both types of intervention had infants with lower weight-for-length percentiles at a one-year follow-up compared to infants of parents receiving only one type of behavioral intervention (224). In a similar vein, a number of studies are on-going, targeting appropriate infant feeding behaviors in tandem with important issues such as parenting habits and appropriate sleep schedules, in primary obesity prevention (40; 74; 302).

Concluding Remarks

In summary, the present study investigated the feasibility and acceptability of a group-based parent training intervention for the prevention of obesity among parents of otherwise healthy overweight and obese African American children ages 2-6 years. Hypotheses were generally supported in that the intervention was both feasible and acceptable to parents. Further, preliminary examination of change mechanisms suggests that key intervention targets (e.g., parenting style, feeding practices) improved following the intervention, with changes on several measures reaching significance. However, conclusive results are limited due to the planned small sample size of the present study.

104

These findings suggest that further investigation of the intervention, employing a randomized controlled trial methodology, is warranted.

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria	
Age 2-6y	Parent or physician reported weight- related health co-morbidity in child	
BMI Percentile $\geq 85^{th}$	Evidence of major psychiatric or medical illness	
Good physical health other than overweight	Current participation in weight-loss program	
African American		
DC resident or willing to travel		

Table 1: Child Participant Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Measure	Baseline M (SD)	Post- Intervention	<i>p-</i> value	Effect Size
Measures of	of Parental Self-	Efficacy		
Toddler Care Questionnaire: Total Score	146.5 (33.48)	151.25 (32.47)	.70	.11
Lifestyle Behaviour Questionnaire: Confidence Scale	210.08 (56.90)	234.67 (24.22)	.29	.37
Measu	res of Parent Sti	ress		
Perceived Stress Scale: Total Score	15.50 (7.10)	14.70 (8.91)	.76	.10
Parenting Stress Index				
Parental Distress	24.83 (8.17)	22.92 (3.92)	.33	.29
Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction	16.50 (4.78)	19.08 (8.16)	.10	.52
Difficult Child	26.42 (8.40)	25.00 (8.35)	.26	.34
Total Score	68.00 (18.34)	67.00 (18.27)	.71	.11
Measures	of Parenting Bel	haviors		
Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire				
Authoritative	4.06 (.49)	3.91 (.67)	.42	.23
Connection	4.43 (.42)	4.36 (.51)	.60	.14
Regulation	4.21 (.85)	4.14 (.85)	.76	.08
Autonomy Granting	3.53 (.87)	3.29 (1.05)	.37	.24
Authoritarian	1.74 (.44)	1.50 (.37)	.02	.73

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics for Baseline and Post-Intervention Parent Report Measures

Physical Coercion	1			
Thysical Coercion	1.54 (.37)	1.34 (.25)	.04	.61
Verbal Hostility	1.52 (.49)	1.35 (.23)	.17	.39
Non-Reasoning/Punitive	2.18 (.65)	1.80 (.71)	.01	.83
Permissive	2.63 (1.02)	2.14 (.86)	.03	.65
Child Feeding Questionnaire				
Perceived Responsibility	4.55 (.43)	4.67 (.39)	.49	.19
Concern for Child Weight	3.67 (1.15)	3.0 (1.37)	.04	.61
Restriction	4.69 (.50)	4.75 (.40)	.64	.12
Pressure to Eat	2.95 (1.13)	2.25 (.89)	.03	.68
Monitoring	4.07 (.76)	4.37 (.82)	.24	.33
Measu	ires of Child Beha	viors		
Child Eating Behaviour				
Questionnaire	-	() () ()		
Food Responsiveness	2.73 (1.29)	2 73 (1 35)	1.0	
		2.75 (1.55)	1.0	.00
Emotional Overeating	1.61 (.72)	1.75 (.94)	.67	.00
Emotional Overeating Enjoyment of Food	1.61 (.72) 3.79 (.87)	1.75 (.94) 3.75 (.71)	1.0 .67 .86	.00 .12 .05
Emotional Overeating Enjoyment of Food Desire to Drink	1.61 (.72) 3.79 (.87) 3.76 (.89)	2.75 (135) 1.75 (.94) 3.75 (.71) 3.29 (.91)	.67 .86 .12	.00 .12 .05 .44
Emotional Overeating Enjoyment of Food Desire to Drink Satiety Responsiveness	1.61 (.72) 3.79 (.87) 3.76 (.89) 3.33 (.73)	2.75 (1.55) 1.75 (.94) 3.75 (.71) 3.29 (.91) 3.03 (.38)	.67 .86 .12 .18	.00 .12 .05 .44 .38
Emotional Overeating Enjoyment of Food Desire to Drink Satiety Responsiveness Slowness of Eating	1.61 (.72) 3.79 (.87) 3.76 (.89) 3.33 (.73) 3.05 (.51)	2.75 (1.55) 1.75 (.94) 3.75 (.71) 3.29 (.91) 3.03 (.38) 2.91 (.64)	1.0 .67 .86 .12 .18 .49	.00 .12 .05 .44 .38 .19
Emotional Overeating Enjoyment of Food Desire to Drink Satiety Responsiveness Slowness of Eating Food Fussiness	1.61 (.72) 3.79 (.87) 3.76 (.89) 3.33 (.73) 3.05 (.51) 3.50 (.44)	2.75 (1.55) 1.75 (.94) 3.75 (.71) 3.29 (.91) 3.03 (.38) 2.91 (.64) 3.13 (.45)	1.0 .67 .86 .12 .18 .49 .001	.00 .12 .05 .44 .38 .19 1.23
Emotional Overeating Enjoyment of Food Desire to Drink Satiety Responsiveness Slowness of Eating Food Fussiness Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist	1.61 (.72) 3.79 (.87) 3.76 (.89) 3.33 (.73) 3.05 (.51) 3.50 (.44)	2.75 (1.55) 1.75 (.94) 3.75 (.71) 3.29 (.91) 3.03 (.38) 2.91 (.64) 3.13 (.45)	1.0 .67 .86 .12 .18 .49 .001	.00 .12 .05 .44 .38 .19 1.2:
Emotional Overeating Enjoyment of Food Desire to Drink Satiety Responsiveness Slowness of Eating Food Fussiness Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist Problem Scale	1.61 (.72) 3.79 (.87) 3.76 (.89) 3.33 (.73) 3.05 (.51) 3.50 (.44)	2.75 (1.55) 1.75 (.94) 3.75 (.71) 3.29 (.91) 3.03 (.38) 2.91 (.64) 3.13 (.45) 47.08 (19.94)	1.0 .67 .86 .12 .18 .49 .001	.00 .12 .05 .44 .38 .19 1.23 .86

Internalizing Problems	53.46 (8.01)	49.85 (10.20)	.18	.39
	A			1
Externalizing Problems	50.08 (11.42)	46.31 (9.57)	.16	.41
Total Problems	52.00 (10.26)	48.23 (8.29)	.06	.57
Measure of	f Child Daily Dieta	ry Intake		1
Block Food Frequency				
Questionnaire				
Fruit (cup)	1.45 (.94)	1.43 (.96)	.96	.02
Vegetables (cup)	.50 (.32)	.41 (.22)	.39	.26
Whole Grains (oz.)	.59 (.64)	.36 (.26)	.20	.38
Dietary Fiber	10.32 (6.71)	8.19 (5.45)	.28	.31
Sugar Added (tsp.)	5.50 (3.82)	3.38 (2.74)	.06	.57
Saturated Fat*	11.80 (6.40)	7.80 (3.30)	.04	.66
Sugary Beverage (kilocal)	31.84 (49.67)	6.64 (10.02)	.11	.48
Total Energy Intake (kilocal)	967.62 (417.13)	688.17 (329.79)	.04	.64

*Values removing outlier

Measure	Pearson's Correlation	Estimated Power (%)
Toddler Care Questionnaire: Total Score	.22	30
Parenting Stress Index-Short Form: Total Score	.88	94
Perceived Stress Scale: Total Score	.45	38
Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist		
Confidence Scale	18	19
Problem Scale	.82	82
Child Behavior Checklist: Total Problems	.58	49
Child Feeding Questionnaire		
Perceived Responsibility	15	20
Concern Over Child Weight	.63	49
Restraint	.39	35
Pressure to Eat	.50	41
Monitoring	.34	33
Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire		
Authoritative	.47	39
Authoritarian	.68	.60
Permissive	.69	.60
Child Eating Behaviour Questionnaire		
Food Responsiveness	.66	.55
Emotional Overeating	09	21
Enjoyment of Food	.60	49

Table 3: Estimated Power for Psychological Variables

Desire to Drink	.28	31
Satiety Responsiveness	.09	25
Slowness in Eating	.16	27
Food Fussiness	.77	72
Block Food Frequency Screener for Ages 2-17: Last Week		
Fruit	.36	33
Vegetables	.00	23
Whole Grains	.35	33
Saturated Fat	.26	29
Dietary Fiber	.39	35
Sugars Added	.41	35
Sugary Beverages (cal)	21	20
Daily Caloric Intake	.34	33

Figure 1: Study Design



Figure 2: Recruitment and Attrition



Figure 3: Health Assessment Questionnaire



Figure 4: Toddler Care Questionnaire



Figure 5: Lifestyle Behavior Checklist: Confidence Scale



Figure 6: Perceived Stress Scale



Figure 7: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form



Figure 8: Child Feeding Questionnaire



Figure 9: Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire



Figure 10: Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: Problem Scale



Figure 11: Child Behavior Checklist 11/2-5





Figure 12: Child Eating Behaviour Questionnaire

Figure 13: Fruit and vegetable intake



Figure 14: Fiber intake



Figure 15: Whole Grain intake











Figure 18: Saturated fats intake



Figure 19: Estimated daily intake



Appendix

APPENDIX A: SCREEN

Screen Information Sheet

1. Parent's name: _____

Child's name: _____

2. Child's date of birth: _____

3. Child's age: ____

4. Child's reported height: ____ Child's reported weight: ____ Child's Estimated CDC BMI %ile: ____

If Child Qualifies based on age and BMI %ile:

5. If you or your child has any Medical Problems, please describe them:

6. Have you or your child been diagnosed or received treatment for any emotional problems? Specify: mood disorder, anxiety disorder, eating disorder, substance abuse disorder, schizophrenia, developmental disorder (child), other:

If you or your child are currently taking any Medications, please list them:
 Dietary restrictions? Y N

Explain:

9. Involvement in psychotherapy or weight loss program? Y N 10. Did your child lose more than 5 lb. in the past 3 months? Y N

Please complete the following:

How did you hear about the study ______ Able to attend weekly 1½-hour sessions for eight weeks? Y N If not explain:

Parent's Home Address:	
Homephone# :	
Workphone# :	
Cellphone# :	
Email:	
Best method to contact:	Best time of day
Physician's Name:	
Physician's Address:	
Physician's phone #:	
Emergency contact:	
Phone:	

APPENDIX B: ADVERTISEMENT

PARENTS OF YOUNG CHILDREN Concerned about your child's weight?

Interested in learning how to improve your child's lifestyle?

Consider doing a research study!

What: An eight-week group for parents to learn how to decrease their stress and reduce their child's risk for future obesity.

Who: African-American parents with a child between the ages of 2-6 who is overweight.

Where: Children's Health Center at THEARC 1901 Mississippi Ave. SE Washington, DC 20020

Children's National researchers are learning more about preventing children from becoming obese as adults. We are focusing on developing a new approach.



Participants will be compensated.

For more information, please contact Camden Elliott at 301-295-2397.





WWW.

APPENDIX C: CONSENT

Study ID:Pro00001877 Date Approved: 3/29/2012 Expiration Date: 11/6/2012

CHILDREN'S NATIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

Department of General and Community Pediatrics 111 Michigan Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20010 (202) 476-5000

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN A CLINICAL RESEARCH STUDY AND AUTHORIZATION TO USE PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

TITLE OF STUDY:	Group Parent-Training for the Prevention of Pediatric Obesity (G-PTO)
PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:	Nazrat Mirza, MD, ScD,
	Department General and Community Pediatrics

INTRODUCTION: We would like to invite you to be part of a research study at Children's National Medical Center. Before you decide if you would like to participate, we want you to know why we are doing the study. We also want you to know about any risks (anything unexpected that might happen) and what you will be expected to do in the study.

This form gives you information about the study. Your doctor will talk to you about the study and answer any questions you have. We encourage you to discuss this study with your family and anyone else you trust before making your decision. We will ask you to sign this form to show that you understand the study. We will give you a copy of this form to keep. It is important that you know:

- You do not have to join the study.
- You may change your mind and stop being in the study any time you want.
- If we make any important changes to the study we will tell you about it and make sure you still want to be in the study.

A. PURPOSE OF STUDY

This study is looking at a new program, Group Parent-Training for the Prevention of Pediatric Obesity (G-PTO), that teaches parents how to help their child develop a healthy lifestyle, so they will be less likely to be obese as they get older. You and your child are eligible for this study, because, due to your child's weight, your child is more likely to be obese as an adult. This also means that your child is more likely to develop health or emotional problems as they get older, such as heart problems, type 2 diabetes (sugar diabetes), or low self-esteem. Since we want to keep children as healthy as possible, our goal is to prevent them from being obese as an adult. As a parent, you are very important in helping your child make healthy choices.

Page 1 of 10

The group program includes a weekly meeting for eight weeks. The main reason we are doing this study is to find out if parents like this program and find it helpful. We will ask you questions about the program, about your parenting behaviors, and about your child's eating and activity habits, both before and after the group program. There will be around 20 parents with a child between the ages of 2 and 6 who will take part in this study. Since African American children are especially likely to become overweight, we are only including African American parents and children in this study.

Your child must be overweight based on a body mass index (BMI, which looks at height and weight), percentile greater than the 85th percentile for their age and sex. Your child will not be able to do this study if he/she is not healthy, is taking a medication that might affect his/her body weight, or is attending weight-loss treatment. You will not be included if you have a medical illness that would keep you from attending and participating in group meetings, or an emotional illness requiring an advanced level of care.

B. PROCEDURE

There are three main parts to this study, all of which will take place at THEARC (Town Hall Education Arts and Recreation Campus):

- Screening and Pre-Group Meetings: The first part of the study is a screening and pre-group meeting that will take between one and two hours. During this meeting, we will find out if you and your child are able to take part in the study. This meeting includes:
 - a. Measurements. We will measure your child's height and weight,
 - b. Questionnaires. We will ask you to answer questions about your own and your child's emotional and physical health, your parenting behaviors, and your child's eating behaviors. We are asking these questions to make sure that you and your child are able to take part in the study and would not be better served with more advanced care. You may choose to not answer any question that makes you feel uncomfortable. If there is concern that you or your child has a major emotional problem, including a mood disorder, anxiety disorder, eating disorder, substance abuse disorder, schizophrenia, developmental disorder (child), or any other problem preventing you from completing the activities of the study, you will not be able to participate in the group. In this case, we will give you a list of local care providers who treat emotional or behavioral problems and make sure you understand how to contact them for treatment. All of your answers will be kept confidential. This means that only members of the study team will see your answers, unless we are worried that your health or your child's health is at risk.
 - c. At-home assessment. If you and your child meet the requirements of the study and agree to do the study, we will give you a pedometer, a small tool that measures your child's physical activity, and have you put the tool on your child during the Saturday after the screening/pre-group meeting.

Page 2 of 10

We will also give you a form to record your child's TV, computer, and video game time, on that same Saturday. You will be given detailed directions on how to complete those records.

- Group Meetings: In the second part of the study, families who choose to do the study will attend the group parenting meetings. There are eight weekly group meetings and each meeting lasts for 1½ hours.
- 3. Post-Group Meetings: The third part of the study is two meetings after the end of the group. The first post-group meeting will take place 1-2 weeks after the last group session. The second post-group meeting will take place 3 months after the last group meeting. These meetings will take place at THEARC and are the same as the meetings that occur before the group:
 - a. Measurements. We will measure your child's height and weight.
 - b. Questionnaires. We will ask you to answer questions about your own and your child's emotional and physical health, your parenting behaviors, and your child's eating behaviors.
 - c. At-home assessment. We will give you a pedometer and have you put the tool on your child during the Saturday after the screening/pre-group meeting. We will also give you a form to record your child's TV, computer, and video game time, on that same Saturday.

We will ask you to drop out of the study if:

- Your doctor thinks it is best for your child
- We become aware of a senious mental or physical illness that would impact your ability to participate in the study

C. POTENTIAL RISKS/DISCOMFORT

- Psychological testing involves no risk, but may be a hassle because of the time required for testing. Some parents may also feel uncomfortable being asked about their feelings or behaviors on questionnaires. Should any serious concerns come up about the emotional health of you or your child, you will be given a list of local providers and assisted with finding a provider near your home.
- 2. Group Meetings involve no physical risk, but topics that are personally sensitive will be discussed. While not expected, emotional distress may result from talking about household events or your child's weight status, or from trying to make desired changes within the home. The group leader will be available to provide support throughout the group. If there is concern of the development of a serious emotional health problem, you will be immediately removed from the study and given a list of local providers. If you are in need of an immediate evaluation (e.g. is suicidal with a plan to carry out such actions) while at THEARC, an ambulance will be called to take you to the closest emergency room.

Page 3 of 10

- 3. Parenting Behaviors. There is a risk that through either the assessment or group meetings, we may hear about parenting behaviors that are harmful to your child. If we become aware of anything that could be harmful to your child's health, or another child in your home, we are required by law to report you to the Washington, DC Child Protective Services.
- 4. Unrealistic expectations. The goal of this study is to see if you like the program we are using and find it helpful in making healthy changes within your home. Although unlikely, you may feel disappointed if the program does not meet your expectations. This is not a weight-loss treatment or family therapy study. We will do our best to help you have realistic expectations about the effect of the program on your family.
- 5. Time required. This study lasts about 6 months. The time needed for you to be in the study is 1-2 hours for the screening and pre-group meetings, 2-4 hours for the post-group meetings, and 1½ hours for 8 weeks for group meetings, all of which will take place at THEARC.

D. VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION

Your participation in this study is voluntary. There will be no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled if you decide to withdraw from the study.

E. POTENTIAL BENEFITS

There are a number of benefits to this study. For your child, potential benefits include preventing the development of obesity and improving their future health. For parents, potential benefits include learning new ways to parent and to handle stress that may help you make healthy changes in your home. However, as we do not know how well the group will work to help children and parents; there may be no direct benefit to you or your child.

F. ALTERNATIVES TO PARTICIPATION

Your child may be eligible for other studies for children who are at risk for adult obesity. We will inform you of any such studies taking place at Children's National Medical Center of which we are aware, but we may not know about other studies being carried out at other centers. Your child may also choose to go to another health care provider and receive nutrition education or weight loss treatment that could help your child lose weight or maintain their weight.

G. QUESTIONS - WHO TO CALL

We want you to ask questions about any part of this study or consent form either now or at any time in the future. If you have any questions about this study, call the Principal

Page 4 of 10

Investigator, Dr. Nazrat Mirza at (202) 476-3948. If you believe you have been injured as a result of being in this study, you should call the Principal Investigator, Dr. Nazrat Mirza at (202) 476-3948. If you have any questions or concerns about your rights in this research study at any time, please call the Office for the Protection of Human Subjects at (301) 565-8452, the Chief Academic Officer, or the Chair of the Institutional Review Board of the Children's National Medical Center. The last two parties may be reached at (202) 476-5000.

H. CONFIDENTIALITY

We will keep the records of this study confidential. Only the people working on the study will know your name. They will keep this information in case we have to find you later to let you know of any new information that may affect your health. The federal government can review the study records and medical records to make sure we are following the law and protecting the children in the study. Your medical record is confidential, but just like any medical record; there are some exceptions under state and federal law.

HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY

In 1996 the government passed a law known as The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). This privacy law protects your individually identifiable health information (Protected Health Information or PHI). The privacy law requires you to sign an agreement so researchers can use or share your PHI for research purposes. This describes to you how information about you may be used or shared if you are in a research study. It is important that you read this carefully and ask a member of the research team to explain anything you do not understand.

I authorize Nazrat Mirza. MD, ScD and her research staff to create, access, use, and disclose my PHI for the purposes described below.

Protected Health Information that may be used and shared includes:

- Information that identifies you such as name, address, telephone number, date of birth, Social Security number, and other details about you
- * Information that relates to your health or medical condition from your medical records
- Information obtained from the study procedures outlined in this consent form, for example: things done to see if you can join the study such as physical exams, blood and urine tests, x-rays and other tests, and any other medical information we learn from you about your health history and family history
- O Laboratory results obtained on specimens collected from you (blood, urine, tissue)
- * Questionnaires or surveys you complete
- ✤ Interviews conducted with you by members of the research team
- Audio/ video recordings
- O Other *[please specify]:

Page 5 of 10

The Researchers may use and share my Protected Health Information with:

- The Principal Investigator, other Investigators, Study Coordinators, and all administrative staff in charge of doing work for the study;
- Government agencies that have the right to see or review your PHI, including but not limited to the Office of Human Research Protections and the Food and Drug Administration;
- Children's National Medical Center Institutional Review Board;
- Audit Committee of the Children's National Medical Center Institutional Review Board;
- Quality Improvement Program Coordinator and other staff in the Office for the Protection of Human Subjects at Children's National Medical Center.

In addition to the above people and organizations, the Researchers may also use and share my Protected Health Information with:

Doctors and staff at other places that are participating in the study. The name(s) of the other place(s) that are participating in this study are: The Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Duke Center for Eating Disorders.

- Laboratories and other people or organizations that look at your health information in connection with this study. The name(s) of the laboratory(ies) being used in this study is (are)
- The Sponsor of the study and people that the Sponsor may contract with for the study. The name of the Sponsor is
- The Contract Research Organization (an organization that helps the Sponsor run the study). The name of the Contract Research Organization is
- The Data Safety Monitoring Board (a group of people who examine the medical information during the study)
- The Medical Monitor for the Study (a person who reviews medical information during the study)
- The Patient Advocate or Research Ombudsman (person who watches out for your best interest)
- Any other outside entity who will receive health information Please list:

Also, your primary physician will be contacted if during the course of the study the researcher learns of a medical condition that needs immediate attention.

Should your health information be disclosed to anyone outside of the study, your information may no longer be protected by HIPAA and this Authorization. However, the use of your health information will still be regulated by applicable federal and state laws.

Page 6 of 10

when in the sector of the sect

Storage of PHI in a Database:

We would like to store personal health information collected from you in this study in a database for future research. The database is maintained by the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences.

Please indicate your approval of any or all of the following by initialing next to the statement:

My personal health information may be stored in the above named database for future analysis related to this study. O Yes O No initials

My personal health information may be stored in the above named database. Researchers may contact me to request my authorization for future studies that are not related to this study or the disease named above.

O Yes O No _____ initials

My personal health information may be stored without any of my identifying information for use in other studies of other diseases. • Yes • No ______ initials

If you agree to participate in this research study, the research team, the research sponsor (when applicable) and the sponsor's representatives, may use Personally Unidentified Study Data. The Personally Unidentified Study Data does not include your name, address, telephone, or social security number. Instead, the researcher assigns a code to the Personally Unidentified Study Data. Personally Unidentified Study Data may include your date of birth, initials, and dates you received medical care. Personally Unidentified Study Data may also include the health information used, created, or collected in the research study. The research team or the research sponsor may share the Personally Unidentified Study Data with others to perform additional research, place it into research databases, share it with researchers in the U.S. or other countries, or use it to improve the design of future studies. They may also publish it in scientific journals, or share it with business partners of the sponsor and to file applications with U.S. or foreign government agencies to get approval for new drugs or health care products.

You do not have to sign this Consent/Authorization. If you decide not to sign the Authorization, you will not be allowed to participate in the research study.

After signing the Consent/Authorization, you can change your mind and:

 Revoke this Authorization. If you revoke the Authorization, you will send a written letter to: Dr. Nazrat Mirza (202-476-3948) to inform her of your decision. Her address is:

Page 7 of 10

Dr. Nazrat Mirza Children's National Medical Center Center for Clinical and Community Research (CCCR) 111 Michigan Ave. NW Washington, DC 20010-2970

- If you revoke this Authorization, researchers may only use and disclose the PHI that was collected for this research study before you revoked the Authorization.
- If you revoke this Authorization your PHI may still be used and disclosed if you should have an adverse event (unexpected side effect).
- If you change your mind and withdraw the Authorization, you will not be allowed to participate in the study.

You will be allowed to review the information collected for this research study at the conclusion of the trial.

This Authorization does not have an expiration date.

If you have not already received a Notice of Privacy Practices from Children's National Medical Center, you may request a copy and will be given one. If you have any questions or concerns about your privacy rights, you may contact the Children's Hospital Privacy Officer at 301-572-6348.

I. Payment for Medical Care for Research-related Injury:

Children's National Medical Center cannot promise that the risks we have told you about or other unknown problems will not happen. If you think that something unexpected happened because you were in the study, please call the Principal Investigator at (202) 476-3948. or the Chief Academic Officer of the Children's National Medical Center at (202) 476-5000. If something unexpected happened resulting directly from your participation in this research study, we will give your child any urgent medical emergency treatment needed if the injury is reported in a timely manner. The Hospital will seek payment from your health insurance company or other third-party payor for any medical care or services you receive. The Hospital has no program to provide you with any additional payments as a result of any injuries.

J. ADDITIONAL ELEMENTS

1. Consequences of withdrawing

There are no consequences to withdrawing from this study. Your participation is voluntary and you may choose to terminate your participation in this study at any time.

Page 8 of 10

2. Termination from the study at discretion of investigator

If the research team has reason to believe that the study may not be a good fit for you or your child, we may discontinue your family's participation in the study. For example, if you will not be able to come to the screening visits before starting the group sessions or if you will not be able to attend most of the group sessions, you may not be a good fit for the study. In addition, if we become aware of any serious mental or physical illness that may impact your ability to participate or may require a higher level of care, we may end your participation in the study. After stopping your participation in the study, if you are willing, we may ask that she return to THEARC for the scheduled follow-up visits, to follow your child's body weight and eating/activity patterns, as well as your parenting behaviors.

3. Approximate number of total participants

We expect that between 20-30 parents and their child to participate in the study. Each group will have between 3-10 parents.

4. Compensation

You will be paid for your time and for the difficulty of coming to assessment and group meetings. You will be paid \$25 after the screening and pre-group meeting, \$25 between sessions 4 and 5, and \$25 after both post-group meetings, for a total of up to \$100. If you choose to stop participating in the study before the study is over, you will not be paid for parts of the study you do not complete.

CONSENT/AUTHORIZATION:

I am the participant or I am authorized to act on behalf of the participant. I have read this information and will receive a copy of this form after it is signed.

By signing this form, you agree that you have talked to your doctor about the study and understand it, and you want to be in the study. You agree that we have talked to you about the risks and benefits of the study, and about other choices. You may decide to stop being in this study at any time and no one will mind and nothing will change about your medical care other than not being in the study. Copies of this form will be:

- Kept in the study file by the Principal Investigator;
- (2) Put in your medical record; and
- (3) Given to you to keep.

Page 9 of 10

Please call the Principal Investigator, Dr. Nazrat Mirza, at 202-476-3948, if you have any questions.

Signature of Participant:	Date:
(Participant must be 18 y	ears of age or older)
Signature of Parent(s)/Guardian(s):	Date:
Witness (to signatures): (may be investigator)	Date:

above individual(s) the nature and purpose of the study, potential benefits, and possible nsks associated with participation in this study. I have answered any questions that have been raised.

Printed Name of Individual Obtaining Consent:				
Title:	Signature:	Date:		

Page 10 of 10

APPENDIX D: PARENT REPORT QUESTIONNAIRES

Health Awareness Interview

(Adapted from Young-Hyman et al., 2000)

Please circle the appropriate answer to the following questions:

- 1. Which best describes your child's weight?
 - Underweight
 - o Just right
 - o Overweight
 - Very overweight
- 2. Which best describes your child's general appearance?
 - o Small frame
 - Medium frame
 - o Large frame
- 3. Do you think your child's weight is a health problem?

o Yes ONo

- 4. How much do you worry about your child's current weight?
 - o No worry
 - o A slight worry
 - o A lot of worry
- 5. How much do you worry about your child becoming overweight in the future?
 - o No worry
 - A slight worry
 - A lot of worry
- 6. How important is it to you to make sure that your child is at a healthy weight?
 - Not important at all
 - Somewhat important
 - Very important
- 7. Has your doctor expressed concern to you about your child's weight?

o Yes O No

- 8. Has your doctor discussed with you future health problems related to being overweight?
 - o Yes O No
- 9. Has a family member or friend expressed concern to you about your child's weight?
 o Yes o No
- 10. Have you tried anything to help your child lose weight?
 - o Yes O No

11. Have any family members or friends expressed disapproval, or gotten in the way of you trying to make healthy changes related to your child's weight?

o Yes o No
LIFESTYLE BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST

Below is a list of behaviours parents with overweight children often have to manage. For each item: (1) circle the number that best describes how much of a problem that behaviour has been with your child in the last month, and (2) rate how confident you are in dealing with it. If that behaviour is not currently occurring, rate how confident you are that you could successfully deal with your child's behaviour if it did occur. Remember to put a confidence rating for *every* item.

Rate your confidence from 1 (Certain I can't do it) to 10 (Certain I can do it).

		TOW	HAT E	N A WIT	ENT HAS TI PROBLEM H YOUR CH	HIS FO	Behav R You D?	IOUR	HOW CONFIDENT ARE YOU IN
		Not at all	A lit	tle	Somewhat		Much	Very much	DEALING WITH IT?
1.	Eats too quickly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
2.	Eats too much	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
З.	Eats unhealthy snacks	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
4.	Whinges or whines about food	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
5,	Yells about food	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
6.	Throws a tantrum about food	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
7.	Refuses to eat certain foods (i.e. fussy eating)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
8.	Argues about food (e.g. when you say No more)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
9.	Demands extra helpings at meals	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
10.	Requests food continuously between meals	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
11.	Demands food when shopping or on outings	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
12.	Sneaks food when they know they are not supposed to	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
13.	Hides food	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
14.	Steals food (e.g. from other children's lunchboxes)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
15.	Eats food to comfort themselves when feeling let down or depressed	ţ	2	3	4	5	6	7	
16.	Watches too much television	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
17.	Spends too much time playing video or computer games	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

									-
18.	Complains about doing physical activity (e.g. <i>This is</i> <i>boring, I'm too tired, My leg</i> <i>hurts</i>)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
19.	Refuses to do physical activity	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
20.	Complains about being unfit or feeling low in energy	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
21.	Complains about being overweight	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
22.	Complains about being teased	1	2	з	4	5	6	7	
23.	Complains about not having enough friends	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
24.	Complains about being unattractive	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
25.	Complains about not fitting into clothes	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

Note. Adapted from "The Lifestyle Behaviour Checklist: A measure of weight-related problem behaviour in obese children," by F. West & M.R. Sanders, 2009, *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*.

						Tode	TABLE 1 dler Care Questionna	ire ¹	
De	arN	loth	ers,						
of	Plea:	se co ng ch	ildren	te the ite . Circle t	ems he a	below. Your responses on the appropriate letter to indicate t	he questionnaire are confidence you have much confidence you have a set of the set of th	ential and will help us to ave with the following:	improve our services to mot
				A		B	c	D	E
				very little=	_		CONFIDENCE		quite a
A	В	C	DI	61 - C (1)	Knowing which toys are appr	opriate for your child's age.		
A	в	C	DI	6	2)	Knowing how to encourage y	your child's language develo	oment.	
A	В	C	DI		3)	Knowing about common fea	rs children have at this age.		
A	B	c	DI		4)	Knowing what to do to help etc.).	p your child develop hand o	oordination (for example	e, using a spoon, stacking bl
A	В	C	DI		5)	Knowing how to help your ch	hild develop body coordinatio	on (for example, walking,	climbing).
A	в	с	DI	E I	6)	Knowing how to manage toil	let training.		
A	В	C	DI	E	7)	Knowing how feeding patter	ns change between 12 mont	ths and 36 months.	
A	В	C	DI	E I	8)	Knowing how to make your h	nome safe for your child.		
Α	B	C	DI	£	9)	Knowing which situations are	e likely to upset your child.		
A	В	C	DI	E 1	0)	Knowing which situations yo	ur child is likely to enjoy.		
A	В	C	DI	E 1	1)	Predicting how your child will	I react to new people and pla	ces.	
A	в	C	DI	E 1	2)	Knowing your child's daily sle	epschedule.		
A	B	C	DI	E 1	3)	Knowing what foods your ch	ild will and won't eat.		
A	В	C	DI	1	4)	Predicting whether your child	will like a new toy.		
A	B	C	DI	E 1	5)	Knowing what your child's detc.).	different cries mean (for example	mple, tiredness, hunger,	pain, fear, boredom, frustra
A	B	c	DI	1	6)	Knowing how to relieve your bored, frustrated, etc.).	r child's distress (for example	e, distress due to being t	tired, hungry, in pain, frighte
A	В	C	DI	E 1	7)	Involving your child in activitie	es you both enjoy.		
A	в	C	DI	E 1	8)	Knowing when your child see	ems to want affection from y	ou.	
A	в	C	DI	5 1	9)	Being comfortable in showing	g affection to your child.		
A	В	C	DI	5 2	20)	Getting your child to smile or	laugh.		
A	В	C	DI	2	21)	Developing your child's interr	est in new things.		
A	В	C	DI	E 2	22)	Knowing your child's favorite	toys and games.		
A	в	C	DI	5 2	(ES	Knowing how to help your ch	hild play with other children.		
A	в	C	DI	2	(4)	Helping your child to adjust to	o new situations (for example	a new babysitter, going	to new places).
A	в	C	DI	2	25)	Setting limits on your child's a	destructive behaviors (for exa	mple, tearing books, bre	aking valuable items).
A	B	c	DI	5 2	26)	Setting limits on your child's wires, etc.).	behavior if it looks dangero	us (for example, playing	with matches, electric outlet
A	в	C	DI	E 2	27)	Knowing what kinds of discir	oline do not work with your c	hild.	
A	в	C	DI	2	(8)	Knowing what to do when yo	our child has a temper tantru	18.	
A	в	C	DI	2	(9)	Getting your child to bed with	hout a power struggle.		
A	B	C	DI	E 3	80)	Keeping a consistent bedtime	e hour for your child.		
A	В	C	DI	E 3	31)	Knowing when rules can be '	'bent" or modified and when	they should not be.	
A	в	C	DI	E 3	32)	Getting back to "friendly terr	ns" with your child soon after	r a problem behavior has	ended.
A	B	C	D	E 3	33)	Knowing whether your style	of parenting will "spoil" you	child.	2.4. A ##*
A	в	c	D	E 3	34)	Managing your child's acore	ssiveness with other children	(for example, hitting, bit	ing, pushing others).
A	B	c	D	E 3	35)	Finding supportive services a young children, play groups.	and people in your commun daycare services, preschools	ity for you and your chi	d (for example, other mothe
A	8	c	D	Е 3	36)	Knowing how to manage no	n-emergency illnesses at hon	ne (for example, fever, di	arrhea, minor injuries).
A	B	c	D		37)	Managing separations from	your child (for example to co	to the store to go to wo	rk to go out for the evening)
~	-	-			195	Now go back and ciple the	umber of any item run una	d like to know more the	The show

© 1986, Deborah Gross, D.N.Sc., R.N., and Lorraine Rocissano, Ph.D. Permission to use the Toddler Care Questionnaire for research purposes, and scoring instructions can be obtained from Deborah Gross, Rush-Presbyterian-St. Luke's Medical Center, Departm of Psychiatric Nursing, 1763 W. Congress Pkwy., Chicago, IL 60612.

Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire

REMEMBER: For each item, rate how often you exhibit this behavior with your child.

I EXHIBIT THIS BEHAVIOR:

- 1 = Never
- 2 = Once In Awhile
- 3 = About Half of the Time
- 4 = Very Often
- 5 = Always
- I am responsive to my child's feelings and needs.
- 2. I use physical punishment as a way of disciplining my child.
- 3. I take my child's desires into account before asking him/her to do something.
- 4. When my child asks why he/she has to conform, I state: because I said so, or I am your parent and I want you to.
- 5. I explain to my child how I feel about the child's good and bad behavior.
- I spank when my child is disobedient.
- 7. I encourage my child to talk about his/her troubles.
- I find it difficult to discipline my child.
- I encourage my child to freely express (himself)(herself) even when disagreeing with me.
- _____ 10. I punish by taking privileges away from my child with little if any explanations.
- I emphasize the reasons for rules.
- 12. I give comfort and understanding when my child is upset.
- 13. I yell or shout when my child misbehaves.
- 14. I give praise when my child is good.
- 15. I give into my child when the child causes a commotion about something.
- 16. I explode in anger towards my child.
 - 17. I threaten my child with punishment more often than actually giving it.
 - 18. I take into account my child's preferences in making plans for the family.
- _____ 19. I grab my child when being disobedient.
- 20. I state punishments to my child and do not actually do them.
- 21. I show respect for my child's opinions by encouraging my child to express them.
- 22. I allow my child to give input into family rules.
- _____ 23. I scold and criticize to make my child improve.
- _____ 24. I spoil my child.
- 25. I give my child reasons why rules should be obeyed.
- _____ 26. I use threats as punishment with little or no justification.
- _____ 27. I have warm and intimate times together with my child.

- _____ 28. I punish by putting my child off somewhere alone with little if any explanations.
- 29. I help my child to understand the impact of behavior by encouraging my child to talk about the consequences of his/her own actions.
- _____ 30. I scold or criticize when my child's behavior doesn't meet my expectations.
 - 31. I explain the consequences of the child's behavior.
- _____ 32. I slap my child when the child misbehaves.

From: Robinson, C.C., Mandleco, B., Olsen, S.F., & Hart, C.H. (1995). Authoritative, authoritarian, and permissive parenting practices: Development of a new measure. Psychological Reports, 77, 819-830.

Child Feeding Questionnaire

Adapted from Birch, L.L., et al., 2001, by Anderson et al., 2005

- 1. When your child is at home, how often are you responsible for feeding her?
 - Never a.
 - b. Seldom
 - c. Half of the time
 - d. Most of the time
 - e. Always
- 2. How often are you responsible for deciding what your child's portion sizes are?
 - a. Never
 - b. Seldom
 - c. Half of the time
 - d. Most of the time
 - e. Always
- 3. How often are you responsible for deciding if your child has eaten the right kind of foods?
 - a. Never
 - b. Seldom
 - c. Half of the time
 - d. Most of the time
 - e. Always
- 4. You see your child as:
 - a. Markedly underweight
 - b. Underweight
 - c. Average
 - d. Overweight
 - e. Markedly overweight
- 5. How concerned are you about your child eating too much when you are not around her?
 - a. Unconcerned
 - b. A little concerned
 - c. Concerned
 - d. Fairly concerned
 - e. Very concerned
- 6. How concerned are you about your child having to diet to maintain a desirable weight?
 - a. Unconcerned
 - b. A little concerned

 - c. Concerned d. Fairly concerned
 - e. Very concerned
- 7. How concerned are you about your child becoming over weight?
 - a. Unconcerned
 - b. A little concerned
 - c. Concerned
 - d. Fairly concerned
 - e. Very concerned
- 8. I have to be sure that my child does not eat too many sweets (candy, icecream, cake or pastries)
 - a. Disagree
 - b. Slightly disagree
 - c. Neutral
 - d. Slightly agree
 - e. Agree

- 9. I have to be sure that my child does not eat too many high-fat foods
 - a. Disagree
 - b. Slightly disagree
 - c. Neutral
 - d. Slightly agree
 - e. Agree
- 10. If I did not guide or regulate my child's eating, he/she would eat too many junk foods
 - f. Disagree
 - g. Slightly disagree
 - h. Neutral i. Slightly a
 - . Slightly agree
 - j. Agree
- 11. My child should always eat all of the food on her plate
 - a. Disagree
 - b. Slightly disagree
 - c, Neutral
 - d. Slightly agree
 - e. Agree
- 12. I have to be especially careful to make sure my child eats enough
 - a. Disagree
 - b. Slightly disagree
 - c. Neutral
 - d. Slightly agree
 - e. Agree
- 13. If my child says "I'm not hungry", I try to get him/her to eat anyway
 - a. Disagree
 - b. Slightly disagree
 - c. Neutral
 - d. Slightly agree
 - e. Agree
- 14. If I did not guide or regulate my child's eating, she would eat much less than she should
 - a. Disagree
 - b. Slightly disagree
 - c. Neutral
 - d. Slightly agree
 - e. Agree
- 15. How much do you keep track of the sweets (candy, ice cream cake, pies, pastries) that your child eats?
 - a. Never
 - b. Rarely
 - c. Sometimes
 - d. Mostly
 - e. Always
- 16. How much do you keep track of the snack food (potato chips, Doritos, cheese puffs) that your child eats?
 - a. Never
 - b. Rarely
 - c. Sometimes
 - d. Mostly
 - e. Always
- 17. How much do you keep track of the high-fat foods that your child eats?
 - a. Never
 - b. Rarely
 - c. Sometimes
 - d. Mostly
 - e. Always

Child Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (CEBQ)

	Never	Rarely	Some- times	Often	Always
My child loves food					
My child eats more when worried					
My child has a big appetite					
My child finishes his/her meal quickly					
My child is interested in food					
My child is always asking for a drink					
My child refuses new foods at first					
My child eats slowly					
My child eats less when angry					
My child enjoys tasting new foods					
My child eats less when s/he is tired					
My child is always asking for food					
My child eats more when annoyed					
If allowed to, my child would eat too much					
My child eats more when anxious					
My child enjoys a wide variety of foods					
My child leaves food on his/her plate at the end of a meal					
My child takes more than 30 minutes to finish a meal					

	Never	Rarely	Some- times	Often	Always
Given the choice, my child would eat most of the time					
My child looks forward to mealtimes					
My child gets full before his/her meal is finished					
My child enjoys eating					
My child eats more when she is happy					
My child is difficult to please with meals					
My child eats less when upset					
My child gets full up easily					
My child eats more when s/he has nothing else to do					
Even if my child is full up s/he finds room to eat his/her favourite food					
If given the chance, my child would drink continuously throughout the day					
My child cannot eat a meal if s/he has had a snack just before					
If given the chance, my child would always be having a drink					
My child is interested in tasting food s/he hasn't tasted before					
My child decides that s/he doesn't like a food, even without tasting it					
If given the chance, my child would always have food in his/her mouth					
My child eats more and more slowly during the course of a meal					

From: Wardle, J., C. A. Guthrie, et al. (2001). "Development of the Children's Eating Behaviour Questionnaire." Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 42: 963–970.

Perceived Stress Scale

The questions in this scale ask you about your feelings and thoughts **during the last month**. In each case, you will be asked to indicate by circling *how often* you felt or thought a certain way.

Nar	ne		_	Date		
Age	Gender (Circle): M F Other		_	_		_
	0 = Never 1 = Almost Never 2 = Sometimes 3 = Fairly Ofte	n	4 = Ve	ry Ofte	en	
1.	In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?	0	1	2	3	4
2.	In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life?	0	4	2	3	4
3.	In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and "stressed"?	0	1	2	3	4
4	In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems?	0	1	2	3	4
5.	In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way?	0	1	2	3	4
6.	In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do?	0	1	2	3	4
7.	In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life?	0		2	3	4
8.	In the last month, how often have you felt that you were on top of things?	0	1	2	3	4
9	In the last month, how often have you been angered because of things that were outside of your control?	0	1	2	3	4
10.	In the last month, how often have you felt difficulties were piling up so high that you could not overcome them?	0	1	2	3	4

Please feel free to use the Perceived Stress Scale for your research.

Mind Garden, Inc. info@mindgarden.com www.mindgarden.com

References

The PSS Scale is reprinted with permission of the American Sociological Association, from Cohen, S. Kamarck, T., and Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24, 396-396.
 Cohen, S. and Williamson, G. Perceived Stress in a Probability Sample of the United States. Spacepan, S. and Oskamp, S. (Eds.). The Social Psychology of Health. Newbury Park, CA. Sage, 1988.

•		to and	stever at	littens. CHIL	DDL	HAVIOR CHECKL	151 1	FUI	CA	GES	1/2-5	
FIN	HILD)'5	Fit	at Middle	9	Last	PAR be sj labor	ENT Deichin Ter, La	c — i nihe o	penato	TYPE OF WORK, even if not working no nole, auto mechanic, high school leacher, hom ; shoe salesman, army sergeant.	w. Please emaker,
c	HILL	o's G	ENDE	R CHILD'S A	GE	CHILD'S ETHNIC GROUP	FAT	E OF	s wo	RK _		-
2] Bo	y [] Girt	- V	_	UNIVE	MOT	HER E OF	wo	RK _		_
TN	ODA to	YSC	Day_	Year	CHIL Mo.	D'S BIRTHDATE	THIS	FO	RM F	ILLED	OUT BY: (print your full name)	
Pbsp	eha rite rovi	se fi vior add ded	ll out even itiona on pa	t this form to refle if other people m il comments beside age 2. Be sure to	ect yo hight n e each answe	ur view of the child's lot agree. Feel free to item and in the space or all items.	Your	nelat Moth	ionsi er	np to c	hild: Father Dther (specify):	
i	f the	is a l item f the	ist of is ve child	items that describe ery true or often tru , circle the 0. Pleas	childre ue of the e answ	en. For each item that den the child. Circle the 1 if the ver all items as well as y	scribes e item i ou car	s the is so n, ev	e chil ome en if	d nov what some	w or within the past 2 months, please or sometimes true of the child. If the it e do not seem to apply to the child.	circle th tem is no
	0	= No	ot Tru	ie (as far as you k	now)	1 = Somewha	t or S	om	etim	les Tr	ue 2 = Very True or Often T	rue
1	1	2	1.	Aches or pains (with not include stomad	hout m	edical cause; <i>do</i> eadaches)	0	1	2 2	30. 31.	Easily jealous Eats or drinks things that are not food-	-don't
5	1	2	2.	Acts too young for	age						include sweets (describe):	
	1	2	3.	Afraid to try new th	inga				1	-	e and an international strends on the set	
	1	2	4.	Avoids looking othe	ars in U	te eye	0	3	2	32.	Fears certain animals, situations, or pla	aces
	1	2	5.	Can't concentrate,	cantp	ay attention for long	TU.				(describe):	
	1	2	6.	Can't sit still, restie	55, OF 1	typeractive		11		-	Forther and anti-to-d	
	1	2	7.	Can't stand having	things	out of place		В.	2	33.	reelings are easily nurt	
	3	4	8.	Can't stand warung	want	everyming nor	0		4	34.	Gets nurt a lot, accident-prone	
	2	4	9.	Chews on mings th	lat area	11 edible	0	1	2	35.	Gets in many rights	
	2	2	10.	Clings to educe or	too dep	mennent	0	1	2	30.	Gets into everything	and a
	2	-	11.	Constantly seeks h	940	- has also to have sold	0	1	4	31.	Gets too upset when separated from p	arents
	1	2	14.	Consupated, doesn	11 mov	e powers (when not	0	2	2	38.	Has trouble getting to sleep	
			40	SICK)			0	3	2	39.	Headaches (without medical cause)	
	1	4	13.	Cries a lot			0	1	4	40.	Hits others	
	1	2	14.	Cruer to animals			0	1	2	41.	Holds his/her bream	
	1	4	10.	Denam		and the ball	0	1	2	42.	Hurts animals of people without mean	ing to
	1	-	10.	Demands must be	met im	mediatesy		2	2	43.	Looks unnappy without good reason	
	4	2	17.	Destroys his ner ov	vn min	gs to bis/bas family		4	2	44.	Angry moods	
1		4	10.	or other children	onging	to marrier tarminy		4	2	40.	Nenious movements or hutching	use)
1		2	10	Diarrhan or losse h	numle	(when not alots)			-	40.	Ideactions in overnerics of twitching	
	4	2	20	Dischediest	OWEIS	(when not sick)					(Dascriba):	
ľ	-	2	21	Disturbed hu anu d	hanor	in mutine	0		2	47	Nervous highetrung or longe	
1	-	2	22	Doorn't want to alo	an ale		0	-	2	47.	Nichtmates	
	4	2	29	Doesn't want to sie	op alo	no talk to him/her		4	2	40.	Overenting	
	4	2	20.	Doorn't entwell (d	en pec	the rank to minumer	0	-	4	40.	Overtired	
		4	24.	Loesn t eat weil (d	eactible				4	50.	Shows papir for an anod reason	
į.		2	25	Doesn't gat along	with att	ar children		-	2	52	Dainful howel movements (without mov	lical
	4	2	20.	Doesn't know have	to here	fun: acte like a	1	1	*	94.	cause)	incer .
2		-	40.	little achilt	a nave	That, acts me a			3	53	Dhysically attacks papels	
è		2	77	Doeso't scom to fo		after misheheuine	0	-	2	54	Dicks nose skin or other parts of had	
1		2	20	Deesn't went to re	an guin	y aner maceneving	0		*	54.	(describe):	,
1	-	2	20.	Easily frustant of go	outor	nome.					(oaseina).	-
611			29.	Cashy Hustated			1.1				A	

Burlington, VT 05401-3456 www.ASEBA.org

UNAUTHORIZED COPYING IS ILLEGAL

7-28-00 Edition

	1	2	55.	Plays with own sex parts too much	0	1	2	79.	Rapid shifts between sadness and
0	1	2	56.	Poorty coordinated or clumsy					excitement
)	1	2	57.	Problems with eyes (without medical cause)	0	1	2	80.	Strange behavior (describe):
				(describe);	100				
					0	1	2	81.	Stubborn, sullen, or irritable
ť,	1	2	58.	Punishment doesn't change his/her behavior	0	1	2	82.	Sudden changes in mood or feelings
1	1	2	59.	Quickly shifts from one activity to another	0	1	2	83.	Sulks a lot
	1	2	60.	Rashes or other skin problems (without	0	1	2	84.	Talks or cries out in sleep
				medical cause)	0	1	2	85.	Temper tantrums or hot temper
Ú.	1	2	61.	Refuses to eat	0	1	2	86.	Too concerned with neatness or cleanliness
ł.	1	2	62.	Refuses to play active games	0	1	2	87.	Too fearful or anxious
e.	1	2	63.	Repeatedly rocks head or body	0	1	2	88.	Uncooperativa
į.	1	2	64.	Resists going to bed at night	0	1	2	89.	Underactive, slow moving, or lacks energy
ř.	1	2	65.	Resists toilet training (describe):	0	1	2	90.	Unhappy, sad, or depressed
					0	1	2	91.	Unusually loud
p,	1	2	66.	Screems a lot	0	1	2	92	Upset by new people or situations
į.	1	2	67.	Seems unresponsive to affection				100	(describe);
i.	1	2	68.	Self-conscious or easily embarrassed					ad the
1	1	2	69.	Selfish or won't share	.0	1	2	93	Yomeries, throwing up (without medical cause)
ř.	1	2	70.	Shows little affection toward people	0	1	2	94.	Wakes up often at night
i.	1	2	71.	Shows little interest in things around him/her	0	1	2	95.	Wanders away
i.	1	2	72.	Shows too little fear of petting hurt	0	1	2	96.	Wants a lot of attention
¢.	1	2	73.	Too ally or timid	0	1	2	97.	Whining
i.	1	2	74.	Sleeps less than most kids during day	0	1	2	98.	Withdrawn, doesn't get involved with others
	3	17		and/or night (describe):	0	1	2	99.	Worries
				and Sterry and a state	D	1	2	100.	Please write in any problems the child has
í.	1	2	75.	Smears or plays with bowel movements					that were not listed above.
5	÷.	2	76.	Speech problem (describe):	0	1	2		
	2				0	1	2		
	1	2	77.	Stares into space or seems preoccupied	0	1	2		
1	1	2	78.	Stomachaches or cramps (without medical					Plante he sure you have autoured all item
				cause)					Enderline on you are concerned abou
_	_	-			_		_	-	conternate any you are conterned about

What concerns you most about the child?

Please describe the best things about the child:

PAGE 2

	HO	YOU	EAT O	R DRI	NK IT?	K DID		HOW MUCH
	Hone Last Ward	clay izat	Clays hout	deve lent		Exity day japi		IN ONE DAY?
Refried beans	0	0	Ó	0	0	O		
Hamburgers, cheeseburgers	0	0	0	0	0	0		0 0 0
Hot dogs, corn dogs, or sausage	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Lunch meat like boloney, ham, Lunchables	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Pizza or pizza pockets	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	
Spaghetti or ravioli with tomato sauce	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Macaroni and cheese	Q	0	0	0	-0	0		
Chicken, including nuggets, wings, tenders, also in sandwiches or stew	0	0	0	0	0	0		A little Some A lot
Fish, fish sticks or sandwiches, tuna, shrimp	.0	0	0	0	0	0		O O O A little Some A lot
Burritos or tacos	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0 0 0
Beef like roast, steak or in sandwiches	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Meat balls, meat loaf, beef stew, Hamburger Helper	0	0	Q	0	0	0		O O O A little Some A lot
Pork, like chops, roast, ribs	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Popcom	0	0	Ò	0	0	0		
Snack chips like potato chips, Doritos, Fritos, tortilla chips	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	A few Small bagLarde b
Ice cream	O	0	0	0	0	0		
Candy, candy bars	0	0	0	0	-0	0	•	O O O
Cookies, donuts, cakes like Ho-Hos	0	0	0	0	0¢	0		
Cheese. Remember cheese in sandwiches or nachos with cheese or guesadillas	0	0	0	0	o	0		O O O 1 slice 2 slices 3+ slice
Whole wheat bread or rolls (NOT white bread)	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	O O O 1 stice 2 slices 3 slice
What kind of cereal did you eat? (MARI Plain Cheerios, Grape Nuts, Shred Honey Nut Cheerios, Cap'ri Crunch Raisin Bran Other sweet cereals, like Frosted F Any other cereal, like Corn Flakes, What kind of milk did you drink? (MARK ONLY ONE)	K THE Of ded Whe h, Lucky C lakes, Fro Rice Kris Whole mi Reduced milk	NE YOU at, Whea Charms, I cot Loop pies lk fat 2%	ATE TH ties, Wh Life, Gol s O Low O Non	E MOS leat Ch den Gr fat 1% fat milk	milk C	Choo Soy r	ed M colate milk	ini Wheats, e milk ○ Lactaid m ○ Don't know
Please tell us about yourself			_		_			
Are you O O He	blo wo	02 0	3 C	4 C	5 C	06 0	07	08 09 0

	HOM	YOU	EAT O	S LAS	T WEE	K DID	HOW MUCH
	None fast week	t clay fant	daya last	J-4 Uzys Nest		Every day fast	IN ONE DAY?
Refried beans	0	O	O	O	0	O	
Hamburgers, cheeseburgers	0	0	0	0	-0	0	
Hot dogs, com dogs, or sausage	0	0	0	0	0	0	► 0 0 0
Lunch meat like boloney, ham, Lunchables	0.	0	0	0	0	0	
Pizza or pizza pockets	Ö	0	0	0	0	0	
Spaghetti or ravioli with tomato sauce	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Macaroni and cheese	0	0	9	0	0	0	
Chicken, including nuggets, wings, tenders, also in sandwiches or stew	0	0	0	0	10	0	
Fish, fish sticks or sandwiches, tuna,	.0	0	0	0	0	0	
Burritos or tacos	10	0	0	0	0	0	► 0 0 0
Beef like roast, steak or in sandwiches	Ó	0	0	0	0	0	0 0 0
Meat balls, meat loaf, beef stew, Hamburger Helper	0	0	Ö	0	0	0	A little Some A lot
Pork, like chops, roast, ribs	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Popcom	0	0	Ö.	0	10.00 M	0	
Snack chips like potato chips, Doritos, Fritos, tortilla chips	0	0	0	0	0	0	A few Small begLarge bi
lce cream	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Candy, candy bars	0	0	0	0	0	0	Mini Small Large
Cookies, donuts, cakes like Ho-Hos	O	0	0	0	0	0	
Cheese. Remember cheese in sandwiches or nachos with cheese or nuesadillas	0	0	Ó	0	0	0	► O O O 1 alice 2 slices 3+ slice
Whole wheat bread or rolls (NOT white bread)	0	0	0	0	Q	0	I silce 2 slices 3 slices
What kind of cereal did you eat? (MARH Plain Cheerios, Grape Nuts, Shredd Honey Nut Cheerios, Cap'n Crunch Raisin Bran Other sweet cereals, like Frosted F Any other cereal, like Corn Flakes, What kind of milk did you drink? (MARK ONLY ONE)	K THE ONE ded Wheat h, Lucky Ch lakes, Froc Rice Krispi Whole milk Reduced fa milk	E YOU / , Wheat harms, L ot Loops ies at 2%	ATE TH ties, Wh .ife, Gol s O Low O Non	E MOS leat Chi den Gra fat 1% fat milk	T OF) ex, Kix ahams, milk ⊂	Froste Choco Soy n	olate milk O Lactaid mi nilk O Don't knov
Please tell us about vourself							

The Parenting Stress Index-Short Form

1.	I often have the feeling that I cannot handle things very well.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
2	I find myself giving up more of my life to meet my children's needs than I ever expected.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
3.	I feel trapped by my responsibilities as a parent.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
4.	Since having this child, I have been unable to do new and different things.	SA	Α	NS	D	SD
5.	Since having a child, I feel that I am almost never able to do things that I like to do.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
6.	I am unhappy with the last purchase of clothing I made for myself.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
7.	There are quite a few things that bother me about my life.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
8.	Having a child has caused more problems than I expected in my relationship with my spouse (or male/female friend).	SA	A	NS	D	SD
9.	I feel alone and without friends.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
10.	When I go to a party, I usually expect not to enjoy myself.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
11.	I am not as interested in people as I used to be.	SA	Α	NS	D	SD
12.	1 don't enjoy things as I used to.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
13.	My child rarely does things for me that make me feel good.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
14.	Sometimes I feel my child doesn't like me and doesn't want to be close to me.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
15.	My child smiles at me much less than I expected.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
16.	When I do things for my child, I get the feeling that my efforts are not appreciated very much.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
17.	When playing, my child doesn't often giggle or laugh.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
18.	My child doesn't seem to learn as quickly as most children.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
19.	My child doesn't seem to smile as much as most children.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
20.	My child is not able to do as much as I expected.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
21.	It takes a long time and it is very hard for my child to get used to new things.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
For	the next statement, choose your requires from the choices "1" to "5" helow					
22.	I feel that I am: 1 not very good at being a parent 2. a person who has some trouble being a parent 3. an average parent	1	2	3	4	5
	 a better than average parent a very good parent 					
23.	I expected to have closer and warmer feelings for my child than I do and this bothers me.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
24.	Sometimes my child does things that bother me just to be mean.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
25.	My child seems to cry or fuss more often than most children.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
26.	My child generally wakes up in a bad mood.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
27.	I feel that my child is very moody and easily upset.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
28.	My child does a few things which bother me a great deal.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
29.	My child reacts very strongly when something happens that my child doesn't like.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
30,	My child gets upset easily over the smallest thing.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
31.	My child's sleeping or eating schedule was much harder to establish than I expected.	SA	A	NS	D	SD
For 32.	the next statement, choose your response from the choices "1" to "5" below. I have found that getting my child to do something or stop doing something is:	1	2	3	4	5
	 somewhat harder than I expected about as hard as I expected somewhat easier than I expected 					
	5. much easier than I expected					
For 33,	the next statement, choose your response from the choices "10+" to "1-3." Think carefully and count the number of things which your child does that bother you.	10+	8-9	6-7	4-5	1-3
34	There are some things my shild does that really bother me a lat	SA	۵	NS	D	SD
35	My child turned out to be more of a problem than I had evoluted	SA	A	NG	D	SD
36	My child makes more demands on me than most children	SA	Å	NS	D	SD
-		Un		110	-	
74	• 10204 N. Florida Ave. • Lutz, FL 33549 • 1.800.331.8378 • www.parinc.com					1000

Saturday Activity Log

Please record the amount of time your child spends in engaging in computer, TV, or video game time. Also list time spent in any other activity requiring little to no physical activity.

*Reminder: place the pedometer on your child when he/she first wakes up

<u>Morning</u>	<u>Afternoon</u>	Evening
		100.0
	-	
	Morning	Morning Afternoon

Please record the final pedometer reading, taken after your child gets in the bed at the end of the day: _____

Thank you!

APPENDIX E: FEASIBILITY AND ACCEPTABILITY QUESTIONNAIRES

Program Acceptability Questionnaire*

Please answer these questions that deal with your reactions to the proposed parent training program. Circle the number that best describes your reactions.

- 1. Overall, did you like this parenting program, meaning you found it acceptable?
 - a. Completely not acceptable
 - b. Somewhat not acceptable
 - c. Neither acceptable nor not acceptable (neutral)
 - d. Somewhat acceptable
 - e. Very acceptable
 - 2. If this intervention was not acceptable, why?
 - 3. Do you think the parenting information and skills taught in this parenting program would be helpful and effective for preschool aged youth?
 - a. Really unhelpful
 - b. A little unhelpful
 - c. Not helpful but not unhelpful
 - d. A little helpful
 - e. Very helpful
 - 4. How likely is this parent program to have a negative impact on parents like you?
 - a. Very likely
 - b. A little likely
 - c. Neither likely nor unlikely (neutral)
 - d. A little unlikely
 - e. Unlikely
 - 5. How likely are you to recommend this program to a friend?
 - a. Never
 - b. Unlikely
 - c. Not unlikely but not likely
 - d. A little likely
 - e. Absolutely likely
 - 6. Was coming to weekly meetings for 8 weeks reasonable?
 - a. Not reasonable at all
 - b. A little not reasonable
 - c. Not reasonable, but not unreasonable
 - d. A little reasonable
 - e. Very reasonable
 - 7. Please provide any other comments that would be helpful to the study team:

*Adapted from Hunsley, J. (1992). Development of the treatment acceptability questionnaire. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 14, 55-64.

H.O.U.S.E. Skills Questionnaire

- 1. A key take-home message from the H.O.U.S.E program is that
 - a. Parents are never allowed to make mistakes
 - b. Remaining calm during a stressful experience is an important parenting skill
 - c. Routines do not help household management
 - d. Nagging and yelling are the best way to discipline
- 2. Meals are best for kids when they are:
 - a. Full of complaints about the food present to eat
 - b. Regular and pleasant
 - c. At a table cluttered with lots of stuff
 - d. A time when kids can sit in front of the TV and chill out
- 3. Based on the "Emotional Ladder" skill, when you notice yourself very stressed and at the "top of your ladder" you should:
 - a. Put your child in time-out
 - b. Use a skill that works for you to calm down, so you can handle the situation better
 - c. Yell until whoever has upset you gets the point
 - d. Reason things out immediately, even though you're very upset
- 4. To increase a decrease a behavior your child does that you don't like you can:
 - a. Reward your child when they don't do the behavior
 - b. Punish your child for doing the behavior
 - c. Tell them to stop then walk away
 - d. Both a and b
- 5. To encourage your child to eat a new, healthy food, you should:
 - a. Tell them to eat it or they will have to go to time out
 - b. Offer the food with two familiar foods that they like and encourage/model trying a bite of the new food
 - c. Only let them have a food they like if they try the new food
 - d. Tell your child you will punish them if they don't try the new food
- 6. What is a parent's job at mealtime?
 - a. Make your child clear their plate
 - b. Offer several healthy choices and let your child choose from them
 - c. Offer three new food items all at once
 - d. Let your child have whatever he/she wants
- 7. Please select a reason that children eat, other than for hunger:
 - a. Boredom
 - b. Sadness
 - c. Anger
 - d. All of the above

REFERENCES

- 1. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. § 18001. 2010
- 2. Abidin R. 1990. *The Parenting Stress Index-Short Form*. Charlottesville, VA: Pediatric Psychology Press
- Abidin R. 2004. Parenting Stress Index. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- 4. Achenbach TM, Rescorla LA. 2000. *Manual for the ASEBA Preschool Forms & Profiles*. Burlington: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families
- Agras WS, Hammer LD, McNicholas F, Kraemer HC. 2004. Risk factors for childhood overweight: A prospective study from birth to 9.5 years. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 145:20-5
- 6. Agras WS, Telch CF. 1998. The effects of caloric deprivation and negative affect on binge eating in binge-eating disordered women. *Behavior Therapy* 29:491-503
- Alfarahdi MZ, Ozanne SE. 2011. Developmental programming in response to maternal overnutrition. In *Frontiers in Genetics*, p. 13 pages
- 8. Allen KL, Byrne SM, Blair EM, Davis EA. 2006. Why do some overweight children experience psychological problems? The role of weight and shape concerns. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity* 1:239-47
- Allison DB, Kaprio J, Korkeila M, Koskenvuo M, Neale MC, Hayakawa K. 1996. The heritability of body mass index among an international sample of monozygotic twins reared apart. *International Journal of Obesity* 20:501-6
- 10. American Psychiatric Association (5th ed.). 2013. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Arlington, V.A.: American Psychiatric Publishing
- Anderson CB, Hughes SO, Fisher JO, Nicklas TA. 2005. Cross-cultural equivalence of feeding beliefs and practices: The psychometric properties of the child feeding questionnaire among Blacks and Hispanics. *Preventative Medicine* 41:521-31
- Anthony LG, Anthony BJ, Glanville DN, Naiman DQ, Waanders C, Shaffer S. 2005. The relationships between parenting stress, parenting behaviour, and preschoolers' social competence and behavior problems in the classroom. *Infant* and Child Development 14:133-54
- Ardelt M, Eccles JS. 2001. Effects of mothers' parental efficacy beliefs and promotive parenting strategies on inner-city youth. *Journal of Family Stress* 22:944-72
- Asbee SM, Jenkins TR, Butler JR, White J, Elliot M, Rutledge A. 2009. Preventing excessive weight gain during pregnancy through dietary and lifestyle counseling: A randomized controlled trial. Obstetetrics & Gynecology 113:305-12
- Ashcroft J, Semmler C, Carnell S, Van Jaarsveld CHM, Wardle J. 2008. Continuity and stability of eating behaviour traits in children. *European Journal* of Clinical Nutrition 62:985-90
- 16. Bandura A. 1977. Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall
- 17. Bandura A. 1986. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, Inc

- 18. Bandura A. 1997. *Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control*. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company
- Barkley RA. 1997. Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions: Constructing a unifying theory of ADHD. *Psychological Bulletin* 121:65-94
- 20. Battista M-C, Hivert M-F, Duval K, Baillargeon J-P. 2011. Intergenerational cycle of obesity and diabetes: How can we reduce the burdens of these conditions on the health of future generations? In *Experimental Diabetes Research*
- 21. Baumeister H, Harter M. 2007. Mental disorders in patients with obesity in comparison to healthy probands. *International Journal of Obesity* 31:1155-64
- Bellisle F, Clement K, Le Barzic M, Le Gall A, Guy-Grand B, Basdevant A. 2004. The Eating Inventory and body adiposity from leanness to massive obesity: A study of 2509 adults. *Obesity Research* 12:2023-30
- Benton D. 2004. Role of parents in the determination of food preferences of children and the development of obesity. *International Journal of Obesity* 28:858-69
- 24. Berkowitz R, Stunkard AJ, Stallings VA. 1993. Binge-eating disorder in obese adolescent girls. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 699:200-6
- 25. Birch LL, Deysher M. 1986. Caloric compensation and sensory specific satiety: Evidence for self regulation of food intake by young children. *Appetite* 7:323-31
- Birch LL, Fisher JO, Grimm-Thomas K, Markey CN, Sawyer R, Johnson SL. 2001. Confirmatory factor analysis of the Child Feeding Questionnaire: A measure of parental attitudes, beliefs and practices about child feeding and obesity proneness. *Appetite* 36:201–10.
- 27. Bjerkeset O, Romundstad P, Evans J, Gunnell D. 2008. Association of adult body mass index and height with anxiety, depression, and suicide in the general population: The HUNT study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 167:193-202
- Blissett J, Haycraft E, Farrow C. 2010. Inducing preschool children's emotional eating: Relations with parental feeding practices. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 92:359-65
- 29. Block G, Wakimoto, Block T. 1998. A revision of the Block Dietary Questionnaire and database, based on NHANES III data. nutritionquest.com
- Bluford DAA, Sherry B, Scanlon KS. 2007. Interventions to prevent or treat obesity in preschool children: A review of evaluated programs. *Obesity* 15:1356-72
- Blumenthal DS, Sung J, Coates R, WIlliams JE, Liff J. 1995. Recruitment and retention of subjects for a longitudinal cancer prevention study in an inner-city black community. *Health Services Research* 30:197-205
- Bocca G, Corpeleijn E, Stolk RP, Sauer PJJ. 2012. Results of a multidisciplinary treatment program in 3-year-old to 5-year-old overweight or obese children. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 166:1109-15
- 33. Borra ST, Kelly L, Shirreffs MB, Neville K, Geiger CJ. 2003. Developing health messages: Qualitative studies with children, parents, and teachers help identify communications opportunities for healthful lifestyles and the prevention of obesity. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 103:721-8

- Braet C, Mervielde I, Vandereycken W. 1997. Pychological aspects of childhood obesity: A controlled study in a clinical and non-clinical sample. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 22:59-71
- Brody GH, Ge X. 2001. Linking parenting processes and self-regulation to psychological functioning and alcohol use during early adolescence. *Journal of Family Psychology* 15:82-94
- Brown R, Ogden J. 2004. Children's eating attitudes and behaviour: A study of the modelling and control theories of parental influence. *Health Education Research Theory and Practice* 19:261-71
- Brownson RC, Boehmer TK, Luke DA. 2005. Declining rates of physical activity in the United States: What Are the Contributors? Annual Review of Public Health 26:421-43
- Burrows A, Cooper M. 2002. Possible risk factors for the development of eating disorders in overweight pre-adolescent girls. *International Journal of Obesity* 26:1268-73
- Cain DS, Combs-Orme T. 2005. Family structure effects on parenting stress and practices in the African American family. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare* 32:19-40
- Campbell K, Hesketh K, Crawford D, Salmon J, Ball K, McCallum Z. 2008. The Infant Feeding Activity and Nutrition Trial (INFANT) an early intervention to prevent childhood obesity: Cluster-randomised controlled trial. BMC Public Health 8:103
- 41. Campbell M, Benton JM, Werk LN. 2011. Parent perceptions to promote a healthier lifestyle for their obese child. *Social Work in Health Care* 50:787-800
- 42. Carnell S, Wardle J. 2007. Measuring behavioural susceptibility to obesity: Validation of the child eating behaviour questionnaire. *Appetite* 48:104-13
- 43. Carnell S, Wardle J. 2008. Appetite and adiposity in children: Evidence for a behavioral susceptibility theory of obesity. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 88:22-9
- 44. Carper JL, Fisher JO, Birch LL. 2000. Young girls' emerging dietary restraint Appetite 35:121-9
- 45. Caspersen CJ, Merritt RK. 1995. Physical activity trends among 26 states, 1986-1990. Medicine and Science in Sports & Exercise 27:713-20
- 46. Cassidy O, Sbrocco T, Vannucci A, Nelson B, Jackson-Bowen D, Heimdal J, et al. 2013. Adapting interpersonal psychotherapy for the prevention of excessive weight gain in rural African American girls. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 38:965-77
- Catalano PM, Farrell K, Thomas A, Huston-Presley L, Mencin P, Hauguel de Mouzon S, et al. 2009. Perinatal risk factors for childhood obesity and metabolic dysregulation. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 90:1303-13
- 48. CDC. 2000. BMI for age 2000 data. http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/growthcharts/resources/
- Cecil JE, Tavendale R, Watt P, Hetherington MM, Palmer CNA. 2008. An obesity-associated FTO gene variant and increased energy intake in children. New England Journal of Medicine 359:2558-66
- 50. US Census Bureau. 2010. 2007-2011 American Community Survey.

- Champagne CM, Baker NB, Delany JP, Harsha DW, Bray GA. 1998. Assessment of energy intake under reporting by doubly labeled water and observations on reported nutrient intakes in children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 98:426-33
- 52. Christakis NA, Fowler JH. 2007. The spread of obesity in a large social network over 32 years. *New England Journal of Medicine* 357:370-9
- Cohen-Cole E, Fletcher JM. 2008. Is obesity contagious? Social networks vs. environmental factors in the obesity epidemic. *Journal of Health Economics* 27:1382-7
- 54. Cohen J, Cohen P. 1983. Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioural sciences. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Cohen S, Janicki-Deverts D. 2012. Who's stressed? Distributions of psychological stress in the United States in probability samples from 1983, 2006 and 2009. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 42:1320-34
- 56. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. 1983. A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 24:385-96
- Cohen S, Williamson G. 1998. Perceived Stress in a Probability Sample of the United States. In *The Social Psychology of Health*, ed. S Spacapan, S Oskamp:31-67. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- 58. Cole PM, Michel MK, Teti LO. 1994. The development of emotion regulation and dysregulation: A clinical perspective. *Monographs for the Society of Research in Child Development* 59:73-100
- 59. Cole TJ, Faith MS, Pietrobelli A, Heo M. 2005. What is the best measure of adiposity change in growing children: BMI, BMI %, BMI z-score or BMI centile? *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 59:419-25
- Conger RD, Ge X, Elder GH, Lorenz FO, Simons RL. 1994. Economic stress, coercive family process, and developmental problems of adolescents. *Child Development* 65:541-61
- Conger RD, Wallace LE, Sun Y, Simons RL, McLoyd VC, Brod G, H, 2002. Economic pressure in African American families: A replication and extension of the family stress model. *Developmental Psychology* 38:179-93
- 62. Congress S---r. 1993. National Institutes of Health Revitalization Act of 1993. In <u>www.GovTrack.us</u>.
- 63. Conrad B, Gross D, Fogg L, Ruchala P. 1992. Maternal confidence, knowledge, and quality of mother-child interactions: A preliminary study. *Infant Mental Health Journal* 13:353-62
- 64. Coolahan K, McWayne C, Fantuzzo J, Grim S. 2002. Validation of a multidimensional assessment of parenting styles for low-income African-American families with preschool children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 17:356-73
- 65. Cortina JM. 1993. What is alpha coefficient? An examination of theory and application. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 78:98-104
- 66. Crandall CS, Martinez R. 1996. Culture, idealogy, and antifat attitudes. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 22:1165-76
- 67. Crnic KA, Gaze C, Hoffman C. 2005. Cumulative parenting stress across the preschool period: Relations to maternal parenting and child behavior at age 5. *Infant and Child Development* 14:117-32

- Crnic KA, Greenberg M. 1990. Minor parenting stress with young children. Child Development 61:1628-37
- Croker H, Cooke L, Wardle J. 2011. Appetitive behaviours of children attending obesity treatment. Appetite 57:525-9
- Crouter AC, Bumpus MF, Maguire MC, McHale SM. 1999. Linking parents' work pressure and adolescents' well-being: Insights into dynamics in dual-earner families. *Developmental Psychology* 35:1453-61
- 71. Cummins S, Macintyre S. 2006. Food environments and obesity neighborhood or nation? *International Journal of Epidemiology* 35:100-4
- 72. Cutting TM, Fisher JO, Grimm-Thomas K, Birch LL. 1999. Like mother, like daughter, familial patterns of overweight are mediated by mothers' dietary disinhibition. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 69:608-13
- 73. Czaja J, Rief W, Hilbert A. 2009. Emotion regulation and binge eating in children. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 42:356-62
- 74. Daniels LA, Magarey A, Battistutta D, Nicholson JM, Farrell A, et al. 2009. The NOURISH randomised control trial: Positive feeding practices and food preferences in early childhood - A primary prevention program for childhood obesity. BMC Public Health 9:387
- Dawe S, Loxton NJ. 2004. The role of impulsivity in the development of substance use and eating disorders. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 28:343-51
- 76. de Kroon ML, Renders CM, Buskermolen MP, van Wouwe JP, van Buren S, Hirasing RA. 2011. The Terneuzen Birth Cohort. Longer exclusive breastfeeding duration is associated with leaner body mass and a healthier diet in young adulthood. In *BioMed Central Pediatrics*, p. 33
- de Montigny F, Lacharité C. 2004. Perceived parental efficacy: Concept analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing 49:387-96
- de Zwaan M. 2001. Binge eating disorder and obesity. International Journal of Obesity 25:S51-S5
- Deater-Deckard K. 1998. Parenting stress and child adjustment: Some old hypotheses and new questions. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice* 5:314-32
- Decaluwé V, Braet C. 2003. Prevalence of binge-eating disorder in obese children and adolescents seeking weight-loss treatment. *International Journal of Obesity* 27:404-9
- DeGarmo DS, Patterson GR, Forgatch MS. 2004. How do outcomes in a specified parent training intervention maintain or wane over time? *Prevention Science* 5:73-89
- Dennison BA, Russo TJ, Burdick PA, Jenkins PL. 2004. An intervention to reduce television viewing by preschool children. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine 158:170-6
- 83. Dietz WH. 1994. Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 59:955-9
- Dietz WH. 1996. Early influences on body weight regulation. In Regulation of Body Weight- Biological and Behavioral Mechanisms, ed. C Bouchard, GA Bray:149-58. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

- Doak CM, Visscher TLS, Renders CM, Seidell JC. 2006. The prevention of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: A review of interventions and programmes. *Obesity Reviews* 7:111-36
- 86. Dollman J, Norton K, Norton L. 2005. Evidence for secular trends in children's physical activity behaviour. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 39:892-7
- 87. Drewnowski A. 2007. The real contribution of added sugars and fats to obesity. *Epidemiologic Reviews* 29:160-71
- Dubois L, Farmer A, Girard M, Peterson K. 2007. Regular sugar-sweetened beverage consumption between meals increases risk of overweight among preschool-aged children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 107:924-34
- 89. Edmunds LD. 2005. Parents' perceptions of health professionals' responses when seeking help for thier overweight children. *Family Practice* 22:287-92
- 90. Eisenberg N, Cumberland A, Spinrad TL, Fabes RA, Shepard SA, Reiser M, et al. 2001. The relations of regulation and emotionality to children's externalizing and internalizing problem behavior. *Child Development* 72:1112-34
- 91. Eisenberg N, Fabes RA, Shepard SA, Murphy BC, Guthrie IK, Jones S, et al. 1997. Contemporaneous and longitudinal predication of children's social functioning from regulation and emotionality. *Child Development* 68:642-64
- 92. Eisenberg N, Zhou Q, Spinrad TL, Valiente C, Fabes RA, Liew J. 2005. Relations among positive parenting, children's effortful control, and externalizing problems: A three-wave longitudinal study. *Child Development* 76:1055-71
- 93. El-Khorazaty MN, Johnson AA, Kiely M, El-Mohandes AAE, Subramanian S, Laryea HA, et al. 2007. Recruitment and retention of low-income minority women in a behavioral intervention to reduce smoking, depression, and intimate partner violence during pregnancy. *BMC Public Health* 7:233
- 94. Eldredge KL, Agras S. 1996. Weight and shape overconcern and emotional eating in binge eating disorder. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 19:73-82
- 95. Elliott CA, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Columbo KM, Wolkoff LE, Ranzenhofer LM, et al. 2010. An examination of the interpersonal model of loss of control eating in children and adolescents. *Behavior Research and Therapy* 48:424-8
- Epstein LH, Myers MD, Raynor HA, Saelens BE. 1998. Treatment of pediatric obesity. *Pediatrics* 101:554-70
- Epstein LH, Paluch RA, Gordy CC, Saelens BE, Ernst MM. 2000. Problem solving in the treatment of childhood obesity. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 68:717-21
- Epstein LH, Paluch RA, Roemmich JN, Beecher MD. 2007. Family-based obesity treatment, then and now: Twenty-five years of pediatric obesity treatment. *Health Psychology* 26:381-91
- Epstein LH, Paluch RH, Gordy CC, Dorn J. 2000. Decreasing sedentary behaviors in treating pediatric obesity. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 154:220-6
- 100. Epstein LH, Roemmich JN, Robinson JL, Paluch RA, Winiewicz DD, Fuerch JH. 2008. A randomized trial of the effects of reducing television viewing and computer use on body mass index in young children. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 162:239-45

- 101. Epstein LH, Squires S. 1988. The Stop-Light Diet for Children: An Eight-Week Program for Parents and Children. Boston: Little, B. 232 pp.
- Epstein LH, Valoski A, Wing RR, McCurley J. 1994. Ten-year outcomes of behavioral family-based treatment for childhood obesity. *Health Psychology* 13:373-83
- Epstein LH, Wing RR, Koeske R, Valoski A. 1984. Effects of diet plus exercise on weight change in parents and children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 52:429–37
- Erikson SJ, Robinson TN, Haydel KF, Killen JD. 2000. Are overweight children unhappy? Body mass index, depressive symptoms, and overweight concerns in elementary school children Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine 154:931-5
- Ervin RB, Kit BK, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. 2012. Consumption of Added Sugar Among U.S. Children and Adolescents, 2005–2008. In NCHS Data Brief. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics
- 106. Evans WD, Finkelstein EA, Kamerow DB, Renaud JM. 2005. Public perceptions of childhood obesity. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 28:26-32
- 107. Faith MS, Allison DB, Geliebter A. 1997. Emotional Eating and Obesity: Theoretical Considerations and Practical Recommendations. In Overweight and Weight Management: The Health Professional's Guide to Understanding and Practice, ed. S Dalton:439-40. Gaithersberg: Aspen Publishers, Inc.
- 108. Faith MS, Berkowitz RI, Stallings VA, Kerns J, Storey M, Stunkard A. 2004. Parental feeding attitudes and styles and child body mass index: Prospective analysis of a gene-environment interaction. *Pediatrics* 114:e429-e6
- Faith MS, Berkowitz RI, Stallings VA, Kerns J, Storey M, Stunkard AJ. 2006. Eating in the absence of hunger: A genetic marker for childhood obesity in prepubertal boys? *Obesity* 14:131-8
- 110. Faith MS, Keller KL, Johnson SL, Pietrobelli A, Matz PE, Must S, et al. 2004. Familial aggregation of energy intake in children. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 79:844-50
- 111. Faith MS, Leone MA, Ayers TS, Moonseong H, Pietrobelli A. 2002. Weight criticism during physical activity, coping skills, and reported physical activity in children. *Pediatrics* 110:e23
- 112. Faith MS, Scanlon KS, Birch LL, Francis LA, Sherry B. 2004. Parent-child feeding strategies and their relationships to child eating and weight status. *Obesity Research* 12:1711-22
- 113. Field AE, Austin SB, Taylor CB, Malspeis S, Rosner B, Rockett HR, et al. 2003. Relation between dieting and weight change among preadolescents and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 112:900-6
- 114. Field AE, Camargo CA, Taylor CB, Berkey CS, Frazier AL, Gillman MW, et al. 1999. Overweight, weight concerns, and bulimic behaviors among girls and boys. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry 38:754-60
- 115. Field AE, Cook NR, Gillman MW. 2005. Weight status in childhood as a predictor of becoming overweight or hypertensive in early adulthood. Obesity Research 13:163-9
- Finkelstein EA, Fiebelkorn IC, Wang G. 2004. State-level estimates of annual medical expenditures attributable to obesity. *Obesity Research* 12:18-24

- 117. Fischer S, Smith GT, Cyders M. 2008. Another look at impulsivity: A metaanalytic review comparing specific dispositions to rash action in their relationship to bulimic symptoms. *Clinical Psychology Review* 28:1413-25
- Fisher JO, Birch L. 1999. Restricting access to palatable foods affects children's behavioral response, food selection, and intake. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 69:1264-72
- 119. Fisher JO, Birch LL. 2002. Eating in the absence of hunger and overweight in girls from 5 to 7 y of age. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 76:226-31
- 120. Fisher JO, Cai G, Jaramillo SJ, Cole SA, Comuzzie AG, Butte NF. 2007. Heritability of hyperphagic eating behavior and appetite-related hormones among Hispanic children. Obesity 15:1484-95
- Fisher JO, Johnson RK, Lindquist C, Birch LL, Goran MI. 2000. Influence of Body Composition on the Accuracy of Reported Energy Intake in Children. Obesity 8:597-603
- Fisher JO, Liu YL, Birch LL, Rolls BJ. 2007. Effects of portion size and energy density on young children's intake at a meal. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 86:174-9
- Fisher JO, Mitchell DC, Smiciklas-Wright H, Birch LL. 2002. Parental influences on young girls' fruit and vegetable, micronutrient, and fat intakes. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 102:58-64
- 124. Fitzgibbon ML, Stolley MR, Schiffer L, Van Horn L, KauferChristoffel L, Dyer A. 2005. Two-year follow-up results for Hip-Hop to Health Jr.: A randomized controlled trial for overweight prevention in preschool minority children. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 146:618-25
- Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Curtin LR. 2010. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2008. Journal of the American Medical Association 303:235-41
- Flier JS. 2004. Obesity wars: Molecular progress confronts an expanding epidemic. *Cell* 116:337-50
- Flodmark C-E, Ohlsson T, Ryden O, Sveger T. 1993. Prevention of progression to severe obesity in a group of obese school children treated with family therapy. *Pediatrics* 91:880-4
- 128. Flynn MA, K. H, Noack A, Clovechok S, Enns E, Pivnick J, et al. 2005. Promotion of healthy weights at preschool public health vaccination clinics in Calgary: An obesity surveillance program. *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 96:421-6
- 129. Fogelholm M, Nuutinen O, Pasanen M, MyoÈhaÈnen E, SaÈaÈtela T. 1999. Parent-child relationship of physical activity patterns and obesity. *International Journal of Obesity* 23:1262-8
- 130. Frayling TM, Timpson NJ, Weedon MN, Zeggini E, Freathy RM, Lindgren CM, et al. 2007. A common variant in the FTO gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. *Science* 316:889-94
- Galambos NL, Sears H, Almeida DM, Kolaric GC. 1995. Parents' work overload and problem behavior in young adolescents. *Journal of Research on Adolescents* 5:201-23
- 132. Gillis CL, Lee KA, Gutierrez Y, Taylor D, Beyene Y, Neuhaus J, et al. 2001. Recruitment and retention of healthy minority women into community-based

longitudinal research. Journal of Women's Health and Gender-Based Medicine 10:77-85

- Glasofer DR, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Eddy KT, Yanovski SZ, Theim KR, Mirch MC, et al. 2007. Binge eating in overweight treatment-seeking adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 32:95-105
- Golan M, Crow S. 2004. Targeting parents exclusively in the treatment of childhood obesity: Long-term results. *Obesity Research* 12:357-61
- Golan M, Kaufman V, Shahar DR. 2006. Childhood obesity treatment: Targeting parents exclusively v. parents and children. *British Journal of Nutrition* 95:1008-15
- Golan M, Weizman A. 2001. Familial approach to childhood obesity: Conceptual model. Journal of Nutrition Education 33:102-7
- Golan M, Weizman A, Apter A, Fainaru M. 1998. Parents as the exclusive agents of change in the treatment of childhood obesity. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 67:1130-8
- Goossens L, Braet C, Decaluwé V. 2007. Loss of control over eating in obese youngsters. *Behavior Research and Therapy* 45:1-9
- Goran MI, Ball GDC, Cruz ML. 2003. Obesity and risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in children and adolescents. *Cardiovascular Endocrinology 2* 88:1417-27
- Graziano AM, Diament DM. 1992. Parent behavioral training: An examination of the paradigm. *Behavior Modification* 16:3-38
- Graziano PA, Calkins SD, Keans SP. 2010. Toddler self-regulation skills predict risk for pediatric obesity. *International Journal of Obesity* 34:633-41
- Griffiths LJ, Dezateux C, Hill A. 2010. Is obesity associated with emotional and behavioural problems in children? Findings from the Millennium Cohort Study. International Journal of Obesity 6:e423-e32
- Grilo CM, Masheb RM. 2000. Onset of dieting vs binge eating in outpatients with binge eating disorder. *International Journal of Obesity* 24:404-9
- 144. Grilo CM, Masheb RM, Wilson GT. 2005. Efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy and fluoxetine for the treatment of binge eating disorder: A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled comparison. *Biological Psychiatry* 57:301-9
- 145. Gross D, Fogg L, Webster-Stratton C, Garvey C, Julion W, Grady J, et al. 2003. Parent training of toddlers in day care in low-income urban communities. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 71:261-78
- Gross D, Garvey C, Julion W, Fogg L, Tucker S, Mokros H. 2009. Efficacy of the Chicago Parent Program with low-income African American and Latino parents of young children. *Prevention Science* 10:54-65
- Gross D, Rocissano L. 1988. Maternal confidence in toddlerhood: Its measurement in clinical practice and research. *Nurse Practitioner* 13:19-31
- 148. Gross D, Sambrook A, Fogg L. 1999. Behavior problems among young children in low-income urban day care centers. *Research in Nursing & Health* 22:15-25
- 149. Guelinckx I, Devlieger R, Mullie P, Vansant G. 2010. Effect of lifestyle intervention on dietary habits, physical activity, and gestational weight gain in obese pregnant women: A randomized controlled trial. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 91:373-80

- 150. Haire-Joshu D, Elliott MB, Caito NC, Hessler K, Nanney MS, Hale N, et al. 2008. High 5 for Kids: The impact of a home visiting program on fruit and vegetable intake of parents and their preschool children. *Preventative Medicine* 47:77-82
- Hardeman W, Griffin S, Johnston M, Kinmonth AL, Wareham NJ. 2000. Interventions to prevent weight gain: A systematic review of psychological models and behaviour change methods. *International Journal of Obesity* 24:131-43
- Harnack LJ, Jeffery RW, Boutelle KN. 2000. Temporal trends in energy intake in the United States: An ecologic perspective. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 71:1478-84
- 153. Harriss MB, Washull S, Walters L. 1990. Feeling fat: Motivations, knowledge, and attitudes of overweight women and men. *Psychological Reports* 3:1191-202
- Harvey-Berino J, Rourke J. 2003. Obesity prevention in preschool Native-American children: A pilot study using home visiting. *Obesity Research* 11:606-11
- 155. Haycraft E, Farrow C, Meyer C, Powell F, Blissett J. 2011. Relationships between temperament and eating behaviours in young children. *Appetite* 56:689-92
- Heatherton TF, Baumeister RF. 1991. Binge eating as an escape from selfawareness. Psychological Bulletin 110:86-108
- Hernandez RG, Cheng TL, Serwint JR. 2010. Parents' healthy weight perceptions and preferences regarding obesity counseling in preschoolers: Pediatricians matter. *Clinical Pediatrics* 49:790-8
- Hill JO, Llewellyn CH, Saxton J, Webber L, Semmler C, Carnell S, et al. 2008. Adiposity and 'eating in the absence of hunger' in children. *International Journal* of Obesity 32:1499-505
- Hill JO, Wyatt HR, Reed GW, Peters JC. 2003. Obesity and the environment: Where do we go from here? Science 299:853-5
- Horn IB, Cheng TL, Joseph J. 2004. Discipline in the African American community: The impact of socioeconomic status on beliefs and practices. *Pediatrics* 113:1236-41
- Hunsberger M, O'Malley J, Block T, Norris JC. 2012. Relative validation of Block Kids Food Screener for dietary assessment in children and adolescents. *Maternal & Child Nutrition* doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8709.2012.00446.x
- Ibáñez L, Ong K, Dunger DB, de Zegher F. 2006. Early development of adiposity and insulin resistance after catch-up weight gain in small-for-gestational-age children. *Endocrine Care* 91:2153-8
- 163. Institute of Medicine. 2002. Estimated calorie needs per day by age, gender, and physical activity level. ed. c Dietary reference intakes for energy, fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol, protein, and amino acids Washington, DC: The National Academies Press
- Israel AC, Guile CA, Baker JE, Silverman WK. 1994. An evaluation of enhanced self-regulation training in the treatment of childhood obesity. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 19:737-49
- Israel AC, Stolmaker L, Andrian CAG. 1985. The effects of training parents in general child management skills on a behavioral weight loss program for children. Behavior Therapy 6:169–80

- Jackson AP, Brooks-Gunn J, Huang C-C, Glassman M. 2000. Single mothers in low-wage jobs: Financial strain, parenting, and preschoolers' outcomes. *Child Development* 71:1409-23
- James J, Thomas P, Cavan D, Kerr D. 2004. Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: Cluster randomised controlled trial. *British Medical* 328:1237
- 168. Janicke DM, Sallinen BJ, Perri MG, Lutes LD, Huerta M, Silverstein JH, et al. 2008. Comparison of parent-only vs family-based interventions for overweight children in underserved rural settings. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine 162:1119-25
- 169. Jansen A, Havermans R, Nederkoorn C, Roefs A. 2008. Jolly fat or sad fat? Subtyping non-eating disordered overweight and obesity along an affect dimension. Appetite 51:635-40
- Jelalian E, Saelens BE. 1999. Empirically supported treatments in pediatric psychology: Pediatric obesity. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 24:223-48
- 171. Johansson L, Solvoll K, Aa Bjorneboe GE, Drevon CA. 1998. Under- and overreporting of energy intake related to weight status and lifestyle in a nationwide sample. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 68:266-74
- 172. John U, Meyer C, Rumpf H-J, Hapke U. 2005. Relationships of psychiatric disorders with overweight and obesity in an adult general population. Obesity Research 13:101-9
- Johnson SL. 2000. Improving preschoolers' self-regulation of energy intake. Pediatrics 106:1429-35
- 174. Jones TL, Prinz RJ. 2005. Potential roles of parental self-efficacy in parent and child adjustment: A review. *Clinical Psychology Review* 25:341-63
- 175. Jouret B, Ahluwalia M, Dupuy C, Cristini L, Nègre-Pages H, Grandjean H, et al. 2009. Prevention of overweight in pre-school children: Results of kindergartenbased interventions. *International Journal of Obesity* 33:1075-83
- Julian TW, McKenry PC, McKelvey MW. 1994. Cultural variations in parenting: Perceptions of Caucasian, African American, Hispanic, and Asian-American parents. Family Relations 43:30-7
- Kaltiala-Heinoa R, Rissanenb A, Rimpeläc M, Rantanen P. 2003. Bulimia and impulsive behaviour in middle adolescence. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 72:26-33
- Karreman A, Van Tuijl C, Van Aken MAG, Dekovic M. 2006. Parenting and selfregulation in preschoolers: A meta-analysis. *Infant and Child Development* 15:561-79
- 179. Kasen S, Cohen P, Chen H, Must A. 2008. Obesity and psychopathology in women: A three decade prospective study. *International Journal of Obesity* 32:558-66
- 180. Keller KL, Pietrobellie A, Johnson SL, Faith MS. 2006. Maternal restriction of children's eating and encouragements to eat as the 'non-shared environment': A pilot study using the child feeding questionnaire. *International Journal of Obesity* 30:1670-5
- Kinnunen TI, Pasanen M, Aittasalo M, Fogelholm M, Hilakivi-Clarke L, Weiderpass E, et al. 2007. Preventing excessive weight gain during pregnancy –

A controlled trial in primary health care. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 61:884-91

- 182. Klohe-Lehman DM, Freeland-Graves J, Clarke KK, Cai G, Voruganti S, Milani TJ, et al. 2007. Low-income, overweight and obese mothers as agents of change to improve food choices, fat habits, and physical activity in their 1-to-3-year-old children. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 26:196-208
- Koh HK, Sebelius KG. 2010. Promoting prevention through the Affordable Care Act. New England Journal of Medicine 363:1296-9
- 184. Kopelman PG. 2000. Obesity as a medical problem. Nature 404:635-14
- Kopp CB. 1989. Regulation of distress and negative emotions: A developmental view. Developmental Psychology 25:343-54
- Lamertz CM, Jacobi C, Yassouridis A, Arnold K, Henkel AW. 2002. Are obese adolescents and young adults at higher risk for mental disorders? A community survey. Obesity Research 10:1152-60
- Latner JD, Stunkard AJ. 2003. Getting worse: The stigmatization of obese children. Obesity Research 11:452-6
- Lee YS. 2009. The role of leptin-melanocortin system and human weight regulation: Lessons from experiments of nature. Annals of the Academy of Medicine Singapore 38:34-44
- Leon AC, Davis LL, Kraemer HC. 2011. The role and interpretation of pilot studies in clinical research. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 45:626-9
- Levine JA, Eberhardt NL, Jensen MD. 1999. Role of nonexercise activity thermogenesis in resistance to fat gain in humans. *Science* 283:212-4
- 191. Levine MD, Ringham RM, Kalarchian MA, Wisniewski L, Marcus MD. 2006. Overeating among seriously overweight children seeking treatment: Results of the children's eating disorder examination. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 39:135-40
- 192. Levitsky D, Youn T. 2004. The more food young adults are served, the more they overeat. *The Journal of Nutrition* 134:2546-9
- 193. Lim S, Zoellner JM, Lee JM, Burt BA, Sandretto AM, Sohn W, et al. 2009. Obesity and sugar-sweetened beverages in African-American preschool children: A longitudinal study. *Obesity* 17:1262-8
- Livingstone MBE, Black AE. 2003. Markers of the validity of reported energy intake. Journal of Nutrition 133:895S-920S
- 195. Llewellyn CH, van Jaarsveld CHM, Boniface D, Carnell S, Wardle J. 2008. Eating rate is a heritable phenotype related to weight in children. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 88:1560-6
- 196. Lourenco BH, Arthur T, Rodrigues MD, Guazzelli I, Frazzatto E, et al. 2008. Binge eating symptoms, diet composition and metabolic characteristics of obese children and adolescents. *Appetite* 50:223-30
- Maes HHM, Neale MC, Eaves LJ. 1997. Genetic and environmental factors in relative body weight and human adiposity. *Behavior Genetics* 27:325-50
- Malik VS, Schulze MB, Hu FB. 2006. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: A systematic review. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 84:274-88
- Marques L, Alegria M, Becker AE, Chen CN, Fang A, Chosak A, et al. 2011. Comparative prevalence, correlates of impairment, and service utilization for

eating disorders across U.S. ethnic groups: Implications for reducing ethnic disparities in health care access for eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 44:412-20

- 200. Martin RM, Patel R, Kramer MS, Guthrie L, Vilchuck K, Bogdanovich N. 2013. Effects of promoting longer-term and exclusive breastfeeding on adiposity and insulin-like growth factor-I at age 11.5 years. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 309:1005-13
- 201. Masheb RM, Grilo CM. 2006. Emotional overeating and its associations with eating disorder psychopathology among overweight patients with binge eating disorder. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 39:141-6
- 202. McGarvey E, Keller A, Forrester M, Williams E, Seward D, Suttle DE. 2004. Feasibility and benefits of a parent-focused preschool child obesity intervention. *American Journal of Public Health* 94:1490-5
- McGroder SM. 2000. Parenting among low-income, African American single mothers with preschool-age children: Patterns, predictors, and developmental correlates. *Child Development* 71:752-71
- 204. McKee DK, Boreham CAG, Murphy MH, Nevill AM. 2005. Validation of the Digiwalker[™] pedometer for measuring physical activity in young children. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 17:345-52
- 205. McLean N, Griffin S, Toney K, Hardeman W. 2003. Family involvement in weight control, weight maintenance and weight-loss interventions: A systematic review of randomised trials. *International Journal of Obesity* 27:987-1005
- 206. Meyre D, Lecoeur C, Delplanque J, Francke S, Vatin V, Durand E, et al. 2004. A genome-wide scan for childhood obesity-associated traits in French families shows significant linkage on chromosome 6q22.31–q23.2. *Diabetes* 53:803-11
- Moens E, Braet C. 2007. Predictors of disinhibited eating in children with and without overweight. *Behavior Research and Therapy* 45:1357-68
- Moreno LA, Rodriguez G. 2007. Dietary risk factors for development of childhood obesity. Current Opinion in Clinical and Nutrition and Metabolic Care 10:336-41
- Morgan CM, Yanovski SZ, Nguyen TT, McDuffie J, Sebring N, Jorge MR, et al. 2002. Loss of control over eating, adiposity, and psychopathology in overweight children. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 31:430-41
- Nederkoorn C, Braet C, Van Eijs Y, Tanghe A, Jansen A. 2006. Why obese children cannot resist food: The role of impulsivity. *Eating Behaviors* 7:315-22
- Nielsen SJ, Popkin BM. 2003. Patterns and trends in food portion sizes, 1977-1998. Journal of the American Medical Association 289:450-3
- Nielsen SJ, Siega-Riz AM, Popkin BM. 2000. Trends in energy intake in the U.S. between 1977 and 1996: Similar shifts seen across age groups. *Obesity Research* 10:370-8
- 213. Niklas TA. 1995. Dietary studies of children and young adults (1973-1988): The Bogalusa heart study. *American Journal of Medical Science* 310:S101-S8
- 214. Nowicka P, Pietrobelli A, Flodmark C-E. 2007. Low-intensity family therapy intervention is useful in a clinical setting to treat obese and extremely obese children. *Internation Journal of Pediatric Obesity* 2:211-7

- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, Lamb MM, Flegal KM. 2010. Prevalence of high body mass index in US children and adolescents, 2007-2008. Journal of the American Medical Association 303:243-9
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. 2006. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 295:1549-55
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Flegal KM. 2008. High body mass index for age among US children and adolescents, 2003-2006. Journal of the American Medical Association 299:2401-5
- 218. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. 2012. Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2010. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 307:483-90
- 219. Ong KK. 2007. Catch-up growth in small for gestational age babies: Good or bad? Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Obesity 14:30-4
- 220. Østbye T, Zucker NL, Krause KM, Lovelady CA, Evenson KR, Peterson BL, et al. 2011. Kids and Adults Now! Defeat Obesity (KAN-DO): Rationale, design and baseline characteristics. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 32:461-9
- 221. Pan L, Blanck HM, Sherry B, Dalenius K, Grummer-Strawn LM. 2012. Trends in the prevalence of extreme obesity among US preschool-aged children living in low-income families, 1998-2010. Journal of the American Medical Association 308:2563-1565
- 222. Parke RD, Coltrane S, Duffy S, Buriel R, Dennis J, Powers J, et al. 2004. Economic stress, parenting, and child adjustment in Mexican American and European American families. *Child Development* 75:1632-56
- 223. Patrick H, Nicklas PA. 2005. A review of family and social determinants of children's eating patterns and diet quality. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 24:83-92
- 224. Paul IM, Savage JS, Anzman SL, Beiler JS, Marini ME, Stokes JL, et al. 2011. Preventing obesity during infancy: A pilot study. *Obesity* 19:353-61
- 225. Pearson N, Biddle SJH, Gorely T. 2008. Family correlates of fruit and vegetable consumption in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Public Health Nutrition* 12:267-83
- 226. Pike KM, Dohm F-A, Striegel-Moore RH, Wilfley DE, Fairburn CG. 2001. A comparison of black and white women with binge eating disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry* 158:1455-60
- 227. Powers SW, Chamberlin LA, van Schaick KB, Sherman SN, Whitaker RC. 2006. Maternal feeding strategies, child eating behaviors, and child BMI in low-income African-American preschoolers. *Obesity* 14:2026-33
- Pratt CA, Stevens J, Daniels S. 2008. Childhood obesity prevention and treatment recommendations for future research. American Journal of Preventative Medicine 35:249-52
- Puhl R, Brownell KD. 2001. Bias, discrimination, and obesity. Obesity Research 9:788-805
- Quattrin T, Roemmich JN, Paluch RA, Yu J, Epstein LH, Exker MA. 2012. Efficacy of family-based weight control program for preschool children in primary care. *Pediatrics* 130:660-6

- Querido JG, Bearss K, Eyberg SM. 2002. Parent/Child Interaction Therapy. In Comprehensive Handbook of Psychotherapy: Cognitive Behavioral Approaches, ed. FW Kaslow, T Patterson, 2:91-113. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Raver CC, Leadbeater BJ. 1999. Mothering under pressure: Environmental, child, and dyadic correlates of maternal self-efficacy among low-income women. Journal of Family Psychology 13:523-34
- Ravussin E, Bogardus C. 2000. Energy balance and weight regulation: Genetics versus environment. British Journal of Nutrition 83:S17-S20
- 234. Ray R, Lim LH, Ling SL. 1994. Obesity in preschool children: An intervention programme in primary health care in Singapore. Annals of the Academy of Medicine 23:335-41
- 235. Reas DL, Grilo CM. 2007. Timing and sequence of the onset of overweight, dieting, and binge eating in overweight patients with binge eating disorder. International Journal of Eating Disorders 40:165-70
- 236. Reidpath DD, Burns C, Garrard D, Mahoney M, Townsend M. 2002. An ecological study of the relationship between social and environmental determinants of obesity. *Health & Place* 8:141-5
- Reitman D, Currier RO, Stickle TR. 2002. A critical evaluation of the Parenting Stress Index-Short Form (PSI-SF) in a head start population. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology* 31:384-93
- 238. Rhee K. 2008. Childhood overweight and the relationship between parent behaviors, parenting style, and family functioning. *The Annals of the American Academy of Politcal and Social Science* 615:11-37
- 239. Rhee K, Lumeng JC, Appugliese DP, Kaciroti N, Bradley RH. 2006. Parenting styles and overweight status in first grade. *Pediatrics* 117:2047-54
- 240. Robinson CC, Mandleco B, Olsen SF, Hart CH. 2001. The Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire (PSDQ) In *Handbook of Family Measurement Techniques*, ed. BF Perlmutter, J Touliatos, GW Holden. Thousand Oaks: Sage
- Robinson S, Fall C. 2012. Infant nutrition and later health: A Review of current evidence Nutrients 4:859-74
- 242. Robinson SM, Ntani G, Simmonds SJ, Syddall HE, Dennison EM, et al. 2013. Type of milk feeding in infancy and health behaviours in adult life: Findings from the Hertfordshire Cohort Study. *British Journal of Nutrition* 109:1114-22
- Rolls BJ, Engell D, Birch LL. 2003. Serving portion size influences 5-year-old but not 3-year-old children's food intakes. *Journal of the American Dietetic* Association 100:232-4
- Rolls BJ, Morris E, Roe LS. 2002. Portion size of food affects energy intake in normal-weight and overweight men and women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 76:1207-13
- 245. Rosner B, Prineas R, Loggie J, Daniels SR. 1998. Percentiles for body mass index in U.S. children 5 to 17 years of age. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 132:211-22
- Rothbart MK, Derryberry D. 1981. Development of individual differences in temperament. In Advances in Developmental Psychology, ed. EB Lamb, AL Brown. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates
- 247. Rounsaville BJ, Carroll MD. 2001. A stage model of behavioral therapies research: Getting started and moving on from stage I. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice* 8:133-42

- 248. Sacher PM, Chadwick P, Wells JCK, WIlliams JE, Cole TJ, Lawson MS. 2005. Assessing the acceptability and feasibility of the MEND Programme in a small group of obese 7–11-year-old children. *The Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics* 18:3-5
- 249. Sarwer DB, Thompson JK, Cash TF. 2005. Body image and obesity in adulthood. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America* 28:69-87
- 250. Sarwer DB, Wadden TA, Foster GD. 1998. Assessment of body image dissatisfaction in obese women: Specificity, severity, and clinical significance. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 66651-654
- 251. Savage JS, Fisher JO, Birch LL. 2007. Parental influence on eating behavior: Conception to adolescence. *Journal of Law and Medical Ethics* 35:22-34
- 252. Scaglioni S, Arriza C, Vecchi F, Tedeschi S. 2011. Determinants of children's eating behavior. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 94:2006S-11S
- Scaglioni S, Salvioni M, Galimberti C. 2008. Influence of parental attitudes in the development of children eating behaviour. *British Journal of Nutrition* 99:S22-S5
- 254. Schack-Nielsen L, Michaelsen KF, Gamborg M, Mortensen EL, Sørensen TIA. 2009. Gestational weight gain in relation to offspring body mass index and obesity from infancy through adulthood. *International Journal of Obesity* 34:67-74
- Schwartz MB, Puhl R. 2003. Childhood obesity: A societal problem to solve. Obesity Reviews 4:57-71
- 256. Scott KM, Bruffaerts R, Simon GE, Alonso J, Angermeyer M, de Girolama G, et al. 2007. Obesity and mental disorders in the general population: Results from the world mental health surveys. *International Journal of Obesity* 32:192-200
- 257. Scuteri A, Sanna S, Chen WM, Uda M, Albai G, Strait J, et al. 2007. Genomewide association scan shows genetic variants in the FTO gene are associated with obesity-related traits. *PLoS Genetics* 3:e115
- 258. Seefeldt C, Denton K, Galper A, Younoszai T. 1999. The relation between Head Start parents' participation in a transition demonstration, education, efficacy and their children's academic abilities. *Early Child Research Quarterly* 14:99-109
- 259. Seeyave DM, Coleman S, Appugliese D, Corwyn RF, Bradley RH, Davidson NS, et al. 2009. Ability to delay gratification at age 4 years and risk of overweight at age 11 years. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 163:303-8
- Serdula MK, Alexander MP, Scanlon KS, Bowman BA. 2001. What are preschool children eating? A review of dietary assessment. Annual Review of Nutrition 21:475-98
- Shelton D, LeGros K, Norton L, Stanton-Cook S, Morgan J, Masterman P. 2007. Randomised controlled trial: A parent-based group education programme for overweight children. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health* 43:799-805
- 262. Shomaker LB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Elliott C, Wolkoff LE, Columbo KM, Ranzenhofer LM, et al 2009. Salience of loss of control for pediatric binge episodes: Does size really matter? *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 43:707-16
- 263. Shomaker LB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Zocca JM, Courville A, Kozlosky M, Columbo KM, et al. 2010. Eating in the absence of hunger in adolescents: Intake after a large-array meal compared with that after a standardized meal. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 92:697-703

- Sijtsma K. 2009. On the use, the misuse, and the very limited usefulness of Cronbach's Alpha. Psychometrika 74:107-20
- Simmons R. 2008. Perinatal programming of obesity. Seminars in Perinatology 32:371-4
- Simon GE, Von Korff M, Saunders K, Miglioretti DL, Crane PK, van Belle G, et al. 2006. Association between obesity and psychiatric disorders in the US adult population. Archives of General Psychiatry 63:824-30
- Sims R, Gordon S, Garcia W, Clark E, Monye D, Callender C, et al. 2008. Perceived stress and eating behaviors in a community-based sample of African Americans. *Eating Behaviors* 9:137-42
- Smith DE, Marcus MD, Lewis CE, Fitzgibbon M, Schreiner P. 1998. Prevalence of binge eating disorder, obesity, and depression in a biracial cohort of young adult. Annals of Behavioral Medicine 20:227-32
- Sofronoff K, Farbotko M. 2002. The effectiveness of parent management training to increase self-efficacy in parents of children with Asperger Syndrome. Autism 6:271-86
- Spielgelman BM, Flier JS. 2001. Obesity and the regulation of energy balance. Cell 104:531-43
- Spitzer RL, Yanovski S, Wadden T, Wing R, Marcus MD, Stunkard AJ. 1993. Binge eating disorder: Its further validation in a multisite study. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 13:137-53
- Spruijt-Metz D, Li C, Cohen L, Birch L, Goran M. 2006. Longitudinal influence of mother's child-feeding practices on adiposity in children. *Journal of Pediatrics* 148:314-20
- 273. Stice E, Cameron RP, Killen JD, Hayward C, Taylor CB. 1999. Naturalistic weight-reduction efforts prospectively predict growth in relative weight and onset of obesity among female adolescents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 67:967-74
- Stice E, Presnell K, Spangler D. 2002. Risk factors for binge eating onset in adolescent girls: A 2-year prospective investigation. *Health Psychology* 21:131-8
- 275. Stolley MR, Fitzgibbon ML. 1997. Effects of an obesity prevention program on the eating behavior of African American mothers and daughters. *Health Education & Behavior* 24:152-64
- Storch EA, Ledley DR. 2005. Peer victimization and psychosocial adjustment in children: Current knowledge and future directions. *Clinical Pediatrics* 44:29-38
- 277. Storch EA, Milsom V, DeBraganza N, Lewin A, Geffken G, Silverstein J. 2007. Peer victimization, psychosocial adjustment, and physical activity in overweight and at-risk-for-overweight youth. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 32:80-9
- 278. Story M, Sherwood NE, Himes JH, Davis M, Jacobs DR, Cartwright Y, et al. 2003. An after-school obesity prevention program for African-American girls: The Minnesota GEMS pilot study. *Ethnicity & Disease* 13:S1-55-S1-64
- Stradmeijer M, Bosch J, Koops W, Seidel J. 2000. Family functioning and psychosocial adjustment in overweight youngsters. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 27:110-4
- 280. Strauss RS. 2000. Childhood obesity and self-esteem. Pediatrics 105:e15

- 281. Streuling I, Beyerlein A, von Kries R. 2010. Can gestational weight gain be modified by increasing physical activity and diet counseling? A meta-analysis of interventional trials. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 92:678-287
- Striegel-Moore RH, Dohm F-A, Kraemer HC, Barr Taylor C, Daniels S, Crawford PB. 2003. Eating disorders in white and black women. *The American Journal of Psychiatry* 160:1326-31
- Striegel-Moore RH, Wilfley DE, Pike KM, Dohm F-A, Fairburn CG. 2000. Recurrent binge eating in black American women. Archives of Family Medicine 9:83-7
- 284. Stunkard AJ, Berkowitz RI, Schoeller D, Maislin G, Stallings VA. 2004. Predictors of body size in the first 2 y of life: A high-risk study of human obesity. International Journal of Obesity 28:503-13
- 285. Stunkard AJ, Harris JR, Pedersen NL, McClearn GE. 1990. The body-mass index of twins who have been reared apart. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 322:1483-7
- Styne DM. 2003. A plea for prevention. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 78:199-200
- 287. Sud S, Tamayo NC, Faith M, Keller KL. 2010. Increased restrictive feeding practices are associated with reduced energy density in 4–6-year-old, multi-ethnic children at ad libitum laboratory test-meals. *Appetite* 55:201-7
- Sullivan CM, Rumptz MH, Campbell R, Eby KK, Davidson II WS. 1996. Retaining participants in longitudinal community research: A comprehensive protocol. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science* 32:262-76
- Tanofsky-Kraff M. 2008. Binge Eating Among Children and Adolescents. In Handbook of Childhood and Adolescent Obesity, ed. E Jelalian, RG Steele:43-59: Springer US.
- 290. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Cohen ML, Yanovski SZ, Cox C, Theim KR, Keil M, et al. 2006. A prospective study of psychological predictors of body fat gain among children at high risk for adult obesity *Pediatrics* 117:1203-9
- 291. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Faden D, Yanovski SZ, Wilfley DE, Yanovski JA. 2005. The perceived onset of diet and loss of control eating behaviors in overweight children. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 38:112-22
- 292. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Goossens L, Eddy KT, Ringham R, Goldschmidt A, Yanovski SZ, et al. 2007. A multisite investigation of binge eating behaviors in children and adolescents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 75:901-13
- 293. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Han JC, Anandalingam K, Shomaker LB, Columbo KM, Wolkoff LE, et al. 2009. The FTO gene rs9939609 obesity-risk allele and loss of control over eating. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 90:1483-8
- 294. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Haynos AF, Kotler LA, Yanovski SZ, Yanovski JA. 2007. Laboratory-based studies of eating among children and adolescents. Current Nutrition & Food Science 3:55-74
- 295. Tanofsky-Kraff M, McDuffie JR, Yanovski SZ, Kozlosky M, Schvey NA, et al. 2009. Laboratory assessment of the food intake of children and adolescents with loss of control eating. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 89:738-45
- 296. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Morgan CM, Yanovski SZ, Marmarosh C, Wilfley DE, Yanovski JA. 2003. Comparison of assessment of children's eating disorder
behaviors by interview and questionnaire. International Journal of Eating Disorders 33:213-4

- 297. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Ranzenhofer LM, Yanovski SZ, Schvey N, Faith M, et al. 2008. Psychometric properties of a new questionnaire to assess eating in the absence of hunger in children and adolescents Appetite 51:148-55
- 298. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Theim KR, Yanovski SZ, Bassett AM, Burns NP, Ranzenhofer LM, et al. 2007. Validation of the Emotional Eating Scale adapted for use in children and adolescents (EES-C). *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 40:232-40
- 299. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Yanovski SZ, Schvey NA, Olsen CH, Gustafson J, Yanovski JA. 2009. A prospective study of loss of control eating for body weight gain in children at high risk for adult obesity. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 42:26-30
- 300. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Yanovski SZ, Wilfley DE, Marmarosh C, Morgan CM, Yanovski JA. 2004. Eating disordered behaviors, body fat, and psychopathology in overweight and normal-weight children. *Journal of Counseling and Clinical Psychology* 72:53-61
- Tatarrani PA. 2000. Mechanisms of weight gain in humans. European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences 4:1-7
- 302. Taylor BJ, Heath A-LM, Galland BC, Gray AR, Lawrence JA, Sayers RM, et al. 2011. Prevention of Overweight in Infancy (POI.nz) study: A randomised controlled trial of sleep, food and activity interventions for preventing overweight from birth. BMC Public Health 11:492
- 303. Taylor JY, Caldwell CH, Baser RE, Matusko N, Faison N, Jackson JS. 2013. Classification and correlates of eating disorders among blacks: Findings from the National Survey from American Life. Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved 24:289-310
- 304. Taylor RW, Grant AM, Goulding A, Williams SM. 2005. Early adiposity rebound: Review of papers linking this to subsequent obesity in children and adults. *Current Opinion in Clinical and Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 8:607-12
- 305. Taylor TK, Biglan A. 1998. Behavioral family interventions for improving child rearing: A review of the literature for clinicians and policy-makers. *Clinical Child* and Family Psychology Review 1:41-60
- 306. Teachman BA, Gapinski KD, Brownell KD, Rawlins M, Jeyaram S. 2003. Demonstrations of implicit anti-fat bias: The impact of providing causal information and evoking empathy. *Health Psychology* 22:68-78
- 307. Thebane L, Ma J, Chu R, Cheng J, Ismaila A, Roios LP, et al. 2010. A tutorial on pilot studies: The what, why and how. BMC Medical Research Methodology 10:1
- 308. Thompson KM, Wonderlich SA, Crosby RD, Mitchell JE. 1999. The neglected link between eating disturbances and aggressive behavior in girls. *Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 38:1277-84
- 309. Tibbs T, Haire-Joshu D, Schechtman KB, Brownson RC, Nanney MS, Houston C, et al. 2001. The relationship between parental modeling, eating patterns, and dietary intake among African American parents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 101:535-41

- Timpson NJ, Emmett PM, Frayling TM, Rogers I, Hattersley AT, McCarthy M, et al. 2008. The fat mass- and obesity-associated locus and dietary intake in children American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 88:971-8
- Tschannen-Moran B, Lewis E, Farrell SP. 2003. Childhood obesity: Policy issues in 2003. Journal of Pediatric Nursing 18:416-20
- 312. Tsukayama E, Toomey SL, Faith MS, Duckworth AL. 2010. Self-control as a protective factor against overweight status in the transition from childhood to adolescence. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 164:631-5
- Tudor-Locke C, Ainsworth B, Popkin BM. 2001. Active commuting to school, an overlooked source of children's physical activity? Sports Medicine 31:305-9
- 314. Van Strien T, Schippers GM, Cox WM. 1995. On the relationship between emotional and external eating behavior. *Addictive Behaviors* 20:585-94
- 315. Ventura A, Birch LL. 2008. Does parenting affect children's eating and weight status? International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 5:15
- Viana V, Sinde S, Saxton JC. 2008. Children's Eating Behaviour Questionnaire: Associations with BMI in Portuguese children. *British Journal of Nutrition* 100:445-50
- 317. Wang Y, Beydoun MA. 2007. The obesity epidemic in the United States-Gender, age, socioeconomic, racial/ethnic, and geographic characteristics: A systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Epidemiologic Reviews* 29:6-28
- Wang YC, Bleich SN, Gortmaker SL. 2008. Increasing caloric contribution from sugar-sweetened beverages and 100% fruit juices among US children and adolescents, 1998-2004. *Pediatrics* 121:e1604-e14
- 319. Wardle J, Carnell S, Cooke L. 2005. Parental control over feeding and children's food and vegetable intake: How are they related? *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 105:227-32
- 320. Wardle J, Carnell S, Haworth CMA, Farooqi S, O'Rahilly S, Plomin R. 2008. Obesity associated genetic variation in FTO is associated with diminished satiety. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrine & Metabolism* 93:3640-3
- 321. Wardle J, Guthrie CA, Sanderson S, Rapoport L. 2001. Development of the Children's Eating Behaviour Questionnaire. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines* 42:963-70
- 322. Wardle J, Volz C, Golding C. 1995. Social variation in attitudes to obesity in children. International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal for the International Association for the Study of Obesity 19:562-9
- 323. Waring ME, Lapane KL. 2008. Overweight in children and adolescents in relation to attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Results from a national sample. *Pediatrics* 122:e1-e6
- Warschburger P. 2005. The unhappy obese child. International Journal of Obesity 29:S127-S9
- 325. Webber L, Hill C, Saxton J, Van Jaarsveld CHM, Wardle J. 2009. Eating behaviour and weight in children. *International Journal of Obesity (London)* 33:21-8
- 326. Webster-Stratton C. 1998. Preventing conduct problems in Head Start children: Strengthening parenting competencies. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 66:715-30

- West F, Sanders M. 2009. The Lifestyle Behavior Checklist: A measure of weight-related problem behaviour in obese children. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity* 4:266-73
- 328. West F, Sanders MR, Cleghorn GJ, Davies PSW. 2010. Randomised clinical trial of a family-based lifestyle intervention for childhood obesity involving parents as exclusive agents of change. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 48:1170-9
- 329. Wilfley DE, Agras WS, Telch CF, Rossiter EM, Schneider JA, Cole AG, et al. 1993. Group Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy and Group Interpersonal Psychotherapy for the Nonpurging Bulimic Individual: A Controlled Comparison. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 61:296-305
- 330. Wilfley DE, Stein RI, Saelens BE, Mockus DS, Matt GE, Hayden-Wade HA, et al. 2007. Efficacy of maintenance treatment approaches for childhood overweight. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 298:1661-73
- Wilfley DE, Tibbs TL, Van Buren DJ, Reach KP, Walker MS, Epstein LH. 2007. Lifestyle interventions in the treatment of childhood overweight: A meta-analytic review of randomized controlled trials. *Health Psychology* 26:521-32
- 332. Wilfley DE, Wilson GT, Agras WS. 2003. The clinical significance of binge eating disorder. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 34:S96-S106
- Williams SM, Goulding A. 2009. Patterns of growth associated with the timing of adiposity rebound. Obesity 17:335-41
- Wofford LG. 2008. Systematic review of childhood obesity prevention. Journal of Pediatric Nursing 23:5-19
- Wojcicki JM, Heyman MB. 2010. Let's move Childhood obesity prevention from pregnancy and infancy onward. New England Journal of Medicine 362:1457-9
- 336. Wolff S, Legarth J, Vangsgaard K, Toubro S, Astrup A. 2008. A randomized trial of the effects of dietary counseling on gestational weight gain and glucose metabolism in obese pregnant women. *International Journal of Obesity* 32:495-501
- 337. Wonderlich SA, Connolly KM, Stice E. 2004. Impulsivity as a risk factor for eating disorder behavior: Assessment implications with adolescents. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 36:172-82
- 338. Wrotniak BH, Epstein LH, Paluch RA, Roemmich JN. 2004. Parent weight change as a predictor of child weight change in family-based behavioral obesity treatment. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 158:342-7
- Wu T, Gao X, Chen M, van Darn RM. 2009. Long-term effectiveness of dietplus-exercise interventions vs. diet-only interventions for weight loss: A metaanalysis. Obesity Reviews 10:313-23
- Yancey AK, Ortega AN, Kumanyika SK. 2006. Effective recruitment and retention of minority research participants. *Annual Review of Public Health* 27:1-28
- Yeung WJ, Linver MR, Brooks-Gunn J. 2002. How money matters for young children's development: Parental investment and family processes. *Child Development* 73:1861-79
- 342. Young LR, Nestle M. 2002. The contribution of expanding portion sizes to the US obesity epidemic. American Journal of Public Health 92:246-9

- Zametkin AJ, Zoon CK, Klein HW, Munson S. 2004. Psychiatric Aspects of Child and Adolescent Obesity. *Focus* 2:625-41
- 344. Zucker N. (2006) H.O.U.S.E.: A Humorous, Open-Minded, Undisturbed, Strong, and Explicit Approach to Parenting. Unpublished Manuscript, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC.

101